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University Hospital 
Southampton NHS 
Foundation Trust 
(UHS) was formed 
on 1 October 2011 
when Southampton 
University Hospitals 
NHS Trust was 
licensed as a 
foundation trust 
by the regulator 
Monitor.

To tie in with reporting conventions this 
document covers the six month period 
from October 2011 to March 2012. We 
have also produced a report which covers 
the last six months of our operation as 
an NHS Trust, between April and October 
2011 and this is available via our web site 
at www.uhs.nhs.uk 

Becoming a foundation trust is a pivotal 
moment for any hospital. It took four 
years for UHS to achieve this goal and in 
that time the landscape of the NHS and 
the economy changed significantly. While 
the NHS budget was protected from 
public spending cuts, the ever increasing 
demands placed on it need to be met 
within its existing resources. With ever more 

expensive drugs and technologies becoming 
available, particularly in hospitals such as 
ours, we are now facing one of the most 
significant management challenges in the 
history of the NHS.

Quality at the heart of 
everything we do
Quality of care is central to our mission as 
well as being of vital interest to our patients. 
It was therefore a defining feature of our 
application for foundation trust status. For 
us, quality of care is a product of safety, 
experience, outcome and access to services. 
These are the elements of care that our staff 
and patients place the highest value in. 

Introducing University Hospital 
Southampton NHS Foundation Trust

A new start, a bright future

Located on the south coast of England, the 
Trust provides hospital services for people 
with acute health problems. It is the local 
hospital for 650,000 people who live in 
Southampton, the New Forest, Eastleigh 
and the Test Valley and is relied upon by 
residents of the Isle of Wight and the 
Channel Islands for some services.

As the major university hospital on 
the south coast, UHS provides the full 
range of tertiary medical and surgical  
specialties, with the exception of 
transplantation, renal services and burns, 
to more than three million people in 
central southern England.

UHS is a centre of excellence for training 
the doctors and nurses of the future and 
developing treatments for tomorrow’s 
patients. Its role in research and education, 
developed in active partnership with the 
University of Southampton distinguish it as 

a hospital that works at the leading edge of 
healthcare developments in the NHS  
and internationally. 

We are a nationally leading hospital for 
research into cancer, respiratory disease, 
nutrition, cardio-vascular disease, bone 
and joint conditions and complex immune 
system problems.

More than 9,000 people work at the 
Trust making it one of the area’s largest 
employers. With an annual budget of over 
£540 million it plays a significant role in the 
economic prosperity of the region.

Our turnover in 2011/12 was 
£538 million. 

Our hospitals: Southampton General  
Hospital, the Princess Anne Hospital,  
Countess Mountbatten House, New  
Forest Birth Centre.

We are proud to 
introduce our annual 
report, the first we 
have produced as 
an established NHS 
foundation trust.
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The external scrutiny of our quality was 
intense as we moved towards being 
authorised as a foundation trust and 
rightly so. 

Our patient care improvement framework 
which sets our goals and monitors our 
progress for improving quality is seen as a 
gold standard model for embedding the 
drive for higher quality within a hospital. 
Our achievement in delivering real results 
for our patients are the greatest source 
of pride in our hospital and you can read 
more about this in our quality account for 
2011/12 on page 25.

During 2011/12 we recorded just four cases 
of MRSA bacteraemia compared with five 
cases in 1010/11, seven cases in 2009/10 
and 27 cases in 2008/09. We beat our 
target of five cases for the year.

Our MRSA rate per 1000 admissions places 
us in the top three university hospitals in 
England for performance. 

In 2011/12 we agreed to reduce cases of C. 
difficile to below 85 and we have bettered 
this target recording 66 cases for the year.  
This is after treating more than 85,000 
inpatients and our rate per 1000 admissions 
puts us in the top eight performing 
university hospitals for this measure.

Quick access to services
One of our principal challenges is to 
provide quick access to our services for 
an increasing number of patients while 
continuing to improve quality and staying 
within the budget we have agreed with 
our commissioners. Maintaining our 
performance, which in the NHS means the 
time it takes us to treat our patients, has 
been one of the biggest challenges we have 
faced so far as a foundation trust. 

The NHS constitution gives patients the 
right to receive their care in good time 
and they can expect to be treated within 
18 weeks of their referral to our hospital 
for planned (or elective) care. Because the 
number of patients being referred here is 

growing (modestly for planned care but 
very significantly for urgent or emergency 
care) we are facing a constant challenge 
to provide services to all of our patients in 
good time. We do manage to do this for the 
vast majority, but doing so during 2011/12 
has demanded a significant amount of our 
concentration, effort and management 
resource. In 2012/13 we plan to expand our 
capacity to deliver higher levels of service 
and meet the growing demand for our 
services from our local population.

In 2011/12 our emergency department 
admitted or discharged more than 95% of 
patients within four hours.

In 2011/12 we consistently met all of our 
targets for providing prompt access to 
services for cancer patients.

Balancing the finances
This has been another challenging period 
financially as resource constraints in the 
local health economy continue to impact 
the Trust. It is a considerable achievement 
to report that we managed to deliver cost 
improvements of more than £26 million 
during the 12 months to 31 March 2012 at 
a time when activity levels of the hospital 
have continued to rise. This enabled us 
to deliver a pre-impairment surplus of 
£3.9 million for the six months ended 31 
March 2012. This was achieved through 
productivity and efficiency gains in order to 
meet the efficiency targets built in to the 
NHS tariffs.

Developing specialist services
As a specialist centre we care for the 
sickest patients in the region. Very few 
of our patients need a doctor or a service 
which we can’t provide. The centralisation 
of specialist services in the NHS to fewer, 
larger hospitals is a necessary step to 
improve quality and it brings added benefit 
to our hospitals. It makes us an attractive 
place to work for committed and talented 
clinical staff and in some cases it brings 
significant income into the hospital which 
makes a contribution to the overall running 
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In 2007 we 
launched our 
2020Vision which 
set out the future 
strategic direction of 
the Trust. The vision 
states our aim:

costs of the Trust as a whole. Balancing 
our development as a regional hospital 
with our role in providing care to our local 
population and maximising the benefits 
each bring to the other is an important 
strategic priority. 

Innovation as standard
As we face these challenges, it is clear 
that innovation, which in the past might 
have been important for some committed 
individuals is a requirement for every 
member of staff in every department. There 
is a constant pressure to change the way 
we do things to cope with the rising tide 
of demand within our restricted resources. 

Thankfully we can be confident that we 
have an abundance of people with exactly 
the creativity, confidence and commitment 
we need to secure our future as one of the 
world’s leading hospitals. This is what we 
want to achieve for our patients.

“To be a world-class centre of clinical and 
academic achievement, where staff work 
together to ensure patients receive the 
highest standards of care and the best people 
want to come to learn, work and research.”

We continue to work towards this vision 
based around our strategic objectives  
which are:

Trusted on quality: we aim to be trusted 
by staff, patients and the public to provide 
high quality services.

Delivering for taxpayers: we aim to 
provide the services that commissioners 
want and that taxpayers understand and 
can afford.

Excellence in healthcare: we aim to 
develop better treatment for patients  
and train the healthcare professionals of  
the future.

The NHS Constitution guides us in our 
relationship with our staff and patients and 
the manner in which we engage them. 
Much of the work we undertake to listen 
to views and improves services supports the 
delivery of the Constitution.

We have also worked to define our own 
values which act as a guide to the kinds 
of behaviours we aspire to adopt in every 
aspect of our work. 

Our values

Patients first 
Working together
Fresh thinking  

Using our strong vision, values and 
objectives we are creating the leadership we 
need to be a world class clinical academic 
centre by 2020.

Mark Hackett, CEO John Trewby, Chair

Our vision, values and objectives
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It has been another 
exciting year at 
our hospitals, 
with numerous 
developments 
in the care and 
facilities we offer 
our patients. The 
following pages 
are just a small 
snapshot of the 
improvements, 
initiatives and 
events which have 
taken place at 
University Hospital 
Southampton 
during 2011/2012.

October 2011

Foundation trust status
October 2011 represented a landmark 
month for healthcare across Southampton, 
with our hospitals awarded NHS foundation 
trust status.

Following a rigorous assessment process, 
University Hospital Southampton NHS 
Foundation Trust received approval from 
independent regulator Monitor and became 
known as University Hospital Southampton 
NHS Foundation Trust (UHS).

The move means the Trust will benefit  
from greater managerial and financial 
freedom and be more accountable to  
local people.

Mark Hackett, chief executive, said: “This 

was a landmark moment for the city 
and a reflection of the outstanding skill 
and commitment of our staff, who have 
been instrumental in securing this status 
and moving us closer towards our vision 
of becoming one of the world’s leading 
medical and academic centres.”

Open day draws crowds 
Members of the public went ‘inside the 
body’ when pathologists at  
Southampton’s university hospitals 
performed a virtual autopsy.

The event, part of the Trust’s third annual 
open day, saw consultant histo-pathologist 

Dr Meg Ashton-Key making incisions on a 
volunteer using marker pens.

Her team demonstrated how examinations 
were performed on the body using animal 
organs and photographs of diseased  
human organs.

The popular open day, attended by more 
than 2,500 people, gave visitors the chance 
to go behind the scenes of Southampton 
General Hospital, with more than 50 
activities and areas open to visitors.

Members of the public wore hard hats 
for site tours, looked through some of 
the world’s most powerful microscopes 
and visited the operating theatres, while 
children enjoyed getting their arms 
plastered and taking their cuddly toys to 
the teddy bear hospital.

November 2011

Helipad takes off
Emergency and intensive care specialists were 
joined by former patients for the first helicopter 
landing at Southampton General Hospital. 

Following eight weeks of construction, a 
crew from the Hampshire and Isle of Wight 
Air Ambulance completed a test flight to 
check landing and take-off on the site’s 
£1.2m helipad – before leaving within 
minutes for the first patient retrieval on the 
Isle of Wight. 

The helipad, which is located on top of the 

Six months in review 2011-2012

1. Inside the body: 
 a virtual autopsy

2.  One of the first 
 helicopters lands at 

Southampton General 
Hospital
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main car park, cuts up to 30 minutes from 
the time it takes to transfer patients by air 
ambulance to hospital. The air ambulance 
previously landed on a playing field two 
miles away in Lordshill, with patients 
transferred by road for the remainder of  
the journey. 

Dr Andy Eynon, director of major trauma 
at UHS, said: “The helipad will save lives 
and improve outcomes for a wide range 
of patients across Hampshire – including 
the Isle of Wight – Wiltshire, Dorset and 

beyond, and is one of the few helipads in 
the UK that can receive critically ill patients 
24 hours a day.”

Bug-busting equipment trialled
Infection-busting equipment trialled at 
Southampton’s teaching hospitals received 
widespread support from staff and patients.

The Design Bugs Out project, led by the 
Design Council in conjunction with the 
Department of Health, saw the infection 
prevention team install and assess a range 
of innovative furniture designed to fight 
healthcare associated infections.

The prototypes introduced on the wards at 
Southampton General Hospital included a 
21st century commode, an over-bed table, 
a unique patient chair and a new  
bedside cabinet.

The designs were the first to be tested 
by an independent laboratory for ease of 
cleaning, compared with existing hospital 
furniture, as well as user-friendliness by 
ward staff, patients and visitors.

All four items proved easier to clean after 
rigorous assessments and have since been 
adopted across the NHS.

December 2011

Sidney’s great gift
Pensioner Sidney Clement had an extra 
special Christmas after being given the 
greatest present of all – the gift of sight.
The 91-year-old grandad from Waterlooville, 
Hampshire, had lost his sight three years 

earlier and was forced to give up all the 
things he enjoyed.

Poor surgery to correct cataracts more than 
40 years ago, combined with the onset 
of slow-progressing glaucoma, had worn 
his eyesight down to such an extent that 
specialists informed him it was unlikely the 
damage could be reversed.

But now, after undergoing an advanced 
technique at Southampton General 
Hospital’s eye unit, Sidney has thrown away 
his white stick and is playing an active role 
at his local Age UK club.

Sidney had a procedure known as Descemet’s 
Stripping Endothelial Keratoplasty (DSEK), 
where the top layer of the eye is removed 
and replaced with a thin slice of donor tissue 
through one small incision to minimise 
disruption to the rest of the eye.

Within hours, he had regained some vision 
in his left eye and went on to have the 
same operation on his right eye – restoring 
his sight to a reasonable level in his 90s.

1.  Bug busting patient chair

2.  Procedure restores the 
 gift of sight to 91 year 
 old Sidney Clement
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Delighted Sidney said he felt humbled that his 
operation had been made possible through 
the donation of someone’s corneal tissue.

Princess Anne Hospital highly 
recommended
Southampton’s Princess Anne Hospital was 
rated one of the most recommended in the 
country by patients, families and visitors in a 
national survey. 

For the first time, the annual Dr 
Foster Hospital Guide, which provides 
comprehensive assessments of all UK 
hospitals, analysed patient and public 
comments made online via Patient Opinion 
and NHS Choices, where people give 
feedback about care and indicate whether or 
not they would promote a hospital to others. 

While only 58% of people quizzed 
nationally would recommend their local 
hospital, 79% of those who gave their 
opinions on the Princess Anne said they 
would want to see their family and friends 

treated there – placing it among the 
country’s top 15 hospitals. 

“It is a tremendous endorsement of the 
quality of our staff and the outstanding 
care we provide to patients from across the 
south of England that we are valued by 
such a large proportion of visitors,” said Dr 
Alyson O’Donnell, divisional clinical director 
for women and children at UHS.

“We are constantly looking for ways to 
improve the experience for our patients, 
their families and visitors and it gives every 
member of staff great satisfaction to see 
those efforts rewarded through strong 

public confidence, but our aspiration is to 
reach 100%.” 

The Princess Anne hosts specialist services 
in obstetrics, gynaecology and neonatal 
medicine and provides regional services in 
fetal and maternal medicine,  
gynaecological cancer, urology, breast 
services and infertility. 

January 2012

Insight into cancer research work at 
Southampton
Members of the public received a rare 
insight into the pioneering cancer research 
being performed at Southampton’s 
teaching hospitals.

The event, held at the Cancer Research UK 
Centre at Southampton General Hospital, 
included presentations from two of the 
south’s leading researchers.
Professor Martin Glennie, who specialises 

in using the body’s immune system to fight 
cancer, was joined by colorectal surgeon 
Alex Mirnezami to discuss how research is 
taken out of the lab and into the clinic.

People were also able to find out more 
about how the centre, a partnership 
between Cancer Research UK, the 
University of Southampton and UHS, 
is leading the way in developing new 
treatments for a variety of cancers. 
Professor Peter Johnson, director of the 
centre, said: “We are making fantastic 
progress in fighting cancer and the majority 
of our success is down to the fact that we 
have dedicated facilities such as our centre, 

1.  Colorectal surgeons 
 in theatre

2.  Highly recommended – 
Princess Anne Hospital
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which combine the work of hospitals, 
universities and charities to find new 
treatments and give people the opportunity 
to be part of groundbreaking studies.”

Pioneering smartphone app for 
diabetes treatment
Doctors at Southampton’s teaching 
hospitals developed a pioneering 
smartphone app to transform the treatment 
of patients with diabetes in hospital.

DiAppBetes, created by critical care expert 
Dr Sanjay Gupta and acute medicine and 
diabetes consultant Dr Mayank Patel at 
Southampton General Hospital, provides 
key information to support non-specialist 
doctors and nurses who look after patients 
with the condition.

Up to 20% of all adult patients in UK 
hospitals have diabetes, where long-term 
uncontrolled blood sugar levels increase 
the risk of heart and kidney failure and 
can lead to blindness, nerve damage and 
amputations without specialist intervention.

But, while some patients are admitted as 
a direct result of the illness, many require 
treatment for unrelated health problems 
and are cared for by medical staff who 
do not have the full expertise to manage 
diabetes alongside other conditions, 
increasing the risk of insulin errors.

The app gives users information on the safe 
and effective use of insulin as well as dose 
adjustment advice, a search tool offering 
guidance on different treatments and advice on 
which circumstances warrant specialist input.

February 2012

Praise for communication
Southampton’s teaching hospitals were 
rated among the best in the country for 
communication between staff and patients.

The national outpatient department survey 
2011, published by the Care Quality 
Commission, placed UHS in the “better 

than other trusts” category for informing 
patients of what to expect before an 
appointment. 

And the report, which questioned patients 
on everything from interaction with staff 
and waiting times, to privacy and dignity 
and facilities in outpatient departments, 
rated the Trust among the highest scoring 
20% of hospital trusts in the country for 
doctors’ explanations of treatment (9.1/10) 
and risks and benefits (8.4) at Southampton 
General and the Princess Anne hospitals.

There were also high scores for awareness 
of patients’ medical history (9.2) and 
effectively explaining the reasons for a 
change in medication (9.2), while patients 
recorded positive ratings for overall care 
(8.5) and respect and dignity (9.6) during 
outpatient appointments.

March 2012

Health minister meets heart experts
Health minister Simon Burns visited UHS 
to meet staff and view innovations in 
cardiac care.

Mr Burns, whose responsibilities at the 
Department of Health include performance, 
reconfiguration and patient safety in the 
NHS, met chief executive Mark Hackett and 
chairman John Trewby, before touring key 
areas including the cardiac intensive care 
unit and catheter laboratories.

The visit also included the formal 
announcement of Professor Huon Gray, 
a consultant interventional cardiologist at 
Southampton General Hospital, as national 
clinical director for cardiovascular disease at 
the Department of Health. 

The Wessex Cardiac Unit at Southampton 
General Hospital is one of the largest in 
the UK and serves a population of 
around 2.8 million, covering cardiac 
and thoracic surgery, cardiac rhythm 
management, congenital heart disease 
and vascular surgery. 
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Improving 
healthcare for the 
benefit of patients 
is at the core of 
everything we do. 
Our global standing 
in several areas of 
medical research, 
underpinned by 
dedicated people 
working in world-
class facilities 
ensures that we 
continue to drive 
better healthcare 
for patients in 
Southampton and 
across the UK.

Our strategic partnership with the University 
of Southampton is critical in taking research 
from the laboratory to the clinic; together 
we have won major new funds in the 
past year based on our internationally 
leading research and we are strengthening 
our ability to do the research that makes 
peoples’ lives better. 

A key strength of our research partnership 
is the ability we have to rapidly translate 
new discoveries into improvements in 
patient care. We have a high number of 
patients participating in clinical trials and 
our research takes place in purpose built 
settings at the heart of our busy hospital. 

A world class research 
environment
Southampton patients have some of 
the best access to new therapies and 
technologies in the UK. We have research 
active clinicians across our clinical 
specialities, supported by a joint research 
and development (R&D) department that 
enables them to focus on the patient and 
the research question.  From improved 
surgical techniques for treating oesophageal 
cancer to identifying vitamin D deficiency 
in infants, our clinicians tackle important 
questions for their patients’ benefit.

The Southampton Centre for Biomedical 
Research (SCBR) is where promising 
therapies and technologies move from the 
laboratory into the clinic in Southampton.  
Central to the trust’s partnership with 
the University of Southampton, the SCBR 
is based in purpose-built facilities at the 
heart of Southampton General Hospital, 
synergising our expertise, infrastructure and 
resources across specific research themes. 

The National Institute for Health Research 
(NIHR) Wellcome trust Clinical Research 
Facility, which received renewed funding of 
£9.2 million from NIHR in February 2012, is 
critical to SCBR research. 

The Facility is unparalleled in integrating an 
extensive, state-of-the-art clinical research 
facility with full access to acute hospital 
services. This integration, alongside superb 
patient facilities means that child and adult 
participants find it a safe, comfortable and 
reassuring place to be. 

Specialised research nurses and quality-
assured clinical and laboratory resources 
enable complex early-stage research to 
be performed with confidence, with over 
250 different clinical trails at any one time. 
Flexible clinical space alongside dedicated 
paediatric, high-dependency, endoscopy 
and metabolic study facilities, ensures that 
the Facility is a site of choice for commercial 
and multicentre studies. 

The Wessex Investigational Science Hub 
(WISH), due to open in early 2013 will be 
unique in the UK; a research-dedicated 
service laboratory that will provide rapid, 
quality-assured diagnoses and testing of 
biological research samples. WISH has 
attracted significant support from industry 
partners, and is borne of Southampton’s 
leading position in immunology, infection 
and inflammation research. These processes 
are common to the health and disease areas 
investigated by Southampton researchers, 
from cancer through respiratory disease to 
nutrition, diet and lifestyle.

Five key research themes
The SCBR brings together research focussed 
on five key themes:
•  Nutrition, Diet and Lifestyle
•  Respiratory
•  Cancer
•  Musculoskeletal 
•  Cardiovascular 

Nutrition, Diet and Lifestyle
The National Institute for Health Research 
(NIHR) Southampton Biomedical Research 
Centre is a global leader in improving 

Research and innovation
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nutrition, diet and lifestyle amongst patients 
and society through the translation of 
experimental research into effective clinical, 
policy and community interventions. Funded 
by the NIHR, it is the only Biomedical 
Research Centre of its kind; a status 
conferred in August 2011 with £9.7M 
of funding, which built on decades of 
leadership and a previous NIHR Biomedical 
Research Unit award in 2008. 

Looking at the impact of food and lifestyle 
on people’s health from conception through 
to old age (the ‘lifecourse’ concept) is at the 
heart of the Centre’s approach to improving 
patient outcomes and tackling the surge 
in conditions like heart disease, type-two 
diabetes and obesity. Current work covers 
the range from dietary interventions at 
conception, through understanding dietary 
epigenetic impacts (biological influences on 
how genes behave) on foetal development 
and improving acute neonate nutrition care, 
to the adolescent health literacy  project 
‘Lifelab’ and studies aimed at understanding 
and empowering dietary choice amongst 
elderly people.

Respiratory 
The NIHR Southampton Respiratory 
Biomedical Research Unit is an internationally 
recognised leader in improving prevention, 
diagnosis and treatment of respiratory 
problems arising from inflammation, injury 
and allergic reactions. This standing was 
reflected in the renewal of its Biomedical 
Research Unit status and a funding award of 
£7.3M by the NIHR in August 2011. 

Pioneers in understanding the role of 
allergens and physical changes to children’s’ 
airways in asthma, the Unit is utilising 
shared expertise in the lifecourse approach 
to further understanding of early-life 
respiratory disease development. As well as 
research aimed at slowing progression and 
better controlling airway diseases , the Unit 
continues to lead in developing personalised 
approaches to diagnosis and medication 
of respiratory conditions, particularly acute 
injury in and adults and children. 

Cancer 
The NIHR-Cancer Research UK (CRUK) 
Experimental Cancer Medicine Centre (ECMC) 
is one of 19 such centres across the UK 
funded by NIHR and CRUK to accelerate the 
translation and development of new cancer 
therapies. The Centre combines research 
and laboratory capacity with clinical practice 
to take new treatments to Southampton 
patients, evaluate the outcomes and modify 
the therapy in real time, rapidly advancing 
treatment both for the individual and patients 
throughout the UK.

Immunotherapy is a major focus for the 
ECMC, drawing on shared expertise across 
SCBR, the Southampton CRUK Cancer 
Research Centre and the wider Trust. The 
Centre is leading approaches that maximise 
the efficacy and minimise the side-effects 
of chemo- and radio-therapeutics by 
using antibodies to deliver these agents 
exclusively to cancer cells and tumours, 
and is building strong links with industry to 
trial and make available new vaccine and 
immunotherapy treatments.  

The University of Southampton Clinical 
Trials Unit supports clinical researchers to 
design and deliver mid- to late-stage cancer 
therapy trials, where significant specialist 
expertise and resource is required and multi-
centre approaches are common. The Unit is 
funded by NIHR and CRUK and moved into 
dedicated facilities on the Southampton 
General Hospital Campus in January 2012. 
This move has increased its integration and 
interaction with clinical researchers and 
services, a key feature of its aim to drive the 
translation of early-stage trials into large-
scale multi-centre studies.

Musculoskeletal
The Southampton Musculoskeletal Shadow 
Biomedical Research Unit brings together 
field-leading clinicians, basic biologists, 
engineers and physicists to develop new 
therapies and technologies for muscle and 
joint conditions. The Unit has attracted 
over £2.3 million of Research Council and 
industry funding to date, collaborating to 
generate and make available to patients the 
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latest technologies and medicines.
The Unit draws on core SCBR strengths 
in lifecourse epidemiology and immunity 
to investigate bone disorders and 
osteoarthritis, arthritis and autoimmune 
disorders. The Unit is a key partner in the 
Trust’s new Centre for arthroplasty and 
revision surgery. This centre of excellence 
will lead the UK in revision of failed joint 
replacements by integrating service delivery 
with the world class research of the Unit 
and UoS bioengineering centres, ensuring 
rapid and seamless translation of advances 
back into the clinic. Alongside this work, an 
innovative link with Southampton Football 
Club is enabling better understanding of 
muscle tears both for injury prevention and 
to inform clinical interventions.

Cardiovascular
The Southampton Cardiovascular Shadow 
Biomedical Research Unit brings together 
our world-renowned clinical expertise 
in cardiovascular conditions, industry 
collaborators and basic researchers within 
UoS to improve acute cardiovascular 
interventions and to develop our knowledge 
of cardiovascular disease progression. 

The development and evaluation of 
implanted devices for the control and 
management of heart conditions is 
a long-standing area of strength for 
the Unit and forms the basis of strong 
industrial collaborations on technological 
development and assessments.   

Six months in review

October 2011
Southampton and Hampshire families 
help to fight asthma. 
In a radical study, babies aged five to nine 
months with a family history of allergy 
across Southampton and Hampshire are 
taking part in a study that will expose them 
to dust mites, a common allergic trigger of 
asthma - often found in pillows, mattresses 
and on carpets – when their immune 
systems are developing, to prevent them 
becoming allergic in the future. 

The counter-intuitive study arose from 
observations of the difficulty of avoiding dust 
mites in the home, combined with a previous 
Southampton study showing that exposing 
infants to high doses of pollen can reduce 
or abolish hayfever later in life, suggesting a 
possible approach to other allergies. 

“Although we still do not know why more 
children are suffering from asthma, eczema, 
hay fever and food allergy, we do know 
that children born in families with asthma 
and allergic disease are at a higher risk of 
developing them,” said Professor Graham 
Roberts, a specialist in respiratory and allergy 
medicine at UHS and reader in child health 
at the University of Southampton. 

“Therefore, we hope that by giving babies 
a common allergen when their immune 
systems are working out what is and isn’t 
harmful will allow us to teach their bodies 
to accept it and not become susceptible as 
they grow older.” 

November 2011
Southampton nurse receives prestigious 
international award.
 Jennifer Allison, senior nurse manager 
at the NIHR Wellcome Trust Clinical 
Research Facility collected the International 
Association of Clinical Research Nurses 
(IACRN) Distinguished Clinical Research 
Nurse Award for her “extraordinary 
dedication” to clinical research. 

“I am very honoured to receive this 
prestigious research award, which reflects 
not only on my work in both the US and 
here in the UK, but also that of my many 
colleagues, and I hope the award brings 
further recognition of the cutting-edge 
research being performed by our excellent 
team in Southampton,” said Ms Allison, 
who is also the international link for the UK 
Clinical Research Facility Network.

In her role at the NIHR Wellcome Trust 
Clinical Research Facility, Ms Allison 
oversees all nursing aspects of the unit, 
including adult and paediatric research 
wards and specialist laboratories, and is 
responsible for the management of studies. 
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Nicole Mullen, president of the IACRN, added: 
“Jennifer’s extraordinary dedication and work 
is inspiring to all those involved in clinical 
research nursing and we at the IACRN are 
honoured to have her among our membership 
and sharing in our common goals.” 

December 2011
Southampton amongst the best in UK 
for involving patients in clinical research. 
Southampton gained national recognition 
of its consistently high involvement of 
patients in clinical research when the 
National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) 
published its Clinical Research Network data.

The partnership between University Hospital 
Southampton NHS Foundation Trust and 
the University of Southampton saw 13,464 
patients recruited to clinical trials – where 
research is taken out of the laboratory and 
into the clinic – during 2010/11, making it 
the one of the top three centres in England.
 
In addition, the data also placed 
Southampton in the top five for volume 
of studies at 256, the fourth highest total 
among hospital trusts. 

“These fantastic figures are testament to 
the commitment and dedication we have to 
improving treatment for people across the 
world and are an excellent example of the 
ambition we have to be at the forefront of 
advances in medicine now and for years to 
come,” said Christine McGrath, director of 
research and development at UHS 

January 2012
Support for complex cancer trials 
established in dedicated facilities. 
The University of Southampton Clinical Trials 
Unit moved into its own facilities on the 
Southampton General Hospital site, bringing 
it closer to the research and researchers it 
supports. The Unit enables researchers to 
develop trials of complex cancer drug and 
surgical treatments, providing study design, 
statistical analysis and practical assistance. The 
expertise of the Unit ensures patient benefit, 
that high safety and regulatory standards are 
maintained and facilitates involvement of 
other patients and researchers around the UK.

February 2012
£9.2M funding for clinical research 
infrastructure. 
The NIHR Wellcome Trust Clinical Research 
Facility is Southampton’s world-class 
platform for taking research from the 
laboratory into the clinic, recognition of its 
value and achievements came in February 
with a £9.2 million, five year funding 
renewal from the NIHR.

Located in the heart of Southampton 
General Hospital, the Facility is the site for all 
early-stage clinical research in Southampton, 
and is critical to the work of the NIHR 
Southampton Biomedical Research Centre, 
the NIHR Respiratory Biomedical Research 
Unit and the NIHR-Cancer Research UK 
Experimental Cancer Medicine Centre.

Dr Saul Faust, Director of the NIHR WTCRF, 
said: “This is a fantastic opportunity 
which will allow the Facility to support 
translational research collaborations 
between the Trust and the University 
incorporated within the Southampton 
Centre for Biomedical Research.”

March 2012
£17m contracts to progress world-leading 
nutrition and respiratory research. 
Southampton’s pre-eminence in respiratory 
disease and nutrition, diet and lifestyle 
research was bolstered by the exchange 
of contracts formally commencing the 
five year, £17 million commitment to the 
NIHR Southampton Respiratory Biomedical 
Research Unit and NIHR Southampton 
Biomedical Research Centre.

“This huge investment is a striking 
endorsement of our achievements to date but 
also of our ambition to move forward and 
continue to be at the forefront of medical 
developments.” Said Christine McGrath, the 
Trust’s director of research and development. 

The respiratory Unit, which specialises in 
looking at new therapies for diseases such 
as asthma, chronic obstructive pulmonary 
disease, cystic fibrosis and neonatal, 
paediatric and adult intensive care, was 
allocated £7.3m, while the NIHR review 
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We aim to achieve 
and demonstrate 
excellence in the 
provision of training 
and development 
for our staff.

panel’s decision to upgrade the nutrition, 
diet and lifestyle Unit to Centre status based 
on the quality of its application means it 
received a total of £9.6m. 

Professor Ratko Djukanovic, director of the 

respiratory Unit and SCBR, said: “We are 
extremely pleased that the results we have 
achieved over the past three years and 
the direct effect we are having on clinical 
research worldwide has been recognised 
with such significant funding.” 

We aim to achieve and demonstrate 
excellence in the provision of training and 
development for our staff. 

As a university hospital we are involved in the 
under-graduate and post-graduate education 
of medical, nursing and other clinical staff 
and we also provide training at a range 
of different levels for our administrative, 
managerial and technical staff.

In November 2011, the training and 
development department of the Trust 
underwent a re-launch with a new name 
and identity. This was designed to raise 
awareness and widen participation in 
education for staff groups across the Trust. 
It also aims to provide clear and effective 
messages about training and development 
opportunities and outcomes in support of 
the development of a learning culture.

There is now a national drive under the 
educational outcomes framework for 
education providers to make an effective 
assessment of the outcomes of education 
using a range of measures. At UHS we have 
been working to establish our evaluation 
strategy and have designed a range of input 
and outcome measures that will enable 
us to more robustly understand our future 
strategy for training and development and 
effectively measure our delivery against 
targets and objectives. 

We have begun to carry out impact 
evaluations across a set of our different 
courses and training programmes and this 

methodology will be more widely rolled out 
across all of the work of the department 
over the coming year. 

Development of Foundation 
Degree with Southampton 
Solent University
January 2012 saw the first intake of 18 staff 
from UHS who are starting as students on a 
new foundation degree in health and social 
care. This has been jointly developed by the 
two organisations to be not only employer-
led but employer-designed. The course has 
core and option units which can be studied 
and certified individually or as a complete 
foundation degree. 

Seen as ground-breaking in this region, 
The unit-based approach will support the 
development of assistant practitioners 
in all clinical specialties and professional 
groups which will provide the hospital 
with a cost-effective workforce and deliver 
development opportunities for staff.
 

External recognition
This year we were commended as part 
of the Wessex Deanery notable practice 
awards for our neonatal simulation training 
and our cardiothoracic radiology training.

Southampton City College awarded the 
UHS Vocational Skills Centre with two 
awards for Large Employer of the Year and 
Employer Recognition Award. 

Training and development
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Our people strategy 
launched in 2011/12 
aims to make us a 
great place to work 
where patients are 
at the heart of what 
we do. We believe 
that our staff are 
our biggest asset 
and will help us 
in achieving this 
aspiration.

The strategy sets out four strategic 
objectives to create a vision for our future 
workforce:

•  Increase levels of employee well-being 
and engagement

•  Building a high performing culture
•  Maximise cost savings and efficiencies
•  Create an employer brand where UHS is 

recognised as a great place to work.

Accountability for improving staff experience 
and achieving our objectives is through the 
performance management framework, 
including metrics from the staff attitude 
survey to capture feedback and drive 
improvement in staff experience at work.

Engaging and 
involving our staff
Staff partnership forums
Staff partnership forums are held at both 
divisional and Trust level where managers, 
staff and trade union representatives discuss 
the local impact of Trust-wide initiatives, local 
developments, resources, service changes 
and more.

Trust-wide staff partnership forum 
The Trust-wide staff partnership forum meets 
on the first Wednesday of each month. HR and 
the Joint Staff Side Committee run the forum, 
with the director of HR, deputy directors of HR, 
lead stewards and Joint Staff Side chairman 
alternating as chair of the meeting. 

The meetings cover a wide range of topics, 
from waste collections to the management 
of the Trust. The forum is attended by the 
divisional HR business partners, care group 
managers, one of the executive directors 
and communications. 

As well as updates from Communications, 
Finance, Health and Safety and Estates 
and facilities there is also consultation on 
issues raised through the Joint Staff 
Side Committee. 

There are also several sub-groups that meet, 
including policy, pandemic flu, Agenda for 
Change and workplace learning. 

Divisional staff partnership forums
The divisional staff partnership forums are 
led by the divisional director of operations, 
and are supported by the divisional team. 

The groups meet at least bi-monthly 
and include an update on the division’s 
performance, changes to the service and 
financial position, as well as feeding back 
information from core brief, any health and 
safety issues and relevant HR information.  
It is also a chance for the division to hear 
feedback from staff on the issues that affect 
them and their teams. 

Working in partnership 
with our Trade Unions and 
Professional Organisations 
UHS, Trade Unions and Professional 
Organisations share a commitment to 
working in partnership to ensure that our 
common long-term objective is ensuring the 
success of the Trust for the benefit of our 
patients, employees and the community  
we serve.

Two main committees exist for the purpose 
of communication and information 
exchange between management side and 
trade unions. The Local Consultation and 
Negotiation Committee (LCNC) represents 
the medical workforce and the Staff 
Partnership Forum (SPF) represents all other 
staff groups. Both groups meet monthly.

Black and minority 
ethnic network
The black and minority ethnic (BME) network 
works with the Trust to help it deliver on 
its public sector equality duties concerning 
race equality for the benefit of both staff 
and patients. It will also work with the Trust 
to ensure clear polices and procedures are 

Our people
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in place with concrete plans, and actions 
with observable and measurable results. 
The group also provides friendship and peer 
support for all staff belonging to a black or 
ethnic minority group.

The Trust’s first BME Conference aimed 
at BME staff and Managers was held in 
September 2011. BRAP, (Birmingham Race 
Action Partnership) supported the Trust 
to deliver the conference and facilitated 
workshops for BME staff. The conference 
included presentations from the executive 
team, HR, training and development and 
the chair of the BME network. The keynote 
speaker was Kriss Akabusi.

The outcomes of the conference informed 
the Trust’s BME Action Plan which has been 
produced in collaboration with the BME 
Network. The Trust plan to hold an annual 
Equality & Diversity conference following the 
success of it’s first one. 

Health and well-being forum
The Health and well-being working group 
meets each month to develop services that 
are crucial to staff health and well-being and 
makes sure that the Trust is doing everything 
that it should to support this. This includes: 

• assessing the main risks to health and 
well-being faced by staff 

• providing the right kind of health and 
well-being services for staff and making 
sure staff have equal access to them 

• helping managers to see the connection 
between good staff health and well-being 
and top-quality clinical outcomes 

• ensuring that managers are implementing 
national guidance on promoting good 
health 

• monitoring how health and well-being is 
covered in management training 

• providing help for managers to support 
staff with mental health problems 

• ensuring that staff health and well-being 
is always considered as part of governance 
and quality monitoring. 

The forum is chaired by Jane Hayward, 
director of organisational development. 

Equality and diversity
We believe that any modern organisation 
has to reflect all of the communities and 
people it serves, in both service delivery 
and employment terms, and that we must 
tackle all forms of discrimination. UHS has 
made a commitment to valuing diversity and 
achieving equality. We aim to ensure that 
UHS has a culture of fairness, equality, and 
respect for diversity that is evident  
to everyone. 

The following principles underpin our work: 

• Supporting and respecting everyone’s 
human rights as a fundamental basis for 
our work with people.

• Treating all people with dignity and 
respect and to appreciate and celebrate 
the diversity of our patients, the public 
and our staff and volunteers. 

• Working with our service users and staff 
towards achieving equality.

• Learning from what we do – both from 
what we do well and from where we can 
improve.

• Working together to challenge 
discrimination and tackle barriers to 
equality against anyone working in our 
organisations or using our services.

• Making sure that equality issues are 
integral to the mainstream of all strategic 
and policy development and day-to-day 
practice in our organisation. 

• Seeking to reduce health inequalities and 
improve health outcomes for patients. 

• Improving staff awareness and 
understanding of these issues. 

As a public sector organisation we are 
required to meet the Public Sector Equality 
Duty and show our compliance with the 
Equality Act (2010). We will do this through 
the implementation of The Equality Delivery 
System (EDS)

In January 2012 we undertook a self 
assessment exercise in conjunction with 
our local patient interest groups from 
Southampton and Hampshire in order to 
grade ourselves against the EDS equality 
goals and outcomes. The results of our 
grading assessment, together with our 
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Strategic and Delivery Objectives for EDS can 
be found on our external website at  
www.uhs.nhs.uk

The Trust EDS Operations Group will be 
responsible for monitoring the EDS objectives 
and action plans over the forthcoming 
year. This group is chaired by the Director 
of Human Resources who holds overall 
responsibility for the EDS and delivery of 
the action plans. Representatives from 
our FT Members Council also sit on this 
group. Further engagement with staff side 

groups and wider representation from local 
interest groups will continue throughout the 
forthcoming year and beyond. 

Staff attitude survey report
We see an ongoing improvement in how we 
are rated by our staff as an employer which 
is measured annually as part of the nationally 
co-ordinated staff attitude survey. 

Our response rate to the survey increased by 
seven points in the last year as shown below:

NB. National average refers to the average 
for acute trusts.

This puts us in the highest 20% of acute 
trusts for our response rate.

Top four ranking scores

2010 2011 Trust Improvement 
/Deterioration

Trust National 
Average

Trust National 
Average

Response rate 54% 51% 61% 53% Improvement of 7%

Key Finding 2010 2011

Trust National 
Average

Trust National 
Average

Trust Improvement 
/Deterioration

KF6 Effective team 
working

3.79 3.69 3.84 3.72 Improvement of 0.05

KF16 Percentage of staff 
receiving health and 
safety training in the last 
12 months

90% 80% 90% 81% No change

KF25 Percentage of staff 
experiencing harassment, 
bullying or abuse from 
patients, relatives of the 
public in last 12 months

10% 15% 12% 15% Deterioration of 2%

KF32 Staff job 
satisfaction

3.56 3.48 3.57 3.47 Improvement of 0.01
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Bottom four ranking scores

Key Findings that have improved since 
2010 survey

Key Findings that have deteriorated 
since 2010 survey

A Trust wide action plan has been approved 
by the Trust Executive Committee. The action 
plan has been prepared to focus on the 
five areas where the Trust is ranked below 
average or in the lowest 20% of acute Trusts 

nationally, three areas where scores are 
worse than the previous year and includes 
two areas which featured in last year’s action 
plan and have not improved.

Key Finding 2010 2011

Trust National 
Average

Trust National 
Average

Trust Improvement 
/Deterioration

KF19 Percentage of staff 
saying hand washing 
materials are always 
available

55% 67% 54% 66% Deterioration of 1%

KF20 Percentage of staff 
witnessing potentially 
harmful errors, near 
misses or incidents in the 
last month

36% 37% 39% 34% Deterioration of 3%

KF8 Percentage of staff 
working extra hours

67% 66% 68% 65% Deterioration of 1%

KF14 Percentage of staff 
being appraised with 
personal development 
plan in last 12 months

69% 66% 65% 68% Deterioration of 4%

Key Finding 2010 2011

KF36 Percentage of staff having equality and 
diversity training in the last 12 months

49% 61%

Key Finding 2010 2011

KF33 Staff intention to leave jobs 2.34 2.49
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Divisions/Care Groups will be using their 
own results to develop local action plans 
over the forthcoming months.

Next year the Trusts ambition is to be in 
the top 20% of all Trusts in terms of staff 
engagement. This year we have achieved a 
ranking of above average. 

Support for staff 
with a disability 
Our recruitment policy sets out our 
commitment to supporting disabled 
applicants for vacancies available at the 
Trust. Disabled persons who meet the 
essential, measurable criteria for a post 

must always be shortlisted.  Further specific, 
written reasons for not shortlisting any 
applicant with a disability are required 
and the same evidence is necessary for 
candidates with a disability who have been 
shortlisted but not appointed.

Disabled applicants cannot be discriminated 
against because of their disability. Disability 
is not a reason to turn down an otherwise 
suitable applicant. Purposeful discussion 
about meeting the needs of the job and 
any adaptations, which might be necessary, 
must take place with applicants with 
disabilities, with the aim of overcoming any 
obstacles in their employment.

Action plans to address bottom four ranking scores

Staff working extra hours
We will increase the supply of agency staff working through NHS Professionals, and relax 
some of the recruitment restrictions that have been put in place to control expenditure.

Appraised with personal development plans in last 12 months
Implement electronic recording of appraisals to allow spot-checks and audits to take 
place ensuring that staff are provided with a personal development plan as part of 
their appraisal.

Witnessing potentially harmful errors, near misses or incidents in last month
Our action is to increase staff awareness of the importance of reporting and the 
escalation process and to ensure that any actions taken as a result of reporting are shared 
with the staff.

Hand washing materials are always available
Our research indicates that staff reporting a lack of hand-washing materials available are 
usually commenting on a lack of paper hand towels which reflects the Trust policy to use 
hand-dryers which reduce the costs of waste. Our action is to communicate effectively 
with staff about this policy and improve signage indicating to staff the steps they should 
take if materials are not available. We will undertake audits of availability and report the 
issue to the infection prevention committee.
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Quality report 2011/12
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Welcome to our quality report for 2011/12. 
As a university hospital Trust, we strive to 
ensure continuous improvement in the 
quality of our services, to deliver leading 
edge health services innovation for patients. 
This report sets out our progress and 
information about the quality of services 
we have provided for this year and our 
priorities for quality improvement for the 
forthcoming year. 

Our 2020Vision is ‘To be a world-class 
centre of clinical academic achievement, 
where staff work together to ensure 
patients receive the highest standards of 
care and the best people want to come to 
learn, work and research’.

This report is intended for a wide range 
of stakeholders including the public. We 
have included a set of nationally mandated 
statements which allows you to make 
comparisons between organisations. 

The Trust Board is committed to 
continuously improving quality, and sees 
this as a top priority. It means being a 
world-class provider of patient experience, 
patient safety and clinical outcomes. We 
have a proactive and rigorous approach 
to achievement, using our Patient 
Improvement Framework (PIF) to prioritise 
and drive excellence in the Trust. We take 
our part in supporting health priorities  
community-wide, working closely with our 
commissioners to develop and achieve the 
‘Commissioning for Quality and Innovation 
(CQUIN) programme for local and national 
quality improvement goals.

As one of the largest acute teaching Trust 
hospitals in the UK, it is our responsibility 
to deliver our service around the needs of 
our patients and our customers. We serve 
a local population of 647,200 covering 
Southampton City and South-West 
Hampshire (New Forest, Eastleigh and Test 
Valley). We also serve a wider population 
of about 3 million people, stretching from 

West Sussex to Cornwall. Whilst we provide 
our full range of services to the local health 
economy, our service provision to the wider 
region focuses on specialist tertiary activity. 
Over the years we have listened carefully 
and developed our services based on 
these needs. Further detail about how our 
services are developing is included in part 
three of this report. 

In the past year we have expanded key 
clinical services for patients, with major 
developments in neurosurgery, gastro-
enterology, orthopaedics and trauma, 
anaesthesia, cancer, thoracic surgery, 
specialist children’s surgery and medicine, 
and cardiac services. Also in services such 
as accident and emergency, emergency 
medicine and surgery. These have been key 
to us developing our clinical excellence. 

As a university hospital, we are one of 
the UKs leading research and educational 
centres which enables us to translate 
cutting edge clinical research into practice 
for patients in their homes, the outpatient 
clinics, and the bedside. We have the 
privilege of training and educating the next 
generation of clinical staff for the NHS.
 
As a measure of our success, in 2011/12 more 
patients than ever before chose University 
Hospital Southampton NHS Foundation Trust 
(UHS) for their health care needs. Despite the 
highest patient volumes seen to date, we 
continue to improve significantly the quality 
of our services, reduce the infection rates for 
C-Diff and MRSA, meet national waiting time 
targets for most specialities and reduce the 
overall number of complaints. In addition, 
we have seen our excellent clinical outcomes 
sustained for patients.  

Our staff experience has significantly 
improved, evidenced by our staff survey 
results. The national patient survey shows 
us as a high quality provider through the 
eyes of patients but raises the need for 
us to focus on certain areas that patients 

Quality Report 2011/12
Welcome to our 
quality report for 
2011/12.
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value. We will embed the necessary actions 
in 2012/13 in response to these comments.
In conclusion, I want to emphasise the 
commitment from the entire Trust to a 
strategy based on quality and safety that 
will deliver an improved patient experience. 
This is endorsed not only by the Trust Board 
but at every level in the organisation. The 
improvements delivered over the last year 
are indicative of the engagement and active 
participation throughout the Trust. There 
is recognition of the important positive 
impact quality improvements have on our 
patients’ experience. We will continue 
to evolve our quality plans to ensure we 
deliver an ever improving service. We hope 
that this quality report tells you what you 
want to know about the services provided 

by University Hospital Southampton NHS 
Foundation Trust and continues to build 
your confidence in us as a high quality 
organisation.

To the best of my knowledge and belief, 
and in accordance with the regulations 
governing quality reports, the information 
contained in this document is accurate and 
can be relied on.

Signed

Chief executive                                                                           
Date: 29/05/12

Introduction from the Board
We are pleased to introduce the University 
Hospital Southampton NHS Foundation Trust 
Quality Report. It describes our progress with 
the service quality improvements undertaken 
in 2011/12, and outlines our priorities for 
further improvement to be undertaken in 
2012/13. We will build on the significant 
progress we have made with quality 
improvements in the past year and continue 
to use the discussions, decisions and actions 
that led to the production of our Quality 
Report, to influence our service quality 
improvement programme in the coming year.  

We are confident that the quality 
improvement priorities we have chosen for 
the next year will not only strengthen the 
excellent clinical care that we deliver, but 
will also improve the wider experience for 
patients and carers, and ensure that the 
Trust remains one of the best university 
hospitals in England. 

Statement of Directors’ 
responsibilities in respect of 
the quality report
The Directors are required under the Health 
Act 2009 and the National Health Service 

(Quality Accounts) Regulations 2010, as 
amended, to prepare Quality Accounts for 
each financial year. 

Monitor has issued guidance to NHS 
Foundation Trust Boards on the form and 
content of annual quality reports (which 
incorporate the above legal requirements) 
and on the arrangements that Foundation 
Trust Boards should put in place to support 
the data quality for the preparation of the 
quality report. 

In preparing the quality report, Directors  
are required to take steps to satisfy 
themselves that: 

1. The content of the Quality Report meets 
the requirements set out in the NHS 
Foundation Trust Annual Reporting 
Manual 2011/12; 

2. The content of the Quality Report is not 
inconsistent with internal and external 
sources of information including: 

 •  Board minutes and papers for the    
    period April 2011 to June 2012 

 •  Papers relating to Quality reported to    
    the Board over the period April 2011   
    to June 2012 
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 •  Feedback from the commissioners   
 dated 23/05/2012 

 •  Feedback from Governors dated   
 22/05/2012 

 •  Feedback from LINks dated    
 28/05/2012 

 •  The Trust’s complaints report   
 published under regulation 18 of the  
 Local Authority Social Services and   
 NHS Complaints Regulations 2009,   
 dated 22/06/2011; 

 •  The [latest] national patient survey   
 24/04/2012

 •  The [latest] national staff survey   
 20/03/2012 

 •  The Head of Internal Audit’s annual   
 opinion over the trust’s control   
 environment dated 24/05/2012

 •  CQC quality and risk profiles dated   
 17/04/2012 

3. The Quality Report presents a balanced 
picture of the NHS Foundation Trust’s 
performance over the period covered; 

4. The performance information reported 
in the Quality Report is reliable and 
accurate; 

5. There are proper internal controls over 
the collection and reporting of the 
measures of performance included in the 
Quality Report, and these controls are 
subject to review to confirm that they are 
working effectively in practice; 

The data underpinning the measures of 
performance reported in the Quality Report 
is robust and reliable, conforms to specified 
data quality standards and prescribed 
definitions, is subject to appropriate 
scrutiny and review; and the Quality 
Report has been prepared in accordance 
with Monitor’s annual reporting guidance 
(which incorporates the Quality Accounts 
regulations) (published at www.monitor-
nhsft.gov.uk/annualreportingmanual) as 
well as the standards to support data 
quality for the preparation of the Quality 
Report (available at www.monitor-nhsft.
gov.uk/annualreportingmanual). 

The directors confirm to the best of their 
knowledge and belief they have complied 
with the above requirements in preparing 
the Quality Report. 

By order of the Board 

Chairman 
Date: 29/05/12

Chief executive 
Date: 29/05/12
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We are an ambitious 
patient-focused, 
driven organisation 
that wants to excel 
in all aspects of 
acute health care 
delivery, for our 
local community 
and for our wider 
regional tertiary 
population.

Following extensive 
consultation and 
engagement with 
our patients, our 
staff, the public 
and other key 
stakeholders such as 
our commissioners, 
we published the 
2020Vision in 
2006. We have 
been systematically 
delivering and 
refining it year on 
year since then.

Our original vision still holds true and we 
can already demonstrate in many areas, 
that it is being achieved.

How we are delivering 
The Trust has developed three key strategic 
objectives for 2010/11 to 2013/14 to 
achieve our vision, which places quality at 
the heart of everything we do: 

Our strategic objectives  
for 2011/12
•  SO1 Trusted on quality
•  SO2 Delivering for taxpayers
•  SO3 Excellence in healthcare

Our strategic objectives are aligned with 
our quality governance strategy, which 
provides clear direction to the organisation 

on the whole system approach we take to 
continuously improving standards. We have 
a range of supporting strategies defining 
our improvement priorities in more detail. 
These include our patient experience 
strategy, patient safety strategy and clinical 
effectiveness strategy. Our model of delivering 
these improvement priorities is through our 
patient improvement framework (PIF), which 
is reviewed and updated annually, (see section 
2 – Our priorities). We have detailed our 
priorities under the following headings:

•  Patient safety
•  Patient experience
•  Clinical effectiveness & patient outcomes

Our goal is to constantly improve 
patient care and foster innovation in an 
organisation that consistently wants to 
exceed the expectations of patients and 

Part 1: An Introduction to University Hospital 
Southampton NHS Foundation Trust:

Our 2020Vision:
 “Our goal is to be the country’s leading centre of clinical and academic achievement 
within ten years and establish a world-class reputation by 2020. We will constantly 
improve patient care and foster innovation in an organisation that exceeds the 
expectations of patients and meets the needs of its purchasers and providers. At the same 
time we will offer a more attractive place to work, learn and research than any of our 
competitors and be rated by our customers as consistently excellent in everything we do.

Achieving this ambition will challenge us to grow our income and reduce our costs so 
that we can re-invest 5-7 per cent of our turnover in the organisation each year. We 
will need to be less centred on traditional district general hospital services and more 
externally focused throughout the organisation, in order to grow our regional and 
supra-regional services significantly. 

We will work more closely with the University of Southampton and other academic 
institutions and provide the service that our customers want instead of simply delivering the 
product that we have traditionally provided. As an organisation we will be more flexible, less 
bureaucratic and faster at delivering excellence to our patients, purchasers and providers. 
We will become a hospital that we would choose for the care of our own families.

We believe that by working together and embracing change we can achieve our stated 
goals and the trust will truly deliver its duties to the public.”
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staff, and to achieve the best clinical 
outcomes in a safe and therapeutic 
environment, so our patient improvement 
framework is clinically supported and fully 
embedded in our clinical pathways of care.  
The Trust Board monitors delivery of our 
quality improvement metrics, to ensure that 
year on year we are getting closer to our 
vision and continuously improving. 

The 2011/12 quality report shares the 
process with you and identifies our defined 
quality priorities for the coming year. 

Quality for our patients
This section provides a summary of our 
2011/12 achievements which are then 
outlined in more detail in Part 3 of this report.

Improving performance in clinical quality for 
2011/12 has remained a top priority and 
focus for the Trust Board. From April 2011 
- March 2012, there have been 136,858 in-
patient and day-case spells accounting for 
408,688 bed days and 446,233 outpatient 
attendances, with a continued upward 
trend over the year. In summary we see 
over 580,000 patients a year through these 
routes. We also see patients through our  
screening services and open access services. 

We are determined to go further and faster 
to be an even higher performing Trust. 
Supporting this objective this year has seen 
some significant achievements, including:  

1. We have maintained unconditional 
registration for all of our services with 
the Care Quality Commission.

2. We achieved NHSLA Acute Risk 
Management Standards accreditation at 
Level 3 (the highest level of assurance)- 
one of 19 Trust across the country.

3. Sustained high levels of patient satisfaction; 
month on month, over 92% of patients 
consistently rate their care as good, very 
good or excellent and would recommend 
our hospital to their family and friends. 

4. We received our lowest number of 
written complaints at 687 for 2011/12. 

This represents a reduction of 5% in 
the numbers of complaints received 
since 2010/11 and 13% since 2009/10.  
We have not received fewer than 
700 written complaints per year since 
2004/5, and benchmark favourably with 
peer trusts on this result. 

5. Improved patient safety: by meeting 
patient assessment and treatment for 
venous thromboembolism (VTE) for over 
90% of all patients.

 
6. A more than 50% reduction in hospital 

acquired pressure ulcers graded 3 or 4 
(the most serious) and a 20% reduction 
in those at grade 2. The Trust currently 
has 0.1 hospital acquired grade 3 or 4 
pressure ulcers per 100 bed days. 

7. The Trust remains an above average 
NHS employer as a place to work 
and 68% of staff responded that 
they agreed or strongly agreed to the 
question “if a friend or relative needed 
treatment, I would be happy with the 
standard of care provided by this Trust”. 

8. A further reduction in Methicillin-resistant 
staphylococcus aureus (MRSA) bacteraemia 
from 7 cases in 2009/10, to 4 in 2011/12; 
and in Clostridium difficile (C. diff)  
reducing from 123 cases in 2009/10, to 57 
cases in 2011/12, which places us as a top 
performer in the country.

9. Patients dying in hospital continues 
to fall, from 1967 inpatient deaths 
(excludes Countess Mountbatten House 
hospice) in 2008/09, to 1597 in 2011/12.

10. We have redesigned our stroke services 
and consistently achieve 90% of 
our patients spending 80% of their 
admission in a specialist stroke unit. 
The Dr. Foster data on stroke services 
shows the service has one of the lowest 
mortality rates in England, after 56 days 
of admittance to the unit 

We will continue to explore more efficient 
and effective ways to support care delivery 
and quality improvement and ensure that 
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this is underpinned by research, innovation 
and clinical audit. We have set out our 
top future quality priorities against safety, 
experience and clinical outcomes, which 
have been discussed and consulted on 
widely. The Trust Board will monitor progress 
and drive the delivery of these priorities as 
part of our quality journey to excellence. 

Quality for our staff: 
In 2011 we launched our People Strategy to:
• Increase levels of employee well-being 

and engagement 
• Build a high performing culture
• Maximise cost savings and efficiencies
• Create an employer brand where UHS is 

recognised as a great place to work.

Progress is measured through a number of 
Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) set out 
in our People Strategy. A number of the 
indicators are drawn from the results of the 
annual staff attitude survey, which includes 
questions on how our staff rate the Trust as 
a place to work year on year and the pride 
which they take in working here. Examples 
of our work to increase organisational 
effectiveness around quality and to embed 
quality in the Trust in this area include: 

Staff Satisfaction and feedback: The 
findings of the staff attitude survey drive 
improvement in UHS. Last year the results 
encouraged the Trust to prioritise action 
on increasing the take-up of equality and 
diversity training. The 2011 survey shows we 
have improved to reach the top 20% of NHS 
employers for this measure improving both 
patient experience and staff experience.

The survey results are set out as 41 Key 
Findings. We are above average for two 
thirds of findings and below average for 5 
findings. Our staff report that they work 
longer hours than they should, in 12/13 we 
will continue to reduce pressures on our 
staff encouraging the planning and taking 
of their holidays, maintaining low levels 
of overtime and completing the rollout of 
e-rostering to non ward based staff.

On staff engagement our staff tell us we 
are above average. We are in the top 20% 
of employers for staff participation in the 
survey as this year returns increased from 
54% to 61%. We have also rated as an 
above average NHS employer as a place to 
work or receive treatment. 

68% of staff responded that they agreed 
or strongly agreed to the question “if a 
friend or relative needed treatment, 
I would be happy with the standard of care 
provided by this Trust” The national median 
for Acute Trust is 62%. Even though we 
are above average we are determined to 
increase our percentage further.

Our quality management 
systems: 
Progress against each of our strategic 
objectives is reported to Trust Executive 
Committee and Trust Board quarterly.  
Supporting each of the strategic objectives are 
key priority measures of success, to help us 
assess our progress towards the 2020Vision.  

For the strategic objective 1; Trusted on 
Quality, our measures of success are:

 Target Achievement 

Our NHS Litigation Authority rating Level 2 3 Exceeded: Level 3

Our compliance with the Care Quality 
Commission regulations

compliant 3 compliant

Progress in meeting our CQUIN standards 100% 7 almost complete

Managing our bed capacity <92% 3 89.9%

Ensuring that we meet the Monitor 
compliance framework requirements.

complete 3 complete
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These measures are reflected in the sections 
that follow.

How we monitor and report 
on quality
The patient improvement framework 
(PIF) focuses on patient safety, patient 
experience and patient clinical outcomes 
and the Trust sets improvement targets 
on the PIF quality priorities each year. The 
framework development includes our key 
local or national priorities, and any areas of 
concern or needing further improvement, 
identified from our quality management 
systems and feedback. Our patient 
improvement framework and performance 
for 2011/12 can be found in Part 3: the 
review of services section of this report. The 
revised framework setting our priorities for 
2012/13 is included in Part 2: the priority 
setting section. 

These common PIF themes are also 
mirrored in the Trust’s committee structures 
and high level reporting practices. An 
integrated approach ensures that staff 
understanding of quality is embedded 
throughout the organisation and reflected 
in the Trust’s quality dashboards and key 
performance indicators.

Our feedback cycle approach to the 
management and improvement of quality 
informs how we agree our priorities for the 
following year: 

We review the implementation status of 
all National Institute for Clinical Excellence 
(NICE) guidance, and National Confidential 
Enquiries (NCE) to risk assess any 
development areas at UHS and take action 
to implement recommendations. 

There is regular reporting of our hospital 
standardised mortality rate (HSMR) to Trust 
Board. Our achievement score in 2010 11 
was 98. the national benchmark is 100. By 
March 2012 our score had reduced further 
to 90.4. This remains a priority that has 
been identified for next year. 

We continue to support the use of clinical 
outcome data to assess and improve 
services with participation in national 
audits, the patient reported outcome 
measures programme (PROMS), as well as 
undertaking local audits to continue our 
cycle of quality improvement.

Our annual clinical effectiveness conference 
was held in November 2011, celebrating 
audits that have led to improved patient 
outcomes, safety and experience, with the 
NCEPOD (National Confidential Enquiry 
into Patient Outcome and Death) Chief 
Executive as keynote speaker.

We work closely with our PCT 
commissioning colleagues to reflect 
joint priorities in our quality contract 
agreements which also support the patient 
improvement framework development and 
delivery of CQUIN targets.

Assurance and compliance
The Trust Board is accountable for the 
systems of assurance, internal control and 
risk management and monitors these on 
a quarterly basis. The Chief Executive is 
responsible for ensuring the delivery of a 
high quality service to patients and for the 
delivery of and compliance with assurance, 
quality and performance targets. 

For operational delivery, this responsibility 
is delegated to the Medical Director and 
the Director of Nursing for governance 
and quality and to the Chief Operating 

Performance 
review

Delivery

Implementation

Setting 
standards

Planning
for delivery

Priority
setting (PIF)
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Officer for performance targets. To achieve 
this we have clear systems and processes 
in place. Our quality governance strategy 
has been developed to ensure that Quality 
Governance is an integral part of Trust 
business and is at the heart of our clinical 
practice and service provision. It includes 
further details about the practical steps 
we have taken to support assurance and 
compliance for clinical quality improvement.

Board engagement
Over the last year, the Trust Board has 
actively embedded the key components 
of quality into its approach and work 
programme development, for example 
through Board development seminars; 
undertaking visits to the clinical divisions; 
talking to frontline staff and patients, 
and ensuring the Trust is compliant with 
the Clinical Quality Commission’s (CQC) 
‘Essential Standards of Quality and Safety’. 
The Trust Board has also reviewed the 
recommendations of nationally relevant 
external reports and publications for quality, 
and taken forward actions as appropriate.

The Board uses its ‘quality pyramid’ early 
alerts tool, which integrates financial and 
quality high level performance, to ensure 
that effective management of financial 
resources does not have a negative impact 
on the delivery of a high quality service.

Board reports
The Trust Board gains assurance on quality 
in various ways, via: 

•  the monthly key performance indicator 
(dashboard) quality report;

•  the monthly rolling program of 
 patient improvement framework 
 reports covering: 
 •  patient experience / patient feedback
 •  patient safety
 •  clinical outcomes / effectiveness

•  the quarterly regulatory assurance 
report, which includes Trust 
compliance with external accreditation 
and inspection requirements

 •  Board visits to divisions to review   

    delivery of the quality agenda.
 •  patient complaints

In addition, the audit and assurance 
committee and the trust executive 
committee receive copies of minutes from 
the Trust’s quality governance steering 
group. The audit and assurance committee 
devotes half its agenda to quality issues 
which may require an in-depth review 
and scrutiny. These include regular 
reviews of our assurance framework, 
and review of our regulatory compliance. 
In 2012 we have firmly embedded our 
approach to quality, and strengthened our 
responsiveness to problems raised. Divisions 
are held to account for assurance. For 
example increasing focus during 2011/12, 
on improving the quality of nutrition 
and feeding patients to achieve a step 
improvement in feedback from patients. 

Action for 2012/13 is to: 
•  further embed the program of executive 

quality walk-rounds;
•  develop a framework to provide patient 

stories at Trust Board;
•  tackle and report on the five areas that our 

patients say they feel we could improve;
•  further develop our integrated report 

on complaints, patient feedback and 
incidents for Trust Board;

•  continue to listen to patients and aim to 
surpass their expectations.

Regulation
The Care Quality Commission undertook 
a responsive review of compliance at the 
Southampton General Hospital site in 
February and March 2012. They found the 
trust fully compliant with the following 
standards: 

Outcome 1: respecting and involving 
people who use our services

Outcome 5: nutritional needs

Outcome 13: staffing

Outcome 17: complaints
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This section 
of our quality 
report discusses 
the priorities we 
have chosen for 
2012/13. These 
have been agreed 
after discussion with 
patients, clinicians, 
governors and 
commissioners and 
were approved by 
the Trust Board on 
27 March 2012.

and identified minor concerns against 
compliance with outcome 9, management 
of medicines. The Trust had already 
identified issues relating to medicine 
storage and was addressing these via 
a robust action plan which was further 
enhanced after the CQC visit.

Further information is included in the 
section ‘what others say about   
University Hospital Southampton NHS 
Foundation Trust.’ 

Clinical standards accreditation
The attainment of National Health 
Service Litigation Authority (NHSLA) Risk 
Management Standards, which provide 
assurance that risk management and safety 
are embedded into practice, is an important 
achievement for the Trust.  We met Level 
2 in maternity services in September 2010 
and Level 3 - the highest level of assurance 
- for our acute services in December 2011.

NHSLA is a national body which works to 
improve risk management practices in 
the NHS.

How we agree our priorities 
for quality improvement 
Deciding our priorities for improvement 
is a real team effort. The development 
of this report has been shared widely 
both within the Trust with our staff, 
our primary care trust (PCT) colleagues, 
clinical commissioning groups, community 
partners and other key stakeholders.

In March 2007 UHS Trust Board agreed 
a patient improvement framework (PIF). 
This framework continues to form the 
basis of our quality governance assurance.  
The framework covers four domains of 
quality: patient safety, patient experience, 
clinical effectiveness/outcomes and Trust 
performance against national quality 
targets, such as seeing people in our 
emergency department within four hours. 

The PIF is updated and reviewed annually. It 
is designed to reflect a prioritised approach 
to quality. In addition to our own patient 
and staff feedback to inform our top 
issues for patient quality of care, it includes 
reference to national drivers, for example, 
Lord Darzis’ ‘High Quality Care for All’ 

command paper, and the Department of 
Health outcomes framework for 2012/13.  
It is also linked to our local community 
quality priorities included in patient and 
public feedback about our services and 
our PCT commissioner contract, and also 
reflects our own risk register and assurance 
framework. 

Communication is a key overarching theme 
that we continue to work on with our staff 
and patients. The PIF update also reflects 
the staff feedback we received during 
the development of this quality report. 
To determine these priorities, we began 
consulting with our staff in November 2011. 

We assessed each initiative in terms of: 
•  priority to patients
•  impact on quality, considering the 

improvement in safety, outcomes and 
experience

•  feasibility, as a reflection of the ease of 
implementation, resources required and 
likely time to completion or delivery  

•  previous performance
•  any national drivers/national audits.

Part 2: Our priorities for quality  
improvement in 2012/13 
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Our quality reporting 
priorities in 2012/13
We have set ourselves challenging targets 
for quality improvement in 2012/13. Below 
is a summary of the quality improvement 
priorities we have agreed to focus in more 
detail on in this report for 2012/13. The 
section following the summary and the PIF 
outlines the more detailed targets and plan 

for the coming year for safety, experience 
and outcomes.  

Although not required as part of this report, 
our performance priorities are integrated 
to our quality priorities. A summary of our 
plans for these is also included in our PIF 
and the detail following.

Our top priorities for 2012/13 

Safety: 
Priority 1: We want to continue to improve our reduction of pressure ulcers to support 
our ultimate aspiration to reduce avoidable pressure ulcers to zero. We will aim to 
deliver a further 25% reduction in grade 3 and 4 hospital acquired pressure ulcers 
compared with last year.
 
Priority 2: To improve diabetes care, we will support the Department of Health 
outcomes framework priorities aiming to enhance quality of life for people with long 
term conditions

Experience:
Priority 3: Patient food, nutrition and hydration remain a top priority for us. We will 
work with our catering provider to understand and improve patient feedback on 
quality of the food. We will ensure all wards manage a protected mealtime for patients 
and those patients that require assistance receive it. We will aim to improve our 
nutritional screening (MUST) compliance to 98% of patients, and our nutritional care 
plan compliance to 95%

Priority 4: We want to keep patients, relatives and carers fully informed about their 
treatment plans and care and involve them in decision-making. We aim to improve the 
quality of patient discharge information provided to GPs and increase the percentage 
of copies of GP letters that are shared with patients.

Outcome: 
Priority 5: Although we have made good progress in reducing our mortality rates, 
there is still work to do and this will remain a key priority for patient outcomes next 
year. We will continue to drive down the hospital standardised mortality rate (HSMR) 
and the SHMI (standardised hospital mortality index) to below the national expected 
rate by March 2013.
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Our Proposed top priorities for 2012/13
Our top priorities for 2012/13 are summarised in our PIF below. The tables on the following pages provide some 
further detail on how we plan to manage and measure our progress towards these aims.
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Priorities for patient safety for 2012/13 
Further detail about how we will measure and manage our progress toward the priorities we have set for patient 
safety in 2012/13: 

Safety:

Links to Rationale/Aim Proposed Target Measure

1. Pressure Ulcers UHS priority
NHS Outcomes 
framework 
Domain 5

Aiming to continue  
the reduction in 
grade 3 & 4 pressure 
ulcers

Further 25% reduction in grade 3 & 4 pressure ulcers on 
2012/13 baseline

2. Diabetes UHS priority
NHS Outcome 
framework Domain 2: 

New: Enhancing 
quality of life for 
people with long 
term conditions

tbc

3. Falls UHS priority To ensure we are 
reducing high harm 
falls

To reduce avoidable high harm falls by a further 25%on 
last years outturn.

4. VTE UHS priority
NHS Outcome 
framework Domain 
5.1
CQUIN

To ensure we are 
taking all steps 
to preventing 
avoidable blood 
clots

Local targets are: 
To increase risk assessment to include 95% of all eligible 
patients by quarter 4.
To ensure appropriate treatment to 98% of those 
patients that are assessed.

5. 24/7 Safe 
emergency care

UHS priority Aligns to existing 
work streams-
Hospital at night, 
patient moves, 
and deteriorating 
patients to those 
areas with most 
demand, in order 
to improve patient 
flow.

To reduce the number of patients that are moved more 
than 4 times in a hospital stay to less than 20 per year. 

To reduce the number of patients that are moved 
between 2 and 4 times in a hospital stay by 20% from 
358 patients, to 286 patients affected.

To monitor and learn from mortality by day of admission]
to monitor and learn from MEWs (Modified Early 
Warning Scoring System) activations outside of core 
working hours 
To monitor and learn from unplanned admissions to 
intensive care unit

To implement a new hospital at night and weekend 
working model of care

6. * For childrens 
services only: 
Full Term babies 
admitted to 
neonatal units

NHS Outcomes 
framework 
Domain 5

New: Improving the 
safety of maternity 
services: 
Reducing 
admissions of 
full-term babies to 
neonatal care

To review the DH Outcomes framework for maternity 

when published.

CQUIN National: VTE Reduce avoidable 
harm from VTE

VTE 90% eligible patients risk assessed on admission

CQUIN national: CQUIN national: 
Safety Thermometer

Improve data 
collection for 
pressure ulcers, 
falls, urinary tract 
infection (catheter) 
& VTE 

Monthly survey undertaken, achieving 100% 
completion rate
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Priorities for patient experience for 2012/13 
Further detail about how we will measure and manage our progress toward the priorities we have set for patient 
experience in 2012/13: 

Experience:

Links to Rationale/Aim Proposed Target Measure

Nutrition & 
Hospital food

UHS NHS FT 
priority

Progress made in 2011/12 
with MUST compliance but 
not yet sustained

Hospital food target remains 
average 60% via Picker real 
time survey although has 
improved via Medirest survey

Nutrition/hospital food 
remains a high profile patient 
and public concern

Increase the % of wards with protected mealtimes in 
place (currently 60% – quarterly incremental targets.

MUST care plan compliance 95% by Q4 end (90% in 
2011/12)

MUST screening compliance 98% by Q4 end (95% 
from May 2011

Mealtime assistance – 100% of relevant patients will 
receive by Q4 end

Hospital Food – By Q4 less than 10% of patients 
report hospital food as poor.

Communicating 
with patients:
•  Talking with 

patients
•  Information to 

patients

Patient Experience 
CQUIN national 
via 2012 inpatient 
survey

Aim to improve 
responsiveness to 
personal needs.

Composite 
measure from 5 
national inpatient 
survey questions.

CQUIN from National 
inpatient survey

Covers dignity, patient 
involvement, discharge advice
Communication from 
doctors and nurses is a key 
trend in complaints
Patient feedback about 
inconsistent quality
No trust wide standards set 
for patient letters, Many 
letters not compliant with 
equality & diversity. 
Inconsistent discharge 
information to patients and GPs

Q1 – agree patient letter standards and policy

Q2 to 4 – roll out of standards for letters in 80% of 
care group clinical settings

Increase percentage of copies of GP letters to patients 
to 95% (56% did not receive in 2011 National OPD 
Survey).

Achieve the national CQUIN for patient experience to 
score 64.8 or better 

Further 20% reduction in complaints where 
the primary and secondary cause is poor verbal 
communication and information from 525 to 467.

Delirium,  
dementia and 
care of older 
people

National Dementia 
Strategy

PHSO Report 2011

Patient’s 
Association Report 
2011

National CQUIN

PHSO and Pts Association 
reports into care of older 
people

Local patient and public 
feedback

Q3: Dementia/delirium pathway in place

90% patients with dementia are appropriately 
identified, assessed and referred. 

Care group Vulnerable Adult Champions will have 
completed training programme and be acting in Role 
by Q4

95% > of older people and/or carers will rate their hospital 
care as good, very good or excellent by end of Q4. 

Meeting 
patients’ 
essential care 
needs 

CQC, PHSO 
and Patient’s 
association reports
Links to EDS

DH concerns about 
consistent delivery of basic 
care (links with nutrition 
priority)

95% of all patients will report they are always treated 
with privacy and dignity 

Written complaints about negative staff attitudes will 
decrease by 10%

In the patient experience section of our patient improvement framework in 2011/12, we said we would keep 
working on previously agreed priorities for discharge and safeguarding vulnerable adults and we have now added 
a new priority for documentation including improving the quality of our information letters to patients.
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Priorities for patient outcomes and clinical effectiveness for 2012/13
Further detail about how we will measure and manage our progress toward the priorities we have set for outcomes 
and clinical effectiveness in 2012/13: 

Outcomes/clinical effectiveness

Links to Rationale/Aim Proposed Target Measure

Mortality rates NHS Outcomes 
Framework 
Domain 1

The aim is to reduce HSMR.
Addition of SHMI 
(standardised hospital 
mortality index).
Progress has been made but 
this continues to merit priority 
status.

Continue to reduce avoidable deaths, with re-
benchmarked HSMR score of 100 or less. 

Improve coding accuracy

Emergency 
pathway

Timely access 
to review 
and reduced 
unplanned 
re-attendance 
are important 
measures.
NHS Outcomes 
Framework 
Domain 4.3

To provide a responsive 
service that avoids  
re-attendance.
The five project streams 
which have progressed over 
the year are: unplanned re-
attendances, total time in A&E, 
time left without being seen, 
time to initial assessment, time 
to treatment.

To include and monitor all routes of admission eg  
AMU, as well as ED

To measure and improve our emergency surgery 
patient time to theatre. 

To achieve emergency department national targets 
relating to 4 hour wait times.

Deteriorating 
patients (adults)

This will help 
deliver across a 
range of indicators 
and contribute 
to our overall 
mortality rate.

Reducing ward cardiac 
arrests and improving 
planned admission patterns 
to general intensive care.
Links with 24/7 emergency 
safe care priority.

10% Reduction in pulseless electrical activity cardiac 
arrests (PEA)

Improvement in Trust acuity audit compliance to at least 
90% each month

National Patient 
Reported 
Outcomes 
Measures 
(PROMs)

NHS Outcomes 
Framework 
Domain 3.1
– and is expected 
to be expanded.

To continue monitoring our 
patients’ results for hips 
and knee replacements and 
sharing with clinical teams. 
Ensure our take up rate and 
results remain in line with 
national expectations.
 Cardiac PROMS are in 
development this year

80% eligible patients contribute to PROMs

Outcomes from 
surgery in those 
at the ‘extremes’ 
of age

NCEPOD: For 
older people, we 
do not meet all 
the requirements 
they suggest.
For children and 
neonates, the 
findings from the 
NCEPOD report 
‘Are we there 
yet?’ also need to 
be considered.

New. Planning for greater 
physician input in older 
people undergoing surgery 
following the NCEPOD 
report on surgery in older 
people.
NCEPOD gap analysis for 
surgery in neonates and 
children is being developed.

The aim is to see reduced 
mortality and improved 
outcomes relevant to each 
speciality and age group.

To develop measures to support the NHS Outcomes 
Framework indicators which include

‘improving recovery from injuries and trauma’ {though 
no detail yet}

‘improving recovery from fragility fractures’

To meet best practice for 90% patients with fractured 
neck of femur time to surgery within 36 hours of 
arrival.

recovery of independence for those over 65.
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In 2012/13, our actions will include:

• development of an electronic patient 
acuity monitoring system for our modified 
early warning system (MEWS) to allow 
better daily review of the monitoring 
of deteriorating patients, the escalation 
process, and real-time learning;

• continued work to improve the escalation 
of care for deteriorating patients 
by developing recognition and the 
management of deterioration at ward 
level and our outreach services to support 
these patients;

• continuing to support our established 
processes for detailed early medical 
team review of cases of unexpected 

deterioration by clinical specialties;
• guidance and an alert system to prevent 

medication errors when transferring 
patients to community hospitals;

• collecting better quality information on 
primary and secondary diagnoses and co-
morbidities;

• the development of an eLearning package 
to improve understanding of appropriate 
coding and its importance in medical 
handover and discharge information;

• making data results more accessible for 
our consultants to review;

• continuing to develop and improve our 
electronic discharge information for GPs;

• ensure we are adhering to national and 
local policy on safe storage of medicines.

Priorities for national performance for 2012/13
Further detail about how we will measure and manage our progress toward the priorities we have set for national 
performance measures in 2012/13: 

National-Performance

Links to Rationale/Aim Proposed Target Measure

Cancer waits NHS operating 
framework, 
Commissioner 
CCG priorities
NHS Outcomes 
Framework; 1.4

Preventing people from dying 
prematurely (NHS OpF)

(31 day, 62 day waits. 8 measures, see Trust Board KPI 
report)

Stroke pathway NHS Operating 
framework 
National 
standards, Vital 
Signs
NHS Outcomes 
Framework; 1.1

Improving recovery from stroke 80% of people with stroke spend at least 90% of 
their time on a stroke ward

Emergency 
pathway 
clinical quality 
indicators

NHS operating 
framework, 
NHS Outcomes 
Framework; 4.3

Ensuring that people have a 
positive experience of care. 
(NHS OpF)

95% patients spending less than 4 hours in A&E

< 5% unplanned reattendance in A&E within 7 days

95th centile total time spent in A&E < 4 hours

<5% patients leave the department before being seen

95th centile time to initial assessment of <15 minutes

18 weeks 
pathway

NHS operating 
framework

Ensuring that people have a 
positive experience of care. 
(NHS OpF)

Trust currently delivering at aggregated level against 
2011 / 12 Standards. 
New standards from 01/04/12 require delivery of admitted 
and non admitted performance at specialty level. 
Trajectories in place to deliver at specialty level during 
2012/13 but this will present challenges with a small 
number of specialties.
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This part of the Quality Report reviews the 
Trust’s quality performance in the 
year 2011/12. 
There are two sections: 

1. A brief report on the quality 
improvement priorities that were listed 

in the 2010/11 quality account for 
achievement in 2011/12.

2. A table of quality performance 
information that gives an overall view 

 of the quality performance of the Trust 
 in 2011/12.

Part 3 - Review of our services in 2011/12
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Review of our progress towards our quality account priorities set 
last year for 2011/12
Our 2011/12 Patient Improvement Framework is as below:
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Our top priorities for our quality account in 2011/12 were:

Safety Achieved

Priority 1: VTE: To continue to work to achieve risk assessments in 90% of our patients for 
appropriate venous thromboprophylaxis by quarter 4.

3

Priority 2: To reduce grade 3 and 4 hospital acquired pressure ulcers by a further 25%, and 
to reduce grade 2 hospital acquired pressure ulcers by 20%. 

3

Priority 3:To reduce the number of avoidable falls that result in high harm by 50%. 3

Experience

Priority 4: Nutrition and hydration:  To ensure over 90% of patients report hospital food 
to be good, very good or excellent. And over 95% of patients receive nutritional screening 
(MUST) within 24 hours of admission.

3

Priority 5: To reduce complaints and concerns relating to communication by 20%. 3

Outcome

Priority 6: To continue to drive down the hospital standardised mortality rate (HSMR) to 
below the national expected rate by March 2012.

3

The following sections detail how we have 
performed against these targets.

Patient safety
Thromboprophylaxis – preventing 
venous blood clots
Our goal in 2011/12 was: To achieve 
documented risk assessments in 90% 
of patients for appropriate venous 
thromboprophylaxis (VTE) by quarter 4.

VTE prevention was identified as a top 
clinical priority for the NHS in the 2011/12 
operating framework. It had already been 
identified as a top safety priority within the 
Trust. In 2011/12 the commissioning for 
quality and innovation (CQUIN) payment 
framework made a proportion of our 
income conditional on a VTE-related 

requirement and this is  supported by the 
NICE quality standard.

Our progress in 2011/12: 

We have achieved 90% compliance 
for patients having a documented risk 
assessment for VTE.

Manual audits for the year have shown steady 
improvement on correct prophylaxis (treatment) 
with an average of over 90% of patients 
receiving appropriate chemical prophylaxis and 
90% appropriate mechanical prophylaxis.

Root cause analysis of all hospital related 
VTE shows that the majority of VTE are 
found to be unavoidable.

The NHSLA standard on VTE was met.

Apr 11 May 11 Jun 11 Jul 11 Aug 11 Sep 11 Oct 11 Nov 11 Dec 11 Jan 12 Feb 12 Mar 12

8367 9094 9083 9182 9220 8963 9088 9254 8845 9034 8842 9327

90.61% 91.36% 91.39% 91.82% 91% 90.78% 91.36% 92.07% 92.20% 93.06% 92.77% 92.57%

UHS: Our VTE risk assessment progress 2011/12

(sample: patients where e-data is available)
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Reducing the incidence of   
pressure ulcers
Our goal in 2010/11 was: To achieve a 
25% reduction in patients with grade 3 
&4 avoidable pressure ulcers from 78 to 50 
(less than 4 a month) and a 20% reduction 
in grade 2 ulcers from 473 to 378 (less than 
31 per month).

Pressure ulcers are graded using the 
European guidance system from grade 1 to 
grade 4. Grade 4 is the most serious. 

The Trust achieved a 38% reduction 
with grade 2 pressure ulcers from 473 
in 2010/11 to 297 in 2011/12 and 68% 
reduction for grade 3&4’s from 78 in 
2010/11 to 25 in 2011/12. 

These were the actions we took: 
• root cause analysis panels to include 

analysis of grade 3 and 4 pressure ulcers
• fully implement Turnaround process for 

all wards and securing sustainability
• a program of audits on nursing practice
• training and awareness
• developing the whole health economy 

pathway
• participation in the national safety 

express programme that includes 
reduction of patient harm from  
pressure ulcers.

This is a significant achievement and one 
that has an impact not only on patient 
safety but also on patient experience. Such 
a decrease also reduces cost and increases 
productivity because a patient with a grade 
4 pressure ulcer costs an additional  
£11,000 through increased length of stay 
and dressings. 

Ward managers and matrons have 
implemented daily nurse-in-charge ward 
rounds and the ward teams continue to 
use the intentional rounding approach 
developed by the turnaround project 
reported last year. These actions ensure 
that all high risk patients are included in a 
structured programme of two-hourly 
nurse rounds to ensure pressure relief, 
skin care and identification of other 
supportive interventions to make the 
patient more comfortable.  

The documentation evidence used to 
evidence patient care given was developed 
during the turnaround project. This ensures 
that lessons are learnt locally and themes 
and trends are shared across the Trust. 

We have also seen a significant reduction in 
grade 2 hospital acquired pressure ulcers.  
This is a key quality measure where we have 
demonstrated significant improvement.

UHS: Our pressure ulcers reduction progress 2010/11
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Falls
Our goal was to reduce the number of 
avoidable falls that result in high harm by 
50% from 7 in quarter 1, to less than 4  
per quarter.

High Harm Falls to date Avoidable Unavoidable

Quarter 1 7 5

Quarter 2 3 6

Quarter 3 – (to date) 1 to be confirmed at panel 2 2

Quarter 4 – (to date) 4 to be confirmed at panel 2 0

We are on track to deliver the 50% 
reduction target. This year there have been 
24 high-harm falls to date, 10 of which 
were considered avoidable.

Our falls risk assessment tool (SIRFIT) 
compliance is 100% based on previous 

reporting criteria, which is extracted from 
Safeguard (our risk management software) 
using the data completed on the post fall 
proforma (Fig. 1). 

The themes arising from the root cause 
analysis panel meetings for patients who 
have suffered high harm falls have resulted 
in the following actions
: 
•  development and implementation of a 

multifactorial assessment
•  visual prompt stickers for medical review 

for those patients deemed as high risk
•  a Hovertec has now been purchased to 

assist in lifting and the care of patients 
post fall 

•  training has taken place for staff relating 
to post fall management

•  ongoing quarterly SIRFIT audits
•  patient information leaflet being 

developed for Postural Hypotension
•  A falls champion has been identified 

on every ward and they have received 
training to provide advice at ward level.

This will continue to be a key priority for the 
Trust in 2012/13.

UHS number of SIRFITs completed April 2008 to March 2012

Falls SIRFIT                  Mean                  UCL                  LCL
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Patient experience
Nutrition and hydration

In 2011/12 our aim was: 
•  over 90% of patients report quality of 

hospital food to be good, very good 
 or excellent
•  over 95% of patients receive nutritional 

screening (MUST) within 24 hours 
 of admission
•  over 90% of medium and high risk 

patients have a nutrition care plan 
 in place
•  over 90% of patients who require 

mealtime assistance receive it (target 
changed to 100% in February 2012).

Each month a range of patient groups in 
the Trust are independently sampled. In 
addition, Medirest, our catering provider 
also samples 400 patient surveys per 
month. These surveys demonstrate 
increased patient satisfaction levels to 93% 
in March 2012. While it is consistent that 
the percentage of patients on the trust’s 
own inpatient survey saying they rate 
the food as good, very good or excellent 
remains at about 60%, we are keen to 
focus on the remaining 15-20% of patients 
who rate the food as poor. 

Results since August 2010 are within the 
control limits, meaning there has been little 
variation. Results from the last four months 
sit just below the mean indicating this is a 
potential area for improvement.

A significant number of nutrition and 
catering improvement actions have been 
implemented in 2011/12:

•  Launch of a new set of ward based 
nutrition and catering standards

•  New hospital food and nutrition action 
group established

•  Consistent senior leadership and 
challenge to ensure engagement with 
nutrition across all care settings

•  Implementation of the mealtime 
coordinator role
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•  Increased compliance with protected 
mealtimes policy

•  Increased compliance with use of red 
trays and glasses for at risk patients

•  Catering rapid improvement events and 
increased partnership approach

•  Improved ward information about 
catering arrangements being piloted.

The trust was delighted to receive a fully 
compliant rating for nutrition in its February 
2012 Care Quality Commission unannounced 
inspection, where inspectors reported clear 

evidence of these improvements in the 
practice areas they visited.

MUST Screening within 24 hours and 
MUST Care Plans
The target for MUST screening was increased 
to 95% in May 2011. The target for MUST 
care planning is set at 90% for 2011/12. In 
February 2011, a new monthly MUST audit 
was implemented. Every relevant ward or 
clinical area is required to submit 10 random 
MUST audit returns per month. 

There was been gradual improvement 
in MUST screening and care planning 
compliance throughout 2011/12. Further 
analysis identified that for some areas 
of the Trust where patient throughput 
is particularly quick, for example in our 
acute medical assessment unit, a different 
approach is required to ensure that patients 
are assessed promptly. 

An increased focus on achieving compliance 
was initiated, Trust wide actions included:

• Agent for nutrition and tissue viability 
(ANT) roles descriptor and training revised

• MUST target scores included in ward 
performance clinical quality dashboards

• Delivered compliance with NPSA alert for 
enteral feeding

• New care plan proforma developed and 
being piloted

• MUST policy review and e-learning 
programme (BAPEN) 

• Monthly MUST audit data group set up.

Chart 1: Must Screening in 24 hours results via monthly audit
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Complaints relating to communication 
In 2011/12 our aim was: To reduce 
complaints and concerns relating to 

communication by 20% from 90 to 72 
per year. We achieved this target, with 70 
complaints reported. 

The themes from both concerns and 
complaints in 2010/11 were analysed, to 
provide a more complete picture of the 

issues contributing to a reduction in the 
quality of patient experience.  

Patient outcomes 

Reducing the Trust’s Hospital 
Standardised Mortality Rate 
We have made some good progress in 
improving our Trust mortality rate (patients 
dying in hospital); however there is still 
more work to do and so HSMR remains our 
top outcome priority for the coming year 
20112/13.

In 2011/12, our Aim was:
To reduce the Trust’s overall HSMR to 90 
by the end of March 2012 (bench marked 
against revised 2009/10 data).

Despite the highest patient volumes seen 
to date, the percentage of patient deaths 
in the Trust has continued to fall gradually 
over the past five years. We track this as 
close to real-time as possible, using our 
Trust wide performance tool SPADE. Our 
areas of work to improve our HSMR during 
last year focused on practical developments 
and on improving our communications  
and information systems that support 
patient care.

UHS in-hospital deaths, excluding palliative 
care 2006-2011 (from SPADE).

2011/12 Apr May Jun July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Total

Number Level 2 and 3 
communication complaints

2 8 7 6 9 5 5 6 6 7 3 6 70

Level 2 and 3 communication complaints progress 2011/12

UHS in-hospital deaths, excluding palliative care 2006-2011 (from SPADE) 

UHS number of in-hospital death, excluding palliative care
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HSMR is a benchmarking ratio, of observed 
deaths / expected deaths (x100). It is used 
as an indicator of healthcare quality that 
measures whether the death rate at a hospital 
is higher or lower than you would expect 
compared to the general population. We can 
use information presented in this way to help 
us compare our performance fairly. National 

Summary Hospital level Mortality Indicator 
(SHMI) data relates to the year to July 2011, 
and is collected on all inpatients (in HSMR 
it is collected on approximately 85%). Our 
performance compared to other hospitals is 
demonstrated below. 

UHS indicated by the arrow marker: 

In-depth review of the clinical data for all our 
patient groups with a higher than expected 
HSMR continues. In local and our peer group 
of university hospitals comparison, our 
position has improved from 11th out of 17 

to 8th out of 16 in our extended peer group. 

A summary of three of the supporting 
practical developments to achieve this are 
included overleaf:

SHMI by provider (all non-specialist acute providers) for all admissions in July 2010 to June 2011
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Emergency pathway
The project streams in this PIF priority area 
relate to the effectiveness of our accident 
and emergency performance. Unplanned 
re-attendances were sustained at between 

3 and 4% (clinical advice is that a range 
between 1% and 5% suggests optimal 
care). A new pathway was implemented in 
majors (more serious cases) to improve time 
to initial assessment.

Out of hours and hospital at night
Our hospital at night programme is clinically 
driven, using teams with skills crossing 
professions and specialties. The hospital at 
night approach adds support to medical 
training and service delivery and aims to 
achieve safer care by having staff with a full 
range of skills and competencies to meet 
the immediate needs of patients. 

We have developed a plan to strengthen 
this and following a successful bid to the 
South Central Strategic Health Authority 
will spread the pilot throughout the Trust to 
cover the hours 5pm to midnight, through: 
 
• additional consultant cover to reduce 

carry-over of day-time tasks into the night 
• developing the advanced and associate 

nurse practitioner model
• additional consultant for 7-day working, 

to increase consultant led ward rounds at 
weekends. 

Identifying deteriorating patients 
more quickly
In 2011/12, our aim was to:
• reduce on-ward cardiac arrests due to 

‘pulseless electrical activity’ (PEA)  
• improve early recognition and 

management of patient deterioration 

We have improved our processes for the 
escalation of care for patients showing 
deterioration, by increased training 
for the nursing and medical staff. This 
includes using the modified early warning 
monitoring system (MEWS) tool. 

As a result of using the MEWS system, 
while our % rates of unplanned admissions 
into general intensive care have increased 
to higher than the national average, being 
31% (nationally 21% [National Confidential 
Enquiry into Patient Outcome & Death 
NCEPOD 2005]), unexpected deaths and 
delays in admission to intensive care have all 
fallen. These results demonstrate improved 
recognition and management prior to 
admission into GICU. 

The national average for return of 
spontaneous circulation (ROSC) is 35 – 
40%. Less than 20% patients survive to 
discharge. Our hospital’s outcomes are 
much better than this and our results at 
UHS are: 
52% achieve ROSC and 29% of these 
patients are discharged home. 

Further information about this story can 
be found in our clinical effectiveness and 
outcomes reports on our website. 

Time To initial Assessment
95th Percentile

Mean                  UCL                  LCL                  Target (<=)
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The information below summarises 
our achievement for quality across all 
of the indicators chosen in our patient 

improvement framework since 2008/09. 
This is reported fully each month in our 
Trust Board performance reports.

A wider overview of the quality of care 
offered by University Hospital Southampton 
NHS Foundation Trust

Patient Safety

Key targets 2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2011/12 

Targets

Serious Incidents Requiring 

Investigation (SIRI)

Previously called Serious 

Untoward Incidents (SUIs)

58

(Apr-08 to 

Dec-08 only)

75 84 √   159 <=156

(<=13 per 

month)

Never Events Not measured 1 2 √    3 =0

Healthcare Associated 

Infection

MRSA bacteraemia reduction

27 7 5 √    4 Consistent 

with Plan

Healthcare Associated 

Infection

MRSA screening 

(“Matched Census”)

323% (Jan-09 

to Mar-09) 

average of 

monthly %

392%

average of monthly 

%

393%

average of monthly 

%

√    388%

ave of monthly %

>= 100%

Healthcare Associated 

Infection

Clostridium difficile 

reduction

289 143 89 √    66 On trajectory

Avoidable Hospital 

Acquired Grade III and IV 

Pressure Ulcers

Not measured 108

(Avoidable and 

Unavoidable)

78

(Avoidable and 

Unavoidable)

√    25 <= 36

(<=4 per 

month)

Falls

Avoidable Falls

Not measured Not measured Not measured √   13

TBC for last 3 months

<= 36

(<=4 per month)

Falls

% SIRFIT Compliance

Not measured 91.8%

average of monthly 

% (Q4 data only)

94.3%

average of monthly 

%

√    94.7%

av of monthly %

>= 95%

Thromboprophylaxis (VTE)

% Patients Assessed 

(CQUIN)

Not measured Not measured 94% in relation to 

the number required 

to be assessed which 

increased each quarter.

√    91.5%

av of monthly %

>= 90%

Thromboprophylaxis (VTE)

% Patients receiving 

pharmacological 

prophylaxis

Not measured 66%

average of monthly 

%

(Q4 data only)

81%

average of monthly 

%

√    93.6%

av of monthly %

>= 90%
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Clinical incidents
The Trust takes the occurrence of any 
clinical incident very seriously and ensures 
there is a detailed review from which 
learning takes place to reduce the risk of 
re-occurrence.  

Over the last year, the Trust has reported 
three serious incidents classed nationally as 
‘Never events’ ie, they should not happen.  
The events were, two incidences of retained 
swab (one general surgery and one 

gynaecology patient), and shavings from 
surgical drilling noted on X-ray. There was 
no adverse ongoing harm to the patients, 
but we will make sure that the learning is 
fully embedded to reduce the risk of these 
clinical incidents happening again. 

Each of the incidents was thoroughly 
investigated and the three patients affected 
were involved throughout. Action plans were 
fully implemented and will be audited to 
ensure organisational learning takes place.

UHS declares overall compliance with all six Department of Health criteria for meeting the needs of people with a 

learning disability in acute care (Section 18). More detail about this will be included in our annual plan for 2012 13.

Patient Experience

Key targets 2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2011/12 
Targets

Total Complaints 738 791 737 687 <=720

Percentage of complaints 

closed in target time

(due this month)

Not measured 84.7% 

average of monthly %

92.6%

average of 

monthly %

87% 

average of  

monthly %

>= 90%

Monthly Picker Survey

Overall satisfaction  

with care

Not measured 95%

average of monthly %

96%

average of 

monthly %

97%

average of  

monthly %

>= 90%

Monthly Picker Survey

Recommend hospital to 

family and friends

Not measured 96%

average of monthly %

96%

average of 

monthly %

94.3%

average of  

monthly %

>= 100%

Monthly Picker Survey

Have you ever shared a 

sleeping area with patients 

of the opposite sex during 

this stay in hospital? 

(Those who gave an answer)

Not measured 12.6%

average of monthly %

(Aug-09 to Mar-10 

only)

6%

average of 

monthly %

11.1%

average of monthly 

%

<= 5%

Same Sex Accommodation 

(Estates Compliance)

Not measured 74%

average of monthly %

99%

average of 

monthly %

99%

average of  

monthly %

>= 85%

Same Sex Accommodation 

(Non Clinically Justified 

Breaches)

Not measured Not measured Not measured 85 <= 360

(<=30 per 

month)

Nutrition

% Patients with MUST 

Screening in 24 hours

Not measured Not measured Not measured 89.4%

average of monthly 

%

>= 95%



52

University Hospital Southampton NHS Foundation Trust annual report and accounts 2011/12

Outcomes

Key targets 2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2011/12 
Targets

Hospital Standardised 

Mortality Rate (HSMR)

University Hospital 

Southampton NHS 

Foundation Trust

105.6

average of 

monthly rate

(Q4 only)

96.1

average of  

monthly rate

98

average of 

monthly rate

90.6

average of  

monthly rate

<100

Hospital Standardised 

Mortality Rate (HSMR)

Southampton General 

Hospital

96.2

average of 

monthly rate

(Q4 only)

89

average of  

monthly rate

92.7

average of 

monthly rate

84.8

average of  

monthly rate

<100

Hospital Mortality (number 

of inpatient deaths 

excluding Countess 

Mountbatten House)

1966 1755 1698 1729 1404

(<117 per 

month)

Hospital Mortality 

(absolute number of 

inpatient deaths including 

Countess Mountbatten 

House)

2305 2082 2052 2047 1404

(<117 per 

month)

Hospital Mortality Rate (not 

standardised)

1.8%

average of 

monthly %

1.7%

average of  

monthly %

1.6%

average of 

monthly %

1.5%

average of  

monthly %

<=1.5%

Emergency Re-admissions

Within 28 days

9.1%

average of 

monthly %

8.9%

average of  

monthly %

9.4%

average of 

monthly %

9.3%

average of  

monthly %

<=7.5%

Emergency Re-admissions

Within 30 days

Not measured Not measured 7.45%

average of 

monthly %

7.2%

average of  

monthly %

<=7.4%
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Key Performance Indicators

Key targets 2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2011/12 
Targets

A&E patients, % admitted, 

transferred or discharged < 4 

hours (UHS & Partners)

Achieved 98.29% Achieved 98% Achieved

97.0%

Achieved

95.1%

>= 95%

18 weeks – Admitted patients Achieved >90% in 

Jan, Feb & Mar 09

Achieved >90% in 

all quarters

Not Achieved

87.2%

Achieved

90.0%**

Maintain

>= 90%

18 weeks – Admitted 95th 

centile wait

Not measured Not measured Not Achieved

33.9 wks

Achieved

22.5 wks**

<= 27.7 weeks

18 weeks – Admitted  

median wait

Not measured Not measured Achieved

8.8 wks

Achieved

6.7 wks**

<= 11.1 weeks

18 weeks – Non admitted 

patients

Achieved >95% in 

Jan, Feb & Mar 09

Achieved >95% 

in all quarters

Achieved

95.3%

Achieved

95.0%**

Maintain

>= 95%

18 weeks – Non admitted 

95th centile wait

Not measured Not measured Not Achieved

23.7 wks

Achieved

18.0 wks**

<= 18.3 weeks

18 weeks – Non-admitted 

patients median wait

Not measured Not measured Achieved

4.6 wks

Achieved

5.6 wks**

<= 6.6 weeks

Maximum wait for elective 

admission

Achieved 3 pts 

waited >26 wks

Achieved 2 pts 

waited > 26 wks

Not measured Not measured Not measured

Maximum wait for 1st OPA 

following GP /GDP referral

Underachieved 36 

pts waited >13 wks

NAchieved 9 pts 

waited > 13 wks

Not measured Not measured Not measured

Maximum waiting times for 15 

key diagnostics tests

220 >6 wks at 

30/03/09

Achieved 10 pts 

waited > 6 wks

Not Achieved

31 pts > 6wks

Achieved

0.07%

Achieve & maintain 

< 6 weeks     

Cancers: 2 week wait (Urgent 

GP/ GDP referral) to first 

hospital assessment

Achieved

96.9%

Achieved

93.1%

Achieved

96.0%

Achieved

95.8%

>= 93%

All breast symptoms: referral 

to first hospital assessment

Not measured Achieved

 97.8%

Achieved

95.8%

Achieved

98.5%

>= 93%

Cancers: 31 days (Decision to 

treat) to first treatment

97.22% Achieved

97.3%

Achieved

97.2%

Achieved

97.7%

>= 96%

Cancers: 31 days  (decision to 

treat) to 2nd or subsequent 

treatment (drugs)

97.22% 100%

*

Achieved

99.8%

Achieved

99.9%

>= 98%

Cancers: 31 days  (decision to 

treat) to 2nd or subsequent 

treatment (surgery)

97.22% 95.8%

*

Achieved

95.6%

Achieved

96.5%

>= 94%

Cancers: 31 days  (decision to 

treat) to 2nd or subsequent 

treatment (radiotherapy)

Not measured Not measured Achieved

97.0%

Achieved

98.9%

>= 94%

Continued on next page
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Despite good performance in many areas, 
increased demand has continued to 
increase patient emergency attendance 
and admission levels. This pressure on our 
capacity has affected our ability to meet 
ED and 18 week performance. To support 
achievement of the patient access targets, 
we have put a number of actions in place. 
For example, increasing the number of 
consultants operating, and putting on more 
operating list time to reduce patient 
waiting times. 

We work closely with our local partners 
in commissioning and in primary care, to 
develop community-wide reforms to ensure 
patients are seen by the most appropriate 
provider, and unnecessary attendances at 
UHS are reduced. South West Hampshire 
system consists of:

•  NHS Southampton
•  NHS Hampshire
•  UHS
•  South Central Ambulance Service
•  Social Services
•  Solent Healthcare
•  Southampton City Council 

The joint system management board is 
attended by executive directors from all three 
organisations, and is currently working on 
specific, detailed schemes, linked to national 
and international best practice.  

In addition, a health system approach is being 
taken to continue to improve how winter 
outbreaks of Noro-Virus are managed, as 
this puts the hospital capacity under intense 
pressure. The collaborative management 
approach between organisations will continue 
over the winter period.

Key Performance Indicators

Key targets 2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2011/12 
Targets

Cancers: 62 days Urgent GP 

referral to treatment

Achieved

97.09% 

Achieved

92.8%

Achieved

87.0%

Achieved

88.2%

>= 85%

Cancers: 62 days NHS Cancer 

Screening Service to treatment

Not measured  89.3%

*

Achieved

99.6%

Achieved

93.6%

>= 90%

Cancers: 62 days Consultant 

upgraded referral to treatment

Not measured Achieved

95.0%

Achieved

89.9%

Achieved

93.0%

>= 85%

Last minute cancellations: % 

of elective admissions

Underachieved

1.3%

Failed

1.6%

Underachieved

0.9%

Underachieved

0.98%

<= 0.8%

Last minute cancellations not 

rescheduled < 28 days

Underachieved

13.8%

Underachieved 

6.4%

Underachieved

5.8%

Underachieved

9.11%

<= 5.0%

MRSA Bacteraemia Underachieved

27 cases

Achieved

7 cases

Achieved

5 cases

Achieved

4 cases

<= 5

C.Difficile Achieved

249 cases

Achieved

123 cases

Achieved

89 cases

Achieved

66 cases

<= 85
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This section of our quality report provides 
evidence that:

• we are actively measuring clinical 
processes and performance 

 (clinical audits)
• we are involved in national cross-

cutting projects and initiatives aimed 
at improving quality, for example, 
recruitment to clinical trials or through 
establishing quality improvement and 
innovation goals with the commissioner 
using the Commission for Quality & 
Innovation (CQUIN) payment framework

• we are performing to essential standards 
(CQC), as well as going above and 
beyond this to provide high quality care.

Review of services
During 2011/12 the University Hospital 
Southampton NHS Foundation Trust (UHS) 
provided a total of 24 services (as declared 
to Monitor) and subcontracted 15 services 
(UHS/PCT contract). More information 
about these can be found on our website 
www.uhs.nhs.uk. UHS has reviewed all the 
data available on the quality of care in all 
39 of these NHS services.

The income generated by the NHS services 
reviewed in 2011/12 represents 100 % 
of the total income generated from the 
provision of NHS services by University 
Hospital Southampton NHS Foundation 
Trust for 2011/12. 

Participation in clinical audits 
During 1 April 2011 to 31 March 2012, 
42 national clinical audits and 5 national 
confidential enquiries covered NHS services 
that UHS provides.

During that period UHS participated in 
86% (35/42) national clinical audits and 
100% national confidential enquiries of 

the national clinical audits and national 
confidential enquiries which it was eligible 
to participate in. 

The national clinical audits and national 
confidential enquiries that UHS was eligible 
to participate in during 1 April 2011 to 31 
March 2012 are as follows, listed below.

•  Bariatric Surgery (organisational element 
 of study)
•  Cardiac Arrest Procedures
•  Peri-operative Care
•  Surgery in Children
•  Perinatal mortality (MBRRACE-UK) 

confidential enquiry

The national clinical audits and national 
confidential enquiries that [UHS] 
participated in during 2011/12 are 
as follows: 

Bariatric Surgery (organisational element 
of study)
Cardiac Arrest Procedures
Peri-operative Care
Surgery in Children
Perinatal mortality (MBRRACE-UK) 
confidential enquiry

New National Confidential starting 
February 2012 
In addition to the above UHS has registered to 
participate in the National Review of Asthma 
Deaths (deaths from Asthma during the 
period: February 2012 to December 2012)

The national clinical audits and national 
confidential enquiries that [UHS] 
participated in, and for which data 
collection was completed during 2011/12, 
are listed below in Table A alongside the 
number of cases submitted to each audit 
or enquiry as a percentage of the number 
of registered cases required by the terms of 
that audit or enquiry.

Statements of assurance from the Trust Board
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Total number of NCAs UHS were eligible to complete (n=42)

Peri-and Neo-natal

1 Perinatal mortality confidential enquiry NCE NCE 100%

2 Neonatal intensive and special care (NNAP) 3 1 100%

Children

3 Paediatric pneumonia (British Thoracic Society) 3 5 -

4 Paediatric asthma (British Thoracic Society) 3 2 100%

5 Pain management (College of Emergency Medicine) 3 3 100%

6 Childhood epilepsy (RCPH National Childhood Epilepsy Audit)* 3 4 100%

7 Paediatric intensive care (PICANet)* 3 5 100%

8 Paediatric cardiac surgery (NICOR Congenital Heart Disease Audit) 3 6 100%

9 Diabetes (RCPH National Paediatric Diabetes Audit)* 3 7 100%

Acute care

10 Emergency use of oxygen (British Thoracic Society) 3 8 100%

11 Adult community acquired pneumonia (British Thoracic Society) 3 5 -

12 Non invasive ventilation -adults (British Thoracic Society) 3 9 100%

13 Pleural procedures (British Thoracic Society) 3 5 -

14 Cardiac arrest (National Cardiac Arrest Audit) 3 10 100%

15 Severe sepsis & septic shock (College of Emergency Medicine) 3 11 100%

16 Adult critical care (ICNARC CMPD) 3 12 100%

17 Potential donor audit (NHS Blood & Transplant) N/A N/A -

18 Seizure management (National Audit of Seizure Management) (epilepsy) 3 13 110%

Long term conditions

19 Diabetes (National Adult Diabetes Audit)* 3 14 100%

20 Heavy menstrual bleeding (RCOG National Audit of HMB)* 3 15 26%

21 Chronic pain (National Pain Audit)* 3 16 25%

22 Ulcerative colitis & Crohn's disease (UK IBD Audit)* 3 17(2) 100%

23 Parkinson's disease (National Parkinson's Audit) 3 18 90%

24 Adult asthma (British Thoracic Society) 3 5 -

25 Bronchiectasis (British Thoracic Society) 3 19 100%
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Elective procedures 

26 Hip, knee and ankle replacements (National Joint Registry)* 3 20 92%

27 Elective surgery (National PROMs Programme) 3 21 >82%

28 Intra-thoracic transplantation (NHSBT UK Transplant Registry) N/A N/A -

29 Liver transplantation (NHSBT UK Transplant Registry) N/A N/A -

30 Coronary angioplasty (NICOR Adult cardiac interventions audit)* 3 22 100%

31 Peripheral vascular surgery (VSGBI Vascular Surgery Database) 3 23 >75%

32 Carotid interventions (Carotid Intervention Audit)* 3 24 100%

33 CABG and valvular surgery (Adult cardiac surgery audit)* 3 25 94%

Cardiovascular disease 

34 Acute Myocardial Infarction & other ACS (MINAP)* 3 26 100%

35 Heart failure (Heart Failure Audit)* 3 27 >75%

36 Acute stroke (SINAP)* 3 5 -

37 Cardiac arrhythmia (Cardiac Rhythm Management Audit)* 3 28 100%

Renal disease 

38 Renal replacement therapy (Renal Registry) N/A N/A -

39 Renal transplantation (NHSBT UK Transplant Registry) N/A N/A -

Cancer 

40 Lung cancer (National Lung Cancer Audit)* 3 29 ~80%

41 Bowel cancer (National Bowel Cancer Audit Programme)* 3 30 286/?

42 Head & neck cancer (DAHNO)* 3 31 100%

43 Oesophago-gastric cancer (National O-G Cancer Audit)*  Data was collected for 

2011 but not due for export to audit until 2012.  Data collection suspended for 

2010 therefore, no data submitted in 2011.

N/A -

Trauma 

44 Hip fracture (National Hip Fracture Database)* 3 32 100%

45 Severe trauma (Trauma Audit & Research Network) 3 33 108%

Psychological conditions 

46 Prescribing in mental health services (POMH) N/A N/A -

47 Schizophrenia (National Schizophrenia Audit)* N/A N/A -
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Blood transfusion  

48 Bedside transfusion (National Comparative Audit of Blood Transfusion) 3 34 61%

49 Medical use of blood (National Comparative Audit of Blood Transfusion) 3 35 86%

Health promotion  

50 Risk factors (National Health Promotion in Hospitals Audit) 3 5 -

End of life 

51 Care of dying in hospital (NCDAH) 3 36 >100%
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Total number of NCAs UHS were eligible to complete (n=43)
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National Clinical Audits Description of actions 

CAROTID INTERVENTIONS AUDIT (VSGBI) Currently our results are significantly better than national 

average. In upper quartile.

HEART FAILURE AUDIT We offer an excellent HF service but it can always be 

improved. We finally achieved agreement to advertise for a 

second HF consultant and hope to appoint imminently. We 

would like to offer our service 7 days per week, but would 

require more nurses.

NLCA NATIONAL LUNG CANCER Will improve data entry to LUCADA especially regarding 

clinical nurse specialist care and FEV1. HICCS database is 

still not well designed for data entry. In upper quartile but 

difficult to benchmark as there are many measures. High level 

outlier for 2/4 main outcome measures. 

CONGENITAL HEART DISEASE PAEDIATRIC (NICOR) Increase space, staff and equipment for congenital cardiac 

service. Increase staff responsible for performing and 

maintaining audit. In upper quartile. Funnel plots for 40 

procedures within public domain online at www.ccad.org.uk.  

NATIONAL DIABETES AUDIT (CONTINUOUS) ADULT Many NDA metrics relate to primary care. UHS diabetes 

clinicians are talking to PCTs and CCGs about overhauling 

community diabetes services. Further plans awaited.

NATIONAL CONFIDENTIAL ENQUIRY INTO PERINATAL 

MORTALITY

Continue data submissions. When data last reported UHS 

was in the middle half.

ADULT CARDIAC INTERVENTIONS BCIS - CORONARY 

ANGIOPLASTY 

The BCIS data by institution is provided on-line including the 

risk adjusted funnel plots. These data are reviewed at M&M 

meetings as a group, as part of appraisal for individuals 

and fed back to the ACS committee for strategic actions if 

necessary. In upper quartile. Our data suggests outcomes are 

better than the expected, risk adjusted mortality.  

NATIONAL DIABETES AUDIT (CONTINUOUS) PAEDIATRIC Issues with data entry into clinical database to allow submission of 

data identified. HICCS system for Paediatric diabetes developed to 

allow real time data entry in clinic. In upper quartile.

TARN To continue to hold Mortality and Morbidity meetings and 

Major Trauma Centre meetings. Ortho-plastics training days 

etc. are used to disseminate data and discuss the quality of 

care and how it should/could be improved. In upper quartile.

NATIONAL HIP FRACTURE DATABASE The actions taken in the last 12 months are around improving 

36 hours target. In addition to the main trauma lists, there are 

two half-day dedicated Neck Of Femur lists per week. ‘NOF 

patient’ has been reinforced as a golden patient i.e. a priority 

on main trauma lists. A regional block service for pain control 

has been introduced two months ago. In addition, there has 

been a project looking at improved pathway/documentation.

ICNARC CMPD: ADULT CRITICAL CARE To continue the excellent work, promoted internally within 

division and on UHS blog. In upper quartile.  

The reports of 33 national clinical audits were reviewed by the provider in 1 April 2011 to 31 March 2012 and UHS 
intends to take the following actions to improve the quality of healthcare provided.
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BRITISH THORACIC SOCIETY - PAEDIATRIC ASTHMA AUDIT The audit data shows outcomes and the following of 

appropriate care pathways as in national guidelines that are 

significantly above those reported for the National averages. 

The data compared to our historical audits shows continued 

reductions in the use of unnecessary investigations and 

treatments for acute asthma such as chest X-rays and antibiotics 

which are less than 50% of national averages. Our data 

concerning discharge planning is impressive with documented 

actions considerably better than National averages. The 

respiratory service will undertake to continue to provide the 

education and support to the paediatric unit and ED department 

so that these outcomes are maintained. In upper quartile.

INFLAMMATORY BOWEL DISEASE RCP PAED CROHNS & UC To meet with care group/divisional group to discuss findings 

and develop action plan.

MINAP INCLUDING ACUTE MI AND CS Quarterly meetings of UHS ACS Committee with 

representatives from primary and secondary care to meet to 

discuss local issues. In middle half.

NATIONAL COMPARATIVE BLOOD TRANSFUSION AUDIT – 

BEDSIDE TRANSFUSION

Implemention of BloodTrack Tx, electronic checking right 

blood, right patient, using a personal digital assistant barcode 

scanning device to match the barcode on the patient’s 

identification band to the compatibility tag on the unit of 

blood. In upper quartile.

VSGBI NATIONAL VASCULAR DATABASE - PERIPHERAL 

VASCULAR SURGERY 

We try to enter carotid and AAA data in a timely fashion but 

amputation and lower limb bypass procedures are entered 

as we are able. Each data set takes 30 minutes to collect and 

we currently have insufficient manpower (data collected by 

nurse specialists as medical knowledge is required to interpret 

results etc. In upper quartile.

CARDIAC ARREST AUDIT Quarterly reports of cardiac arrests (location, outcome, type of 

cardiac arrest, time of cardiac arrest) reviewed at ‘Resuscitation 

Committee meetings. This information feeds up the organisation 

to Clinical Effectiveness group.  Outcomes in relation to core 

hours and out of hours considered.  Review demonstrates similar 

outcomes.  Ongoing review to continue. In upper quartile.

END OF LIFE CARE – CARE OF DYING IN HOSPITAL (NCDAH) Presentation of findings to End Of Life Care Steering Group 

and actions to be agreed. 

DAHNO – HEAD AND NECK CANCER Improved multi-disciplinary team documentation.   

Investment in dental rehabilitation. In upper quartile.

NBOCAP NATIONAL BOWEL CANCER PROGRAMME To discuss findings and plan actions.  

COLLEGE OF EMERGENCY MEDICINE PAIN MANAGEMENT We are promoting the relief of pain as being of primary 

importance in the emergency department. New processes are 

being introduced to reduce the time both to initial analgesia 

as well as re-assessment of pain level. This is in addition to 

continuing education to clinicians and nursing staff. National 

results received 18 May 2012 are being discussed

COLLEGE OF EMERGENCY MEDICINE SEVERE SEPSIS AND 

SEPTIC SHOCK 

Early identification and treatment of sepsis is emphasised 

in education of clinicians and nursing staff. National results 

received 18 May 2012 are being discussed.
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NASH NATIONAL AUDIT OF SEIZURE MANAGEMENT Education of clinicians in the department to ensure:  Improve 

documentation of collateral history. Improve performance and 

documentation of neurological examination. Ensure adequate 

information regarding driving and seizure management given to 

patients at discharge.

INFLAMMATORY BOWEL DISEASE RCP ADULT CROHNS & UC IBD Services Development plan. In lower quartile.  

PICANET PAEDIATRIC INTENSIVE CARE The SMR for UHS continues to be one of the lowest in the 

country. In addition our length of stay remains low and 

occupancy is high indicating efficiency as well as good 

outcomes. We need to continue to maintain these high 

standards as the unit becomes larger. In upper quartile.

PROMS KNEE To be taken to directorate meeting when final formal reports 

available in August. In upper quartile.

ADULT CARDIAC SURGERY: CABG AND VALVULAR SURGERY Our quality standards, as described by the survival VLAD 

plots for the unit as a whole and for the individual surgeons, 

have proven to be well above average UK results. In the new 

fiscal year we plan to introduce the Euroscore II to measure 

our results against. This is a risk predictor that is 25 % 

stricter than the currently used 50% logistic Euroscore. We 

expect to increase our work quality to match the increased 

expectations. In upper quartile

RCPCH CHILDHOOD EPILEPSY Report is provisional and will be sent to all paediatricians and 

neurologists whose patients were audited. A meeting will be 

held to address the issues arising from the audit within the child 

health care group on how to improve care of children with 

epilepsy. In middle half.

HEAVY MENSTRUAL BLEEDING Presentations of findings to Primary Care to aid in heavy men-

strual bleeding pathway/guideline development, to further 

refine the referral process.

BRONCHIECTASIS (BRITISH THORACIC SOCIETY) To disseminate findings and actions to be agreed.

EMERGENCY USE OF OXYGEN (BRITISH THORACIC SOCIETY) We have had the hospital prescription chart re-designed to 

include a specific area on the front for prescribing oxygen.   

There has been education delivered to junior doctors and 

groups of nurses. We plan to roll out a more coherent trust wide 

information and education package in the next few months.  

NNAP NEONATAL CARE We have recently appointed a band 7 sister to a discharge 

pathway coordination role to facilitate early discharge and 

outreach working. The unit is focussing on improving the 

whole area of customer services.

NATIONAL PARKINSON’S AUDIT The post of Parkinson's nurse (ie when the audit was performed) 

has now been replaced. Further actions to be confirmed.
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Audit Title Actions 

Epidural re-sites Guidance for securing epidurals on labour ward. Educate 

midwives in the care of the epidural to avoid the catheter 

being put under tension when the woman is moving around.

Thoroughness of data on anaesthetic charts College Tutors to remind trainees at departmental induction 

meeting that recording supervision details is a requirement

Usage of stored peripheral stem cells in multiple myeloma Confirmation would need to be sought from GP or other 

independent source to ensure the patient was deceased and 

the cells can then be destroyed

Re appointment of the Data Manager would re instigate the 

process of gathering follow up from referring hospitals and 

confirmation that stem cell bags could be destroyed for the 

deceased patient group.

NICE CG 89 Re-audit: Child concern forms in Emergency dept Liaison HV recommends that a copy of relevant Concern 

Forms be sent to GPs

To deliver two training sessions to ED staff on importance of 

process, contemporaneous documentation and checking of 

the CP Plan

For re-audit to review quality and relevance of data capture 

and timeliness of completion of data along with categories of 

injuries.

Outcome measures for Neuro pts Educate paediatric physiotherapy team re the outcome 

measures and diagnosis of patients including criteria for 

determining which specific outcome measure to use i.e.  

Patients that do not have a diagnosis will have the gross 

function section of RHIMA completed as part of the group 

‘patients with global neurological impairment’ (standard 7)

Regular timeslot to be placed in diaries to allow completion 

of outcome measures Modify standard 2 to state every 2 

weeks when on ward and once a month when in rehab 

setting (BH)

1– Once data has been inputted onto database the collection 

sheet will be filed in medical notes and recorded as being 

done on database2- All discharge reports will have a 

photocopy of collection sheet attached

Opioid medication in pts in pain clinic Better use of Patient Hampshire Held Records/ Clinical 

Document  to update records.

All correspondence should contain details of patients 

medication.

The reports of 55 local clinical audits were reviewed by the provider in 1 April 2011 to 31 March 2012 and UHS 
intends to take the following actions to improve the quality of healthcare provided.



63

University Hospital Southampton NHS Foundation Trust annual report and accounts 2011/12

Re-audit: Wessex Blood and Marrow transplant case 

note audit

Check that current lymphoma MDT reports have appropriate 

and adequate information for JACIE standards.

Lymphoma patients – data consent form to be included in 

transplant pack. All transplant patients – Data consent to be 

obtained at the same time as consent for transplant.

Routinely document Karnofsky score at day 100.

Communication documentation of relatives on GICU Developed a green communication sticker to stick into the 

medical notes each time a relative is spoken to by a member 

of the medical team outlining, which family member was 

spoken to, by whom and the outcome of the communication. 

This acts as an audit trail for communication with relatives 

and gives assurance of consistent documentation and 

effective communication

AMU & AMA swallow screen response times Recommendations:

•  Maintain current level of response rate and aim to improve 

it if staffing allows. Actions: Nil

Re-audit: Prospective audit of quality of intensive 

care handovers

Advice in induction packs detailing:  

- recommended content at handover

- start times

A brief summary of priorities and a plan for the day from the 

lead consultant at the end of each patient handover.

Review of older pts seen within time frame - why not 

treated within limits

Improved referral system i.e.don’t refer if awaiting Doppler etc. / 

education of nursing staff. Improved links and assessment tools 

used by AMU therapy team.

Improve integrated working between OT and PT – currently 

working in multi disciplinary style rather than intra disciplinary 

working. Chair exercise group bay by bay on the wards to 

increase the number of patients seen. Teaching to AMU 

therapists to increase compliance of using outcome measures, as 

this would decrease the need for reassessment on MOP wards.

Safe antibiotic prescribing Introduce the following tools to increase safety of antibiotic 

prescribing on the drug charts

• Documentation of Indication

• Documentation of start/stop dates

• Documentation of microbiology input/advice

Re-audit.

Introduction of Sugarmmadex Copy of audit report to be disseminated to anaesthetic 

department for feedback.

Re-design of audit data collection form.

Continue data collection and re-analyse.

Re-audit: Effectiveness of PN referral form Implementation of TPN referral form

Future re-audit

Compliance with completing microbiology record forms  

on GICU

Redesigning form, education of staff.
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Re-audit: Unscheduled radiotherapy gaps 1) To ensure all staff are appropriately trained in use of RTP 

2011–12.

2) When the treatment sheets are next reviewed to include 

the treatment category as part of the prescription. 

3) on the next revision the category on booking forms to 

be changed to recognised categories 1,2 and 3 from Cat 1, 

Routine etc.

Coagulation screening on acute surgical admissions. Introduce guidelines to trust. Staff education and increased 

awareness. Re-audit.

Re-audit  Interventional radiology preparation sheets Standardise forms

Adopt universal approach to incomplete forms

Adopt universal approach to consent

Medical occupational therapy referral forms Further training of ward sisters with aim to cascade training 

down to ward staff OT to provide posters and lanyard cards 

for ward sisters to hand out to new and existing ward staff

As above and implementation of agreed protocol to monitor 

patients for a week and if no improvement seen the patient 

will be discharged from OT and requested in the medical 

notes for the ward to re-refer if appropriate.

Re-audit: Standard of therapy notes within Wessex Neuro Centre Standards to be adhered to (applies to all listed issues)

Missed dose (thromboprophylaxis) Recommendations:

•  continue with current education via mandatory training for 

nurses and induction for medical staff

•  Encourage coding of missed doses and check if clexane given 

or not (to enable doses to be given later if appropriate)

• l ook at revising thromboprophylaxis policy to be more 

specific on timing of pre-op doses

•  agree actions to be taken to improve completion of risk 

assessment forms on admission, for example better use of 

forms initiated in pre assessment

Re-audit of pre - post op physio management of adults with 

lower limb amputation

Formalise documentation and audit notes at 6 months

Liaise with Vascular Nurse Practitioner

Liaise with local podiatry to check up on written information

Assess EMS.

Impact of pilot weekend service on physio for management 

and treatment of total knee replacement

Liaise with care group manager and knee consultants to share 

impact of op date on potential reduction in therapy provision- 

Patient education; inform patients pre-operatively via joint 

school re: reduced therapy provision to empower patients to 

lead recovery via ERP pathway and manage expectations. 

–  Inform all weekend staff of core standards and clinical guidelines 

– Feedback audit results to contextualise poor current adherence 

to standards – Encourage utilisation of crib sheet developed by 

JT to help prompt timely interventions at weekend

–  Meet with H@H manager to improve system of early 

supported discharges for TKR patients.

–  Continue to evaluate weekend physiotherapy service to 

monitor physiotherapy activity and productivity
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Failure rates of dynamic hip screw and intra-medulary 

nail fixations

Review practice of fracture treatment in future. 

Recommendations made to use more Gamma Nails in less 

stable #`s. NHFD data confirms we are using more than 

neighbouring hospitals.

Physio treatment with pneumonia pts against TS guidelines 

for spontaneously breathing pt

•  Flow chart to guide treatment for complicated versus 

uncomplicated pneumonia

•  Re-audit – adjust wording of standards to clarify the 

standards based on the knowledge gained about the 

caseload from the current audit  

•  Team teaching session – importance of mobility / hoisting 

out to chair 

•  Team discussion – ways to increase hoisting patients out 

when appropriate (medicine team and wider resp team)

•  Flow chart to guide treatment for complicated versus 

uncomplicated pneumonia – importance of advice for 

patient / MDT.  

•  Re-audit – adjust wording of standards to increase 

appropriateness to caseload Produce advice sheet for 

patients/carers

ENT system review of pts on first presentation of  

ear problems

Recommendations:

•  Documentation for patients with ear complaints needs to 

be improved.

•  The ENT department has frequent changeover of junior 

doctors and this audit was performed when relatively 

new doctors to ENT were seeing patients. The audit could 

be repeated near the end of the doctor’s rotation to see 

if documentation is better when the doctors have more 

experience.

•  The key points in a history for patients with ear problems 

and important documentation should be highlighted to 

new doctors at induction. 

•  A proforma could be created which would help to guide 

the assessing doctor in there history taking and recording of 

important negatives.

•  The audit should be repeated after a proforma is initiated 

and a larger sample of patients taken to try and capture a 

wider variety of diagnoses.

Re-audit: DNACPR forms for pts discharged from CMH Medical team will discuss all DNACPR unless documented 

reason not to.

All forms taken home will be documented on eDocs.

Acuity Practice Development Matron, will present findings.

Consultants to sign DNA CPR forms

DNACPR forms for pts discharged from CMH Patients will have their DNACPR status discussed on 

admission.

Medical team will plan to discuss the take home of the lilac 

form with all patients unless there is a documented reason 

not to.

All forms taken home will be documented on edocs

Consultants to sign DNA CPR forms

Multi site prescribing of breakthrough opioid analgesia Joint meeting of pain specialist to discuss protocols and education



66

University Hospital Southampton NHS Foundation Trust annual report and accounts 2011/12

Acute coronary syndrome pt satisfaction survey Recommendations

These audit results demonstrate that a very high quality 

service is being provided to STEMI patients at SUHT for a 

wide regional area.

It should be recognised that most of these patients will have 

undergone PPCI and therefore understand that this was life-

saving treatment, so outcomes will tend to be positive!

Future audit should also include the opinions of the broad 

group of ACS patients whose medical treatment is also 

measured by MINAP.

Pharmacy intervention & activity survey Compliance with the Medicines policy standard 4.15 – to 

promote safe, effective prescribing (see recommendations)

Annual quantitative survey of risk management activities

Annual qualitative survey of pharmacy interventions

To develop on an ongoing basis a variety of initiatives 

to improve policy compliance by education, guideline 

development, awareness and implementation, process 

redesign, policy and practice modification and update 

in order to reduce the risks of errors occurring in the 

prescribing, supply and administration of medicines. 

To escalate to the risk register any staff shortage that would 

impact on the management of this risk.

Safety & Effectiveness of epidural blood patches in benign 

intracranial hypotension

1) To have guidelines in place to ensure all the necessary 

investigations are done and patients are not starved for long 

periods. 2) Prospective on-going audit for epidural blood 

patches for benign intracranial hypotension.

Re-audit: Pt satisfaction As a result of the discussion of the audit findings at the 

Pain Clinic business meeting, written information about our 

injection service is to be given to patients as appropriate. 

Members of the pain team are to be responsible for telling 

outpatient nurses if they are running late and asking them to 

inform patients.

Outpatient clinic flow Recommendations

Multidisciplinary Focus group(s) to work on key issues - 

volunteers

Redesign clinic template

Split clinic template

Deployment of staff

Grading of patients

Once these changes have been decided on:

Implementation

Audit impact

Scraping of corneal ulcers Maintain and continue to improve standards; presentation to 

eye casualty staff; corneal scrape guidelines included in the 

departmental induction; recommend re-auditing to reassess 

standards after 6 months.

NICE CG 83 Re-audit to examine implementation of Modified 

Rivermead index

To do a further audit using a different outcome measure to 

make the information more sensitive.
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An audit to measure the compliance of therapy staff to falls 

guidelines with patients aged over 65 who are admitted to 

Trauma and Orthopaedics with a fall

Adjust therapy paperwork to include clear guidance on falls 

history and space to do this:

Liaise with falls team to ensure best practice and educate team

Contact falls lead to access written info and make available 

to team

Contact falls team to establish pathway and educate team

Create falls folder with all necessary info

Documentation of vaginal pack use Education of staff

Re-audit of the Use of Hibiscrub washes Clarify care group requirements for recording and cascade to 

ward staff

Spot checks to monitor compliance

Staff to ensure patients have own labelled bottles 

Bottles to be removed from showers and bathrooms

Wessex Blood and Marrow Transplant Clinical Coding 

Procedures re-audit Mar 12

Check with BMT CNS whether patients had DLI infusions 

whilst an in patient on C6L.

Check with clinical coding and amend coding practice as 

appropriate.

Monitor regularly to amend and continue to improve the 

quality of coding for BMT procedures.

Present prospective audit (regular monitoring) results each 

year (Feb QMP meeting). Include ECP procedures.

Management of new haemophiliacs •  Actions: To consider: Tick list proforma to ensure guidelines 

are adhered to; disseminate this to local centres where 

children with known haemophilia may be born

• Education of and liaison with obstetric colleagues

•  Copies of local haemophilia antenatal care plan to go to 

haemophilia centre

•  Education of staff involved in caring for possible NAI cases 

to ensure expedient blood tests if appropriate (i.e. excess 

bruising)

Re-audit of Standard of Therapy notes within the Wessex 

Neurological Centre

Education to therapists as to the importance of standard. 

E.g. therapists’ putting their bleep number on note entries 

allows members of the MDT to easily contact the therapist re: 

patient care. 

Education to therapists.

Category 1 Caesarean Sections Investigate the possibility of replacing all clocks on LW with 

radio-controlled ones

Surgeons to double check decision times (as well as first baby 

born and placenta out) with midwife before HICSS entry

Document decision time and indication for C/S.

Theme of the week

Exploring whether team communication could be 

incorporated into the CS checklist.     Repeat audit.

Central line sepsis on PICU Highlighted to ALL staff importance of this and ownership is 

combined not individual

Move checklists to trolley where central lines kept

Place lot stickers onto checklist and checklist into notes

Checklist into notes
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Re-audit: VTE prophylaxis in thoracic surgery patients Focused induction information should continue to be given at 

each local induction to Thoracic department. 

Future audits aim to improve other areas of VTE prevention 

(such as VTE re-assessments within 24 hours of admission) 

Encouragement of frontline medical staff to partake in 

service improvement audit projects (e.g. set up a forum for 

audit ideas in the Trust, audit competitions, set up events for 

juniors to share their audits with others, education on how to 

run a successful audit project.)

Outcome of management of obstetric cholestasis Familiarity with guideline.

Update guideline (RCOG recommendations).

GP/Community midwife dissemination for postnatal follow-up.

Neonatal Operational Policy Operational Policy audit presented 30/11/11. Action 1. 

Process for documentation of unexpected admissions to be 

re-definedas previous methodology of reviewing admissions 

book not satisfactory. Action 2: Process for recording 

attendance at PNMM meetings to be raised at Mat Services 

Committee.  Action 3: NNAP annual data to be discussed at 

NNU MDT meeting. Action 4: Agreed that neonatal nurses 

should attend M&M meetings, rather than PNMM meetings.

Neonatal attendance on Labour Ward Actions: Cascade reminders to midwives; Criteria for calling 

to be posted in LW rooms and in theatre; Re-audit. (Nov 

2011) see below in NNU Care audit, calls attended outside 

guideline now 42%.

Implementation of a clerking proforma for tonsil infection 

admissions

None needed on this second cycle of audit, first cycle introduced 

tonsil admissions pro forma to replace free-hand clerking.

Leg wound infections in the last one year following vein 

harvest for CABG

Received the following recommendation: There should 

be clearer documentation of positive culture results in the 

patient notes. Actions are to be confirmed.

Re-audit: IRMER procedures A, B, K and M Hold CRIS input update.

Speak to cardiac re increasing CRIS input.

Cardiac to hold own audit

Radiologist update given at consultants’ mtg 

Review wording and practice of IRMER audits at next review 

to ensure no conflict with any dept.

Effects of integrated therapy on orthopaedics against core 

standards

Redesign the therapy database template

Provide training on the new therapy database

Therapy team to document their notes using SOAP note format

Re-audit therapy notes pre and post introduction of the new 

therapy database

Re-audit radiographer autonomous reporting Allocate time to study ‘Keats’ atlas of normal variants to aim 

to reduce false positives.

Continue to undertake on-line CPD using the Norwich image 

interpretation modules

Investigate access for the SOR image interpretation training 

for further CPD.

Continue to report regularly.
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Research
The number of patients receiving NHS 
services provided or sub-contracted by 
University Hospital Southampton NHS 
Foundation Trust in 2011/2012 that were 
recruited during that period to participate 
in NIHR supported research approved by a 
research ethics committee was 14,489.

Our commitment to research 
as a driver for improving the 
quality of care and patient 
experience
Participation in clinical research 
demonstrates University Hospital 
Southampton NHS Foundation Trust’s 
commitment to improving the quality 
of care we offer and to making our 
contribution to wider health improvement. 
Our clinical staff stay abreast of the latest 
possible treatment possibilities and active 
participation in research leads to successful 
patient outcomes.

University Hospital Southampton 
NHS Foundation Trust was involved in 
conducting 285 NIHR supported clinical 
research studies in a broad spectrum of 
medical specialties during the 
2011/2012 year. 

There were over 1000 clinical staff 
participating in both National Institute 
for Health Research (NIHR) and non-NIHR 
supported research approved by a research 
ethics committee at University Hospital 
Southampton NHS Foundation Trust 
during 2011/2012.

Our goals agreed with the 
commissioners
A proportion of UHS income in 2011/12 
was conditional on achieving quality 
improvement and innovation goals agreed 
between the Trust and any person or body 
they entered into a contract, agreement or 
arrangement with for the provision of 
NHS services, through the Commissioning 
for Quality and Innovation (CQUIN) 
payment framework. 

The monetary total for the amount of 
income in 2011/12 conditional upon 
achieving quality improvement and 
innovation goals was £5.7 million and a 
monetary total for the associated payment 
in 2010/11 was £5.5 million. 

Further details of the agreed goals for 
2011/12 and for the following 12-month 
period are available at www.uhs.nhs.uk 

We have used the CQUIN framework 
to actively engage in and agree quality 
improvements working with our 
commissioners, to improve patient 
pathways across our local and wider health 
economy.  Reflecting our wide patient 
catchment area, we agreed two CQUIN 
programmes in operation. These were 
one standard contract CQUIN held jointly 
between all our PCT commissioners and 
one specialist services commissioning group 
CQUIN programme.

Young persons diabetes clinic – assessing views and 

preferences of pts

Regular communication with Paediatric team. Develop 

pathway for Dietitian use

Re audit at a bigger scale including both patients who attend 

and who DNA

Re-Audit on chest drain removal technique and outcomes Instruction leaflet for patient to read before chest drain 

removal
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Indicator source Standard Contract Specialist Commissioning Group 

National VENOUS THROMBOEMBOLISM:

Reduce avoidable death, disability and chronic ill health from 

Venous-thromboembolism (VTE)

VENOUS THROMBOEMBOLISM:

Reduce avoidable death, disability 

and chronic ill health from Venous-

thromboembolism (VTE)

PATIENT EXPERIENCE - PERSONAL NEEDS:

Improve responsiveness to personal needs of patients

PATIENT EXPERIENCE - PERSONAL 

NEEDS:

Improve responsiveness to personal 

needs of patients

Strategic Health 

Authority

GATEWAY:

Achievement of National Quality Indicators

Local HEALTHCARE ASSOCIATED INFECTION - URINARY 

CATHETERS:

To reduce the number of patients having an inappropriate 

indwelling urinary catheter inserted during their hospital stay.

IMPROVE BMT OUTCOMES (adult 100 

day survival rate)

INCREASE THE NUMBER OF PEOPLE WHO ARE ABLE TO DIE 

IN A PLACE OF THEIR CHOICE:

Ensure people at the end of their life are able to die in a place 

of their choice.

IMPROVE CARDIAC OUTCOMES:

Readmissions to PICU following cardiac 

surgery <10%;

Mortality at 30 days post cardiac 

surgery <4%

ENSURE PATIENTS RECEIVE CARE IN THE MOST APPROPRIATE 

PLACE: Treating patients in the most appropriate setting 

(minimising DTC and avoidable admissions and A/E 

attendance)

NUMBER OF NEONATAL SERIOUS 

UNTOWARD INCIDENTS

TO SUPPORT THE REDUCTION IN INCREASING/HIGHER RISK 

DRINKING AMONGST PATIENTS ATTENDING AT ED : To sup-

port the reduction in increasing/ higher risk drinking amongst 

patients attending hospital at ED.

UHS; Our CQUIN priorities for 2011/12

The CQUIN targets set were challenging, however we have made significant progress. These areas remain 
part of our improvement focus for 2012/13.
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UHS is required to register with the Care 
Quality Commission and its current registration 
status for locations and services is as below.  

Regulated activity: Surgical procedures
Provider conditions: This regulated 
activity may only be carried on at the 
following locations:
•  Princess Anne Hospital, Coxford Road, 

Southampton, SO16 5YA
•  Southampton General Hospital, Tremona 

Road, Southampton, SO16 6YD
 
Regulated activity: Treatment of 
disease, disorder or injury
Provider conditions: This regulated activity 
may only be carried on at the following 
locations:
•  Countess Mountbatten House, 

Moorgreen Hospital, Botley Road, West 
End, Southampton, SO23 3JB

•  Princess Anne Hospital, Coxford Road, 
Southampton, SO16 5YA

•  Royal South Hants Hospital, Brintons 
Terrace, Southampton, SO14 0YG

•  Southampton General Hospital, Tremona 
Road, Southampton, SO16 6YD

 
Regulated activity: Maternity and 
midwifery services
Provider conditions: This regulated activity 
may only be carried on at the following 
locations:
•  New Forest Birth Centre, Ashurst 

Hospital, Lyndhurst Road, Ashurst, 
Southampton, SO40 7AR

•  Princess Anne Hospital, Coxford Road, 
Southampton, SO16 5YA

 
Regulated activity: Diagnostic and 
screening services
Provider conditions: This regulated activity 
may only be carried on at the following 
locations:
•  Countess Mountbatten House, 

Moorgreen Hospital, Botley Road, West 
End, Southampton, SO23 3JB

•  Princess Anne Hospital, Coxford Road, 
Southampton, SO16 5YA

•  Royal South Hants Hospital, Brintons 
Terrace, Southampton, SO14 0YG

•  Southampton General Hospital, Tremona 
Road, Southampton, SO16 6YD

•  New Forest Birth Centre, Ashurst 
Hospital, Lyndhurst Road, Ashurst, 
Southampton, SO40 7AR

 
Regulated activity: Transport 
services, triage and medical advice 
provided remotely
Provider conditions: This regulated activity 
may only be carried on at the following 
locations:
•  Princess Anne Hospital, Coxford Road, 

Southampton, SO16 5YA
•  Southampton General Hospital, Tremona 

Road, Southampton, SO16 6YD
 
Regulated activity: Assessment or 
medical treatment for persons detained 
under the 1983 (Mental Health) Act
Provider conditions: This regulated activity 
may only be carried on at the following 
locations:
•  Countess Mountbatten House, 

Moorgreen Hospital, Botley Road, West 
End, Southampton, SO23 3JB

•  Princess Anne Hospital, Coxford Road, 
Southampton, SO16 5YA

•  Southampton General Hospital, Tremona 
Road, Southampton, SO16 6YD

 
University Hospital Southampton NHS 
Foundation Trust has no conditions on 
registration.

The Care Quality Commission has not 
taken enforcement action against University 
Hospital Southampton NHS Foundation 
Trust during 2011/12.

University Hospital Southampton NHS 
Foundation Trust is not currently subject to 
periodic reviews by the CQC.

Statements from 
the Care Quality 
Commission:

What others say about University Hospital 
Southampton NHS Foundation Trust
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University Hospital Southampton NHS 
Foundation Trust has not participated in 
any special reviews or investigations by the 
CQC during the reporting period. The Trust 
did however contribute to the national 
Medicines Security audit undertaken by 
CQC in March 2012.

The Care Quality Commission undertook 
a responsive review of compliance at the 
Southampton General Hospital site in February 
and March 2012 and the hospital was found 
to be compliant with four of the five outcomes 
of the core Essential Standards of Quality and 
Safety reviewed. However the CQC found 
minor concerns with outcome 9 relating to the 
storage of medicines. The Trust had already 
identified issues relating to medicine storage 
and was addressing via an action plan which 
was further enhanced after the CQC visit.

Our data quality
University Hospital Southampton NHS 
Foundation Trustsubmitted records 
between April 2011 and March 2012 to 
the NHS-wide Secondary Uses Service for 
inclusion in Hospital Episode Statistics. As at 
January 2012 (latest reporting month) the 
percentage of records in the published data:

— which included the patient’s valid NHS 
number was:
97 % for admitted patient care;
97.9 % for out patient care; and
91.9 % for accident and emergency care.

— which included a valid General Medical 
Practice Code was:
100% for admitted patient care;
99.9% for out patient care; and
100% for accident and emergency care.

Our scores were close to national 
achievement (NHS Number) or above reported 
national levels (Practice Code) for data quality.

The Information Quality and Records 
Management attainment levels assessed 
within the Information Governance Toolkit 
provide an overall measure of the quality 
of data systems, standards and processes 
within an organisation.

University Hospital Southampton NHS 
Foundation TrustInformation Governance 
Assessment Report overall score assessed 
in March 2012 was 71% and was graded 
Green (Satisfactory). 

in 2011 The Trust achieved level 3 
accreditation against the NHS Litigation 
Authority risk management standards for 
Acute Trusts which contains two standards 
specific to records management and 
record keeping.

UHS recognises that good quality health 
services depend on the provision of high 
quality information. Continuing the work 
undertaken in 2010/11, UHS took the 
following actions to improve data quality:

•  Performance management of data quality 
via Trust and Divisional meetings, the 
Clinical Coding function, and the corporate 
Information Quality Assurance Team. These 
groups used key performance indicators 
on internal and external timeliness, validity 
and completion of patient data, including 
Dr Foster comparative analysis information. 
Areas of poor performance are identified, 
investigated and plans agreed for 
improvement.

•  Continued work to reduce data quality 
problems at the point of data entry 
through improved system design, 
changes to software, and delivery of new 
computer functionality. 

•  Working towards delivering real time 
admission, discharge and transfer 
recording across more ward areas, 
thereby supporting improved patient 
tracking and bed management. 

•  Supporting ongoing development of 
training and education programmes for all 
staff involved in data collection, including 
Information Governance training and the 
provision of information guidance.

•  Maintaining a programme of regular 
internal audit, including data quality, 
health records management, information 
governance and clinical coding audit.
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•  Continued to maintain and develop 
improved compliance with the 
Information Governance Toolkit standards.

UHS was not subject to the payment by 
results clinical coding audit by the Audit 
Commission during the reporting period.

Patient feedback 
We use a wide range of ways to ensure 
our patients and visitors are able to give us 
feedback on the care we provide. We have 
used this range to inform the priorities we 
have set ourselves for quality. We see this 
area as very important and plan to further 
develop, this year.

Complaints 
With over 400,000 patients seen a year, 
our complaint rate is very low at 0.5% but 
we take all our feedback very seriously. We 
have continued to improve our completion 
time to complainants in the agreed 
timescales and were over 90% by the end 
of this year (to date- January). 

Annual trends in 
complaints received
A four year summary of UHS complaint 
numbers received by month is illustrated in 
the graph below. This demonstrates an overall 
consistency in annual numbers of complaints 
and evidence of seasonal trends.

Top themes of primary 
complaints 
Each complaint may identify a number of 
themes and therefore the number of themes and 
number of complaints will not be the same.

UHS annual comparison of complaints recieved by month
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Learning from complaints 
We review and share complaints received to 
ensure that we learn from them Trust wide. 

Some of the examples that were shared 
through our regular patient experience 
report are included below. 

Other routes that patients and visitors are 
able to use to feed back to us include our 
website, email, comment cards, enquiries 
through our patient support service/PALS 

and the NHS Choices website. The top 
themes in 2011/12 emerging from our 
comment cards were:  

Please visit our website www.uhs.nhs.uk. 
Here you will find useful further 
information, including:

Clinical effectiveness blog (website 
www.uhs.nhs.uk), explaining some of our 
clinical developments in more detail

Annual reports explain how we link 
our broader financial responsibilities to 
providing quality patient care

The Statement of Internal control/
Annual Governance Statement, 
explaining how our audit and assurance 
processes are arranged.

In addition, the following section includes a 
summary of our key performance progress 
and some examples of the work our teams 
are engaged in that supports our Trust 
priorities for quality.

Complaint summary Divisional/organisational learning

District nurse not aware that patient had been 

transferred home 

Follow up district nurse referrals with phone call

Management of terminal illness; delay in investigation/

treatment 

Review of key worker policy; 

Lack of knowledge re specific disability and the type of 

assistance & support required  

Use of ‘This is Me’ booklet, completed by the family and kept 

on the ward and in the notes to prepare staff

Standard of lighting & call bell system Call bell system upgrade scheduled

Staff attitude Customer care training in place

Lack of intra-operative information to relative;  Improvements to be made to patient admission pathway

Month No. Top 5 themes

Praise Delays/
waiting times

Food Communication Attitude of staff

Aug 2011 – 

Jan 2012

303 158 36 18 22 7
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Here at UHS we are 
proud to provide 
comprehensive 
services to our local 
population and 
specialist services 
to the wider 
region, from birth 
throughout life, and 
from secondary to 
tertiary care. As a 
centre of academic 
excellence our 
teams provide 
cutting edge care, 
lead by experts at all 
levels of need.

About our local services

Ophthalmology
As part of a ‘delivering excellence 
in surgery’, Southampton eye unit 
continuously monitors the quality of 
cataract surgery. An important marker of 
good quality is a low rate of a complication 
called ‘posterior capsule rupture’. The 
posterior capsule is a fine membrane in the 
eye, which is important for positioning a 
new lens after cataract surgery. UK cataract 
surgeons have been monitoring this and 
accept it as a quality benchmark, the UK 
average rate is 1.92% - so that’s about 19 
patients out of every 1000 treated develop 
the complication. Southampton’s rate for 
2011 was 1.34% - just over 13 patients for 
every 1000 treated; significantly better than 
the national rate, despite the fact that we 
operate on some of the most complex cases 
in the area. In addition ophthalmology at 
UHS is at the forefront of leading research 
for delivery of care in medical retinopathy. 

Interventional radiology
This is a key service which supports a cross 
section of the Trusts work and is provided 
across the 24 hour period 7 days a week. 
There are a limited number of trust’s across 
the south of the country that support this 
level of service and it was vital to support 
UHS becoming a major trauma centre. 

Respiratory services
The respiratory centre recently won the 
Acute and Primary Care Innovation Award 
from the Health Service Journal (HSJ) 
for the work undertaken with patients 
who have chronic obstructive pulmonary 
disease (COPD). This project looked at the 
number of admissions and readmissions of 
patients due to their disease and then used 
the outcome of this to look at innovative 
ways to reduce these. They have achieved 
a 19% reduction in hospital admissions, 
and reduced readmissions within 30 days, 
from 13% to 1.7%. This has been done 
by patients being reviewed at homes by 

specialist nurses and consultants and 
advising on appropriate care. This work 
has saved the local healthcare economy 
£300,000 in the treatment of COPD over 
the past 12 months.  

Diabetes
During November 11 – January 12 the 
diabetes team reviewed all patients with a 
diagnosis of diabetes admitted in division 
D. Actions taken as a result of the reviews 
included optimising blood glucose control, 
intercepting and correcting dangerous drug 
errors and reducing inappropriate over 
testing of blood glucose levels.

Review of the data for these patients has 
revealed a number of benefits arising from 
the intervention by the diabetes team 
which include:

•  Reduction in average length of stay 
(ALOS) compared to the same period 
in previous year (although this needs to 
be viewed alongside other initiatives in 
division D that have reduced bed days 
over the past year)  

•  Reduction in readmission rates
•  Reduction in number of glucose testing 

strips used
•  Nursing time saved from reduction in 

glucose testing
•  Increased staff satisfaction
•  Increased patient satisfaction

The diabetes team have also developed a 
smartphone App for diabetes which is being 
well received by patients and clinicians.

Emergency care
We all expect high quality, expert care in 
an emergency. This year we have been 
designated as a major trauma c University 
Hospital Southampton NHS Foundation 
Trust entre recognising the quality and range 
of services we can provide. It is recognised 
that quick access to such a service 
dramatically increases the chance of survival 
and functional outcome in such a crisis. 

Further information about our services
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The most visible sign of this is the regular 
arrival of the helicopter ambulance bringing 
critically ill patients to our front door 
which began service with us on 17th 
November 2011.

The investments that underpin our ability 
and the reason for UHS to be designated as 
a major trauma centre have been ongoing 
for some years. The improved outcomes 
result from the dedicated expert teams and 
specialist equipment and expertise. 

We provide excellent services for medical 
emergencies. UHS is a heart Attack and 
Stroke Centre. Cardiologists provide acute 
angioplasty as a primary therapy 24 hours a 
day, and 7 days a week. 

We also have a 24/7 thrombolysis service 
for stroke, which is integrated with a 
multidisciplinary care team. We offer 
intra arterial thrombectomy neurosurgery 
if required.

Acute medicine
We have expert leaders in the provision of 
acute care. We lead the development of 
pathways of care many of which are being 
adopted nationally as examples of best 
practice. This local leadership and initiative 
is recognised and the past and current 
national lead in emergency medicine, the 
current presidents of cardiology and of 
acute medicine all come from UHS.

Women and children
We will continue to develop and expand 
the Children services and will be rebranding 
as Southampton’s Children Hospital in 
2012. This will be an eight to ten year 
project involving new construction as well 
as upgrades to exciting facilities.

We are a centre of excellence for local 
maternity care, providing a comprehensive 
service, including home birth, for about 
5,000 women each year from around 
Southampton. 

We are also a regional centre for fetal and 
maternal medicine, providing specialist care 
for women with medical problems during 

pregnancy, and for those whose baby needs 
extra care before or around birth. 

Research
UHS focuses on translational research, 
“from bench to bedside”. The department 
of respiratory medicine is internationally 
renowned for its expertise in airways 
disease, inflammation and infection. 
Southampton is home to two Biomedical 
Research Units (BRUs): Both are 
partnerships between UHS, the University 
of Southampton Faculty of Medicine and 
the National Institute for Health Research 
(NIHR), which provides funding. 

The nutrition, diet and lifestyle centre is a 
global leader in improving nutrition, diet and 
lifestyle amongst patients and society through 
the translation of experimental research 
into effective clinical, policy and community 
interventions. It is the only NIHR Biomedical 
Research Centre in this field, Looking at 
the impact of food and lifestyle on people’s 
health from conception through to old age 
(the ‘lifecourse’ concept) is at the heart of 
the Centre’s approach to improving patient 
outcomes and tackling the surge in conditions 
like heart disease, type-two diabetes and 
obesity. Current work covers the range from 
dietary interventions at conception, through 
understanding dietary epigenetic impacts 
(biological influences on how genes behave) 
on foetal development and improving acute 
neonate nutrition care, to the adolescent 
health literacy project ‘Lifelab’ and studies 
aimed at understanding and empowering 
dietary choice amongst elderly people. 

The respiratory unit is an internationally 
recognised leader in improving prevention, 
diagnosis and treatment of respiratory 
problems arising from inflammation, injury 
and allergic reactions. This standing was 
reflected in the renewal of its Biomedical 
Research Unit status and a funding award 
of £7.3M by the NIHR in August 2011. 
Pioneers in understanding the role of 
allergens and physical changes to children’s’ 
airways in asthma, the Unit is utilising 
shared expertise in the lifecourse approach 
to further understanding of early-life 
respiratory disease development. As well as 
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research aimed at slowing progression and 
better controlling airway diseases , the Unit 
continues to lead in developing personalised 
approaches to diagnosis and medication 
of respiratory conditions, particularly acute 
injury in and adults and children. 

Surgical and specialist services

Neurosurgery
Neurosurgery in Southampton covers all 
major sub-specialist disciplines, including 
neuro-oncology, skull base surgery, 
neurovascular surgery, functional and 
epilepsy surgery, complex spinal surgery 
and paediatrics. We have very highly 
developed sub-specialist teams to maximise 
efficiency and optimise outcomes. We 
have a focus on minimally invasive 
surgery with novel biopsy techniques, 
endoscopy and minimally invasive spinal 
surgery. Consequently, peer review has 
demonstrated:

• one of the lowest lengths of stay for 
elective and urgent neurosurgical cases in 
the UK 

• we were the first unit in the country 
to introduce day-case surgery for brain 
tumours - a concept now being utilised 
more widely across the NHS 

• our case volumes of awake surgery are 
the highest in the UK

• day case neurosurgery for brain 
tumours was introduced to the UK in 
Southampton

• we are the only unit in the UK routinely 
performing brain biopsies as  day cases 

• we are the only unit in the UK to have 
performed awake brain surgery live on 
national TV!

• audited results for epilepsy surgery are 
amongst the best internationally. 

We are shortly introducing a more complete 
functional neurosurgery service with deep 
brain stimulation for movement disorders.

Neurosurgery (Basal Skull) 
Endoscopic endonasal skull base surgery 
started at UHS about 3 years ago. The 
surgeons were trained by Pittsburgh 
surgeons in Orlando. It involves accessing 

central skull base lesions through the 
nose using an endoscope as the sole 
visualizing tool. The previous approach 
was through the front of the skull causing 
major bone and soft tissue damage and 
prolonged requirement for healing.It 
requires a combination of rhinology and 
microneurosurgery skills. We are one of 
very few departments in the country to 
have developed this type of surgery. So 
far we have done about 159 cases, 96 of 
them are pituitary tumours and the rest 
are non-pituitary cases such as skull base 
tumours, CSF leaks and encephaloceles. Of 
these non-pituitary cases, in about 50% 
of cases we have been able to use this 
endoscopic approach as an alternative to 
major craniotomy or cranio-facial resection. 
This has reduced the patients’ morbidity 
and hospital stay considerably. 

We have audited our results to show 
that these techniques are safe. We have 
also demonstrated that our team has 
overcome its learning curve by reducing the 
complication rate to minimal. Endoscopic 
skull base surgery has great potential and 
other neurosurgical departments in the UK 
are now following our lead

Hand surgery 
Our major caseload is trauma and 
reconstruction of the hand, wrist and 
elbow. Over the past few years, we have 
introduced a wide range of specialised hand 
surgery practice. This includes ulnar head 
replacement, wrist replacement, elbow 
replacement and various techniques for 
reconstructing complicated problems. 

Our hospital is unusual because the two 
hand surgeons, supported by an associate 
specialist and fellow, run a specific hand-
wrist-elbow practice. Based on this we 
receive referrals for not just our own 
area but also from other hospitals in this 
region and, indeed, hospitals from other 
regions. In the near future, we are planning 
to introduce total distal radial ulna joint 
replacement which will hopefully make us a 
reference centre for that procedure. 

Our hospital has the largest series of 
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ulnar head replacements, presently under 
consideration for publication. Our Hand 
Surgery Unit, in association with the 
excellent department of anaesthesia, has 
developed a very successful awake surgery 
service which has greatly enhanced our day 
case rates and patient experience. 

Hepatobiliary and pancreatic surgery
The hepatobiliary surgical team provide 
tertiary services to patients in Dorset, 
Hampshire and the Channel Islands. The 
majority of the caseload comprises of liver 
and pancreatic resection for cancer. Patients 
are also referred for surgery when they have 
suffered complications of acute and chronic 
pancreatitis, which adds to the complexity 
of the caseload. Last year 247 major 
hepatobiliary procedures were performed.

Laparoscopic liver surgery is now a common 
practice in Southampton with about 
half of liver resections being completed 
laparoscopically. This work is pioneering in 
the UK and there are few centres worldwide, 
with more experience in these techniques. 

UHS performed:
• the first laparoscopic right 

hemihepatectomy in the UK
• the first laparoscopic 

hemipancreatectomy in the UK
• has the largest series of laparoscoic liver 

resections in the UK and third in the world
• has a specialist area of expertise in neuro-

endocrine tumours 
• has a substantial body of published work 

in international high impact journals.

Length of stay for these patients has 
been reducing consistently and we have 
discharged patients home on day one post 
laparoscopic liver resection surgery. An 
enhanced recovery programme is about 
to be launched for patients undergoing 
Whipples procedure, with the aim of 
reducing hospital stay. The European 
Pancreatic Club is meeting in Southampton 
in 2014. This is a major academic meeting 
that will further boost the profile of the 
pancreatic service.

Oesophagogastic / duodenal surgery
We have developed minimally invasive 
oesophagectomy over the last few years. We 
have just had a paper accepted in Diseases of 
the Oesophagus where we have compared 
53 MIO with intra-thoracic anastomosis 
with 53 open Ivor-Lewis operations. This is 
the first true comparison of its kind in the 
world literature. It shows that MIO is without 
detriment in terms of morbidity, mortality 
and medium term survival.

The national OG audit (2010 – 3803 cases) 
showed that UHS had a major morbidity 
rate of 17.9% compared to national average 
of 29.8%, and a mortality rate of 2.29% 
compared to a national average of 5.1%.

ENT
The Sphenopalatine artery is the major 
artery supplying the nose. By tying it off, 
we stop patients with severe nose bleeds 
needing to have their noses packed, which 
is uncomfortable and may not resolve 
the problem. We use a new endoscopic 
technique which shortens length of stay. 

We undertake “state of the art” surgery 
for complex frontal sinus disease - polyps, 
tumours (osteomas), mucoeles (abscesses), 
etc using an image guidance system to 
access the frontal sinuses. This surgery is 
only performed by a handful of surgeons 
in the UK and 3 of them work for UHS.  
Previously surgery involved a bicoronal flap, 
osteotomies and removing the frontal bone 
to approach the frontal sinuses.

Pain relief in fractured hips, and 
shoulder surgery
We have recently started putting in a fascia 
iliaca catheter (a catheter is a small plastic 
tube through which we can infuse local 
anaesthetic) into some of our fractured 
hip patients. This relatively painless and 
extremely safe procedure can significantly 
decrease the pain both before they go 
to theatre and once they have had their 
operation.
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We are also shortly to start putting catheters 
around the interscalene nerves (nerves in 
the neck that supply the shoulder) so that 
patients having certain shoulder operations 
can benefit from longer lasting excellent 
pain relief than they would have got from 
the normal single shot injection which 
cannot be topped up once it has worn off. 
These catheters are going to be attached to 
specially designed disposable pumps which 
the patients will be able to go home with, so 
providing them with excellent pain relief for 
the first few days after shoulder surgery.  

Conclusion
We are proud of the advances we have 
made in the quality of services we provide. 
However we are not complacent and know 
that we are still on a journey to achieve 
excellence in all areas. 

The Quality Report enables us to qualify 
our progress comprehensively and agree 
the priorities for 2012/13. Future reports 
will therefore present a quantitative delivery 
against a forecast.

We see this as an essential vehicle for us to 
work closely with our Members’ Council, 
our commissioners and the local and 
wider community on our future quality 
agenda as well as celebrating our successes 
and progress. Working with all our key 
stakeholders including patients we are 
determined to continue improving to achieve 
high quality performance in all services. 

As part of our annual quality review we 
will be producing a summary leaflet of our 
progress and new quality priorities, this will 
also include patient stories.
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This section will 
include the formal 
feedback on our 
Quality Report from:

•  our lead 
commissioners- 
NHS Southampton 
City

•  our lead LINKs- 
Southampton

•  the Overview 
and Scrutiny 
committee for 
Southampton

•  our Members’ 
Council.

UHS Members Council final statement

Thank you for sending me the quality report draft. I think this is an improvement on 
last year and can see that feedback has influenced this years report. I found it easy to 
read and the key themes link clearly.

My further comments are:

It might be useful to state the emerging Clinical Commissioning Groups as a key 
stakeholder as they have been very involved in agreeing priorities for next year 

Top Priorities 2012/13. Priority 4 would suggest that communication with patients is 
more than letters to G.Ps. Perhaps this needs expanding a bit. As it is I don’t think is 
very clear.

Patient Improvement Framework 2012/13 page11.
Should Improving Diabetes Care be under Patient Clinical Outcomes rather than 
Patient Safety? Or both.

Would like to have seen a bit more about rehabilitation in Stroke services.

Waiting times are a big issue for the public so I do hope this will continue to be a 
major priority. Once they slip even marginally it is very difficult to retrieve. 

Finally maybe to include in the section about the Hospital at Night to state that priority 
areas are those with most demand in order to improve patient flow.

Margaret Wheatcroft: 
Members Council, 
Patient Experience Group

22 May 2012

Annex – statements from primary care 
trusts, local involvement networks and 
overview and scrutiny committees
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SHIP Statement on UHS 2011/12 Quality Report

Southampton, Hampshire, Isle of Wight and Portsmouth PCTs Cluster (in conjunction with their 
Clinical Commissioning Groups) statement to University Hospitals Southampton Foundation Trust 
2011/12 Quality Report

The SHIP PCTs Cluster and the Clinical Commissioning Groups welcomed the opportunity to participate in the 
governance “sign-off” process and provide a statement in response to the Quality Reportt shared by UHS.  The 
review concluded that:

•  The Quality Report provides information across the domains of quality. These are Patient Safety, Patient 
Experience and Clinical Effectiveness (patient outcomes).

•  Lead and associate commissioners are satisfied that the Quality Report incorporates all the mandated 
elements required.

•  There is evidence, within the Quality Report, that University Hospital Southampton NHS Foundation Trust 
has utilised both internal and external assurance mechanisms.

•  Commissioners are satisfied with the accuracy of the data contained in the Quality Account.ome elements 
are not possible to comment on due to the variation in reporting mechanisms.

The report identifies significant progress in relation to:

•  Reduction of hospital acquired pressure ulcers graded 3 or 4 (most serious) and also reduction in those 
which are grade 2.

•  Further reduction in Methicillin-resistant staphylococcus aureus (MRSA) bacteriamia from in 2011/12; and in 
Clostridium difficile (C.diff) which places the Trust as a top performer in the country.

•  Risk Management – achievement of National Health Service Litigation Authority level 3 assessments.
•  Improved Patient Safety by achieving patient assessment and treatment of venous thromboembolism (VTE) 

for over 90% of all patients.
•  The Trust remains an above average NHS employer as a place to work and 68% of staff responded that they 

agreed or strongly agreed to the question “if a friend or relative needed treatment, I would be happy with 
the standard of care provided by this Trust.”

Whilst recognising areas for further improvement, such as:

• Improve patients’ feedback on quality of food, nutrition and hydration.  Nutrition/food remains a high 
profile patient and public concern.

• Improve communication with the patients by reducing complaints further where the primary and secondary 
cause is poor verbal communication and information provided to patients.

• Improve patients experience by achieving national targets relating to 4 hour A&E waits and 18 weeks 
Referral to Treatment.

Also, following several outbreaks of Norovirus at the Trust in late winter/spring, commissioners have reviewed 
the investigation and learning by the Trust.  The Trust continues to operate at high levels of activity and it will 
be important to the system to collectively maintain efforts to avoid any adverse impact on quality and safety at 
these times.

Overall SHIP PCTs cluster (in conjunction with the CCGs) and associate commissioners are satisfied that the 
plans detailed in the UHS Quality Report will maintain and further improve the quality services delivery to the 
patients and public it serves.

Debbie Fleming
Chief Executive
SHIP PCTs Cluster
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SHIP response to the UHS 2011/12 Quality Report

Southampton, Hampshire, Isle of Wight and Portsmouth PCTs Cluster (in conjunction with their Clinical 
Commissioning Groups) welcome the opportunity to participate in the governance “sign-off” process and 
provide a statement in response to the Quality Report shared by UHS. The Cluster and the CCGs have reviewed 
UHS Quality Report based on the DH approved framework. 

Please see below our collective comments:

Page Comment

General • There is evidence that UHS has relied on both internal and external assurance mechanisms to review 

progress against the priorities it set out in 2010/11 Quality Report.

• The Quality Report provides information across the three domains of quality (Patient Safety, Patient 

Experience and Clinical Effectiveness) and the national mandated elements of a Quality Report are covered.

• The report reflects many of the discussions held with UHS and in particular at our Clinical Quality Review 

Meetings.

• It is pleasing to note that the account placed appropriate emphasis on patient experience and has chosen 

to continue to drive up quality in some areas where significant progress have been made in prevention 

and management of pressure ulcers.

• The Trust may wish to be consistent in the use of its name “UHS” or “SUHT” to ensure that the public are 

not confused. It may be equally helpful to explain the change of name early in the document.

• The Trust did not mention the Norovirus challenge in-year and the actions being implemented to reduce 

the events in the future.  Generally the Trust may wish to mention other challenges in-year e.g. Fractured 

Neck of Femur and % of patients operated on within 36 hours and the actions implemented to achieve 

this target at year-end.

• The Trust demonstrated the improvements that were made with the implementation of 2011/12 national 

Commissioning for Quality Incentive Schemes (CQUINs) but not the local CQUINs.

5 Our model of delivering these improvement priorities in through….” . 

Please delete “in”.

• “The 2011/12 quality report shared the process with you…”. 

Please change “quality report” to “quality account”.

18 Patient Safety :Priority 1: Preventing blood clots

• More information could be provided on the finding of the root cause analysis which found that all 

hospital related VTE are found to be unavoidable

19 Priority 2: Reducing the incidence of pressure ulcers

• Brief explanation of what “Turnaround process” means could be included.

21 Patient Experience: Priority 4: Nutrition and Hydration

What the control chart (Q16b) is illustrating may not be clear to the public.

22 Complaints

• Brief definition of level 2 and level 3 communication complaints may be useful.

Clinical Incidents

• A lot of work has been undertaken in learning from serious incidents requiring investigation (SIRIs) and 

Never Events but this has not been included in the report. 

• Narrative about the events, lessons learnt and organisational changes could be helpful. 

28-31 • Audits needs to include outcomes.

34-35 • We know you receive really positive comments from service users and it is a shame that some of 

these have not been included in the Quality Report as patient stories as this can be a really powerful 

mechanism.
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Southampton LINk response to the 2011/12 Quality Report 

Southampton LINk is pleased to comment on the quality account of the Trust this year. Our overall impression is 
that it gives good coverage of the trust’s services and as far as we can judge there are no significant omissions.  
In an obvious effort to ensure that the priorities of the Trust reflect the need of the population, the relationship 
between the trust and Southampton LINk has further strengthened during the year under review with efforts 
made by the trust to involve the LINk on a number of issues. This has included a special meeting of the Steering 
Group of LINk with the CEO and several directors of the Trust; a process that we wish to see continue.

Southampton LINk was involved in reviewing several of the risk management standards and we are pleased that 
the Trust has been accredited at NHSLA level 3.

Our engagement with a number of staff this year at all levels and over a wide range of roles has indicated a 
genuine desire on their part to improve patient satisfaction. It is our observation that, in general, staff morale is 
high and this seems to be reflected in the employee satisfaction rating.

Naturally we support all the plans to improve patient safety and think that the priorities listed are correct. We 
welcome the emphasis on VTE prevention and the fall in the number of pressure ulcers. Enhancing the quality of 
life for patients with long term conditions is an important objective; we are pleased to support the diabetic foot 
care initiate recently introduced and hope it results in a significant reduction in amputations.

We support the Priorities for Patient Experience for 2012/13. The Trust is correct that food is a high profile 
patient and public concern and is right to set this as a priority. We are pleased to report that we receive far fewer 
adverse comments that previously concerning food and a recent non-representative survey produced several 
complimentary comments about the improvement. Communication remains a major concern for patients and we 
will continue to work with the Trust on this important issue including communication with relatives of patients.  
We are pleased to see issues of equality being addressed: Southampton LINk has a nominated group working 
on this issue that will work with the equality lead and monitor progress. The whole area about the care of older 
people has been high media profile recently and The Trust has been open in its approach and is right to seek 
further improvement. The DH focus on the delivery of basic care reflects the generality of comments received by 
the LINk and we are pleased that the Trust has involved us in understanding the issues and developing its plans 
for individual ward accreditation. 

The four National performance targets on cancer waits, stroke pathway, ED waits and the 18 week pathway are 
important and it is essential that the Trust seeks to achieve and maintain these targets as a minimum.   

Of necessity, the quality account of a major NHS provider is a long and complex document containing a number 
of mandatory statements. Nevertheless we are content that the Trust has made a good attempt to ensure that 
it is clearly presented and understandable to the patients and public. It is logically sequenced and having the 
glossary is helpful. We also welcome the statement from the Chief Executive that the Trust intends to produce a 
summary document. Producing information for the public about the work of the hospital is an essential part of 
the confidence building that is important in the modern NHS. Southampton LINK will continue to cooperate with 
the Trust in its role as a ‘critical friend ‘ 

Harry Dymond
Chairman, 
Southampton LINk
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As an organisation 
we are committed 
to ensuring we 
deliver person-
centred care 
and services. 
We actively seek 
patient feedback 
and really listen 
to the details of 
patient’s time spent 
in our wards and 
departments. This 
helps us to prioritise 
our improvement 
programmes and 
makes sure we 
are working on 
developing in the 
areas that will really 
make a difference 
to patients.

The following is a summary of some of 
the progress we have made in 2011/12 to 
improve patient experiences; an area where 
we have made real progress in achieving 
improvements. We are not satisfied that 
everything is perfect yet, but this end of 
year summary indicates we are definitely 
heading in the right direction. 
 

Highlights
• Patients have continued to express overall 

high levels of satisfaction with their care. 
On average 96% of patients in 2011/12 
rated their care as good, very good or 
excellent (98% in March 2012).

• On average 94% of patients would 
recommend our hospital to family and 
friends (In March 2012 80% said yes 
definitely and 16% said yes probably). 

• 92% of patients state they are always 
treated with privacy and dignity overall. 

Involving patients and the 
public in their care
In 2011/12 we launched a new patient and 
public involvement strategy, setting out our 
aims to ensure high quality engagement 
and involvement in the monitoring delivery 
and evaluation of all our services. Some of 
the steps we have taken to delivering this 
strategy include: 

• Ensuring wide representation from our 
member’s council and LINKs groups at a 
range of groups and events. 

• Supporting the establishment of local 
patient panels. 

• Involving members of the public 
and patients in auditing our clinical 
environments (PEAT).

• Jointly auditing the information we 
provide to carers and then working with 
Carer’s together to provide a Carer’s 

information trolley. 

• Holding a summit for patients with 
learning disabilities, their relatives and 
carers, in order to find out the things we 
got right in their care and the things they 
would like us to improve. 

• Holding a listening event for current 
patients attending clinics and outpatient 
departments. This is helping us to set 
clear expectations and standards for the 
“Perfect Outpatient Experience.” 

• Attending a variety of community 
engagement events such as our local 
pensioners forum and events to engage 
members of minority groups under the 
equality & diversity scheme. 

• Holding a range of open evenings and 
our annual open day. 

Listening to patients, 
responding to feedback

• We have continued to use a wide variety 
of methods to gather feedback form 
patients, relatives and carers, including: 

 •  National inpatient survey 2011 (we are  
  currently analysing the results for this). 

 •  National outpatient survey 2011,   
 which demonstrated significant   
 improvements with 13 survey   
 questions in the top 20% of high   
 performing trusts in the country, and  
 with clear indications that patients rate  
 us as among the best in the country   
 for communication, privacy and   
 dignity between staff and patients.

 •  Monthly real time survey for inpatients   
 – carried out by our volunteers. We have  
 seen an overall increase in the numbers  
 of surveys completed in 2011/12 thanks  
 to the hard work and dedication of our  
 wonderful hospital volunteers.  

Our patients and their experiences
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 •  Implementation of a new twice   
 monthly “pop up poll” via our   
 hospital media system.

 •  Comment cards, email and website   
 feedback facility, and promotion of   
 NHS Choices website. 

Complaints
• In 2011/12 we recorded the lowest 

number of complaints since 2004 (687); 
a 13% reduction since 2009/10. 

• By the last quarter of 2011/12, we were 
closing 95% of complaints in the agreed 
time, meeting our target of 90%. 

• 2011/12 saw lower numbers of 
patients who were dissatisfied about 
their complaint response and fewer 
referrals to the parliamentary health 
service ombudsman’s office, indicating 
significant quality improvements have 
been achieved. 

• The themes and learning from both 
concerns and complaints have been 
analysed and widely reported, to provide 
a more complete picture of the issues 
and we have clear evidence of many local 
improvements such as nurse in charge 
ward rounds and the use of patient 
“passport” style information booklets. 

Communication
• We have reduced our level 2 and 3 

complaints about communication by 
 over 20%.

• We have focussed on customer care 
in our outpatients department, and 
following a comprehensive restructure 
are going to be delivering an innovative 
development programme to all 
outpatient staff. 

• We have introduced a customer care 
award which in 2012/13 will incorporate 
patient and public nominations. 

Privacy, dignity and same sex 
accommodation
• We have sustained overall improvements 

in ensuring patient privacy and dignity 
through ensuring the provision of same sex 
accommodation unless a patients clinical 
condition justifies appropriate mixing for 
example in our intensive care units. 

• We have improved the numbers of 
patients reporting sharing sleeping 
accommodation by a further 5% this year. 

Protecting vulnerable adults
• We have seen a reduction in the number 

of safeguarding adults alerts received in 
2011/12 and a fall in those alerts which 
relate to incorrect assessment of patient’s 
mental capacity. 

• We have seen significant improvements 
in the care of treatment of people with 
learning disabilities and their carers. 

 The appointment of two hospital 
 learning disabilities liaison nurses is 

providing essential to supporting our 
staff to get care right and ensure 
reasonable adjustments are made for 
patients with disabilities. 

Nutrition and catering
We took patient and public feedback about 
concerns to do with catering and nutrition 
seriously and made it a top priority for 
improvement in 2011/12. 

• We have increased the number of 
patients receiving nutritional screening 
within 24 hours of admission by 11% 
(67% in April 2011 to 94% in 

 March 2012). 

• We have increased the numbers of 
patients who are at risk of malnutrition 
being placed on the correct care plan by 
17% between Q1 and Q4. 

• We have ensured patients are getting the 
right mealtimes assistance and increased 
this to 95% by Q4. We are aiming to meet 
our target of 100% early in 2012/13. 
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• Whilst we have not seen improvements 
on catering in our inpatients real-time 
survey question, our more detailed 
catering survey has seen overall quality 
score improvements rise from 66% in 
August 2011 to 93% in February 2012; a 
27% improvement. 

• We were delighted to receive a fully 
compliant rating for nutrition (Outcome 5) in 
our February 2012 Care Quality Commission 
unannounced inspection, where inspectors 
reported clear evidence of improvements in 
the practice areas they visited. 

In order to support these improvements, a 
significant number of nutrition and catering 
actions have been implemented in 2011-12. 
These include

• Launch of a new set of ward based 
nutrition and catering standards

• New hospital food and nutrition 
action group established with patient 
representation

• Consistent senior leadership and 
challenge to ensure engagement with 
nutrition across all care settings.

• Implementation of a new mealtime 
coordinator role

• Increased compliance with protected 
mealtimes policy as demonstrated via audit

• Increased compliance with use of red 
trays and glasses for at risk patients

• joint nursing and catering rapid 
improvement events and increased 
partnership approach

• Improved ward information about 
catering arrangements

• Monthly MUST (nutrition screening tool) 
audit set up with regular ward reports

• MUST policy reviewed and e-learning 
programme for staff planned for launch 
in early 2012/13 

• Link nurses for Nutrition and Tissue 
viability (ANTs) are in place ain all wards 
and have seen their roles descriptor and 
training revised

• Nutrition screening target scores are now 
included in monthly ward performance 
via our clinical quality dashboard 

• A new nutrition care plan developed and 
implemented. 

Some patient quotes from the 
2011 OPD survey:

“I felt I received gold standard care 
from the nurse, radiographer and 
consultant surgeon, who made me 
feel they had all the time in the 
world for me.” 

“Receptionist always so genuine 
and helpful. All staff clear and 
concise when giving you info.” 

“Well run department with 
professional, polite, helpful staff.”

“Treated with professionalism and 
courtesy from all concerned.”
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Regulation and scrutiny
We are determined to ensure that our 
patients receive the highest quality care 
and we work continually to achieve this. By 
looking carefully at our internal processes 
and information and through learning from 
national assessments we are able to assure 
ourselves that our care is high quality and 
we are using our resources responsibly.

Care Quality Commission
The Care Quality commission (CQC) was 
formed on 31 March 2009 to ensure 
that hospitals and other NHS providers 
meet essential standards through its 
registration system and drive improvement 
by conducting reviews of services and 
commissioning. 

In January 2011, the Trust was registered 
with the CQC without conditions to provide 
services at five locations. It is now a legal 
requirement of our registration that we 
continually monitor and ensure compliance 
with the essential standards of quality 
and safety.

The standards are grouped into five key 
outcome areas:

•  Involvement and information
•  Personalised care, treatment and support
•  Safeguarding and safety
•  Suitability of staffing
•  Quality and management

As the CQC has developed its own 
monitoring processes for Trusts, we have 
embedded our own internal review and 
assurance processes so that any issues 
with maintaining standards can be rapidly 
addressed with a robust action plan. 
Responsibility for ensuring adequate 
processes are in place sits with the nursing 
directorate under Director of Nursing Ms 
Judy Gillow MBE. 

The CQC undertook inspection visits to 
the Southampton General Hospital site in 

February and March 2012 to review the 
hospital’s compliance with the terms of its 
registration. They found the location to be 
compliant with the standards in four of the 
five key outcome areas. 

Improvements were needed in relation to 
the management of medicines (Outcome 9) 
and particularly the manner in which these 
are safely stored away in ward and clinic 
areas. The Trust was already addressing this 
issue and has provided a comprehensive 
response and plan to CQC demonstrating 
how these improvements are being 
actioned and monitored.  

The report of the latest inspection visit can 
be viewed at www.cqc.org.uk

Health and safety
Ensuring the health and safety of our 
patients, staff and visitors is a top priority 
and we regularly promote this to our staff. 
The Trust has a positive relationship with 
the Health and Safety Executive and has 
received no improvement notices during 
this reporting period.

Clinical audit
Several hundred clinical audits are 
registered every year with our clinical 
effectiveness department. This important 
work which assures us that our care is of a 
high standard is celebrated very year in the 
annual clinical effectiveness conference. 

We take part in a range of national and 
local audits in line with our priorities for 
improving care as well as those of our 
commissioners. Details of the audits we are 
currently participating in can be seen in our 
Quality Account 2011/12 on page 55 of 
this report.

Dr Foster Real Time Monitoring (RTM) 
continues to be widely used across the 
Trust and this means we can monitor 
our outcomes compared with those of 

Governing our hospital
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other similar hospitals in England. Data 
relating to mortality is routinely explored in 
specialties and discussed by our divisional 
management teams. The Trust’s Hospital 
Standardised Mortality Ratio (HSMR) as well 

as the newly developed Summary Hospital 
Level Mortality Indicator (SHMI) statistics are 
reviewed on a quarterly basis. The Trust’s 
HSMR is within the expected range. 

Our Monitor risk ratings for the first two 
quarters of our operation as a Foundation 
Trust were as we expected going into the 
reporting period.

In quarter 4 our amber-green governance 
risk rating was a result of challenges we 
faced in meeting the emergency department 
target of treating and admitting more 
than 95% of patients within four hours. A 
detailed action plan is in place to restore 
performance in this area during 2012/13.

The financial risk rating is based upon 
five key financial metrics as set out in the 
Monitor Compliance Framework. These 
rating provide measures of the Trust’s 
financial efficiency, liquidity, underlying 
performance and achievement of plan. The 
Trust achieved ratings in line with its plan for 
its first two quarters as a foundation trust.

We run a programme of events throughout 
the year, from our popular annual open day, 
to specialist evenings where patients, staff, 
local residents and members can listen to 
presentations from lead consultants and 
clinical specialists with the opportunity to 
feed back on services and how the Trust 
is run. This year we have held events on 
cancer, eye problems and the work of the 
charity team and we have orthopaedic, 
major trauma and diabetes evenings 
planned for the coming year.

In October 2011 over 2,500 members 
of the public had the opportunity to see 
behind the scenes at the third annual open 

day. The ‘inside the body’ themed event 
involved more than 50 activities including 
tours of theatre, the new helipad, and a 
giant inflatable colon. 

A new addition this year was a virtual 
autopsy seen by over 350 people. 
Consultant histopathologist, Dr Meg 
Ashton-Key, demonstrated how 
examinations are performed on the body 
using animal organs and photographs of 
diseased human organs.
  
The Members’ Council continues to 
represent the 20,000 members made up of 
local people, patients, staff and carers and 

Our Monitor risk ratings

 Annual Plan 
2011/12

Quarter 3 Quarter 4

Financial Risk Rating 3 3 3

Governance Risk 
Rating

Amber-green Green Amber-green

Working with our community
We work hard 
to involve our 
community to 
ensure we continue 
to provide high 
quality care that is 
patient centred.
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are strongly involved in engagement activity 
throughout the year. They have been 
promoting membership at our specialist 
events, schools and community groups 
and have made guest appearances on local 
radio station Unity 101. 

This year they have confirmed that a 
younger person representative will sit 
on the Members’ Council and support 
recruitment of under 21s. They have also 
been investigating ways to give more 

opportunities to our active members, the 
2,500 public members who have said they’d 
like to be more involved with the Trust.

In the coming year we plan to hold opinion 
surveys to understand members’ views of 
the hospital and how membership could 
be improved, we will also be re-developing 
the members section of the website and 
looking at activity which will promote 
membership among hard to reach groups.

Constituency Number Percentage

Southampton City 4179 34.67%

New Forest, Eastleigh and Test Valley 5051 41.90%

Rest of England 1493 12.39%

Isle of Wight 1178 9.77%

Not known 153 1.27%

Ethnicity Number Percentage

White 11322 93.93%

Mixed 44 0.37%

Asian / Asian British 264 2.19%

Black / Black British 101 0.84%

Other (inc. Chinese) 90 0.75%

Not stated 233 1.93%

Age ranges Number Percentage

0-16 1 0.01%

17-21 119 0.99%

22+ 11763 97.59%

Not stated 171 1.42%

Gender Number Percentage

Male 5483 45.49%

Female 6543 54.28%

Not stated 28 0.23%

Socio-economic group Number Percentage

ABC1 6066 50.32%

C2 1340 11.12%

D 969 8.04%

E 3250 26.96%

Not known 429 3.56%
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Members’ Council 
is the name given 
to our council of 
governors.

There are 13 elected council members 
who represent our public members 
and four elected to represent our staff 
groups. Finally six local organisations have 
appointed a council member. Usually all 
council members serve a three year term 
of office, however, in this initial period as 

a foundation trust the council members 
representing Southampton City, Isle of 
Wight, Nursing and Midwifery, and non-
clinical and support staff will retire after 
two years. This ensures some continuity of 
council members on the Members’ Council. 
The composition is as follows:

The Members’ Council has operated in 
shadow form since 2009 and became a formal 
statutory body when we became a foundation 
trust on 1 October 2011. Since becoming a 
foundation trust the Members’ Council has 
considered a number of items including:

•  Appointment of the non-executive 
directors and the Chair including their 
remuneration

•  Process for appointing the external auditors

•  Pathology arrangements in Southern 
Hampshire

•  Major trauma centre at University 
Hospital Southampton 

•  Membership engagement. 

The Lead Council Member is Margaret 
Wheatcroft, Appointed, Southampton City 
PCT. The lead council member has a role 
to play in facilitating direct communication 
between Monitor and the Members’ Council.

Members’ Council

Public Elected Council Members (13)

Southampton City  (coterminous with the Southampton City Council area) 5 council members

New Forest, Eastleigh and Test Valley (coterminous with the local authority 
areas of New Forest District Council, Eastleigh Borough Council and Test 
Valley Borough Council)

4 council members

Isle of Wight (coterminous with the Isle of Wight County Council area) 1 council member

Rest of England & Wales 3 council members

Staff Elected Council Members (4)

Medical practitioners and dental staff 1 council member

Nursing and Midwifery staff 1 council member

Other clinical staff 1 council member

Non-clinical and support staff 1 council member

Appointed Council Members (6)

NHS Southampton City 1 council member

NHS Hampshire 1 council member

Southampton City Council 1 council member

University of Southampton 1 council member

Hampshire County Council 1 council member

Business Solent 1 council member
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Members’ Council Attendance 2011/12

Council Member 11th October 
2011
5.00-7.00pm

1st December 
2011
2.00-4.00pm

15th March 
2012
3.00-5.30pm

Pamela Aihie, Elected, Southampton City 3 3 3

Rosemary Bynam, Elected, Southampton City 5 5 5

Colin Pritchard, Elected, Southampton City 5 3 3

Sue Daniel, Elected, Southampton City 3 3 3

Eddie Leach (from 1/12/12), Elected, Southampton City Centre 3 Open only 3 Closed only

Eileen Gibbs, Elected, New Forest, Eastleigh and Test Valley 3 3 3

Nichola Goom, Elected, New Forest, Eastleigh and Test Valley 3 3 5

Rhian Hinton, Elected, New Forest, Eastleigh and Test Valley 3 5 5

Ann Short, Elected, New Forest, Eastleigh and Test Valley 5 3 3

Estelle Thomas (from 1/12/12), Elected, Isle of Wight 3 5

Nicholas Jonas (until 15/3/12) ,Elected, Rest of England 3 (until 5.50) 3

Paul Cantlie (from 15/3/12), Elected, Rest of England and Wales 3 (observer) 3

Jean Mallows, Elected, Rest of England and Wales 3 (until 5.40) 3 3

Aelwen Emmett, Elected, Rest of England and Wales 5 3 3

Brian Birch, Elected, Medical & Dental Staff 3 3 3

Robert Crouch, Elected, Nursing & Midwifery Staff 3 3 5

Caroline Wade, Elected, Other Clinical Staff 3 5 5

Gordon Kemish, Elected, Non-Clinical and Support Staff 3 3 3

Margaret Wheatcroft, Appointed, Southampton City PCT 3 3 3

Sarah Schofield, Appointed, Hampshire PCT 5 5 5

Andrew Gibson, Appointed, Hampshire City Council 3 3 X

Ivan White, Appointed, Southampton City Council 5 3 3

Lee Chant, Appointed, Business Southampton 3 3 5

Jessica Corner, Appointed, University of Southampton 3 3 5
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Declaration of Business 
Interests for Half-Year 
1st October 2011 – 
31st March 2012 

Elected Public Members
•  Rosemary Bynam, Southampton City:  Nil
•  Pamela Aihie, Southampton City: 

Daughter works in Trust & University
•  Sue Daniel, Southampton City: Nil
•  Professor Colin Pritchard, Southampton 

City: Nil
•  Eddie Leach, Southampton City (from 1 

December 2011): Trustee Southampton 
Mencap

•  Nichola Goom, New Forest, Eastleigh 
and Test Valley: Nil

•  Rhian Hinton, New Forest, Eastleigh and 
Test Valley: Nil

•  Eileen Gibbs, New Forest, Eastleigh and 
Test Valley: Nil

•  Ann Short, New Forest, Eastleigh and 
Test Valley: Nil

•  Estelle Thomas, Isle of Wight (from 1 
December 2011): Nil

•  Aelwen Emmett, Rest of England and 
Wales: Nil 

•  Nick Jonas, Rest of England and 
Wales (until 15 March 2012):  Son is a 
Consultant at UHS 

•  Paul Cantlie, Rest of England and Wales 
(from 15 March 2012): Nil

•  Jean Mallows, Rest of England and 
Wales: Nil

Elected Staff Members
•  Brian Birch, Medical & Dental: Occasional 

ad hoc work for companies for which I 
get paid an honorarium; Involvement with 
some bodies e.g. the District Prescribing 
committee and Hospital pharmacy 
providing advice on drug usage in certain 
conditions. This has also involved formulary 
applications (unpaid) by pharmaceutical 
companies; Involvement in research some 
of which is company funded. Educational 
funding by drug companies to attend 
urological meetings (previously declared on 
the Trust’s Register of Sponsorships)

•  Dr Robert Crouch, Nursing & Midwifery: 
Director of Practice Innovation (Non-Board 
position) for Plain Healthcare Ltd – a 

company that develops and markets clinical 
decision support software. Shareholder 
(7.43%) of Avia Health Informatics PLC. 
Avia Health Informatics PLC own Plain 
Healthcare Ltd. Director and trustee of a 
charity Hope for the World – this is not a 
profit organisation dedicated to education 
and healthcare for individuals particularly 
on the Thailand/Burma border. Visiting 
Professor at the University of Surrey. 

•  Gordon Kemish, Non-Clinical & 
Support: Nil

•  Caroline Wade Other Clinical: Nil

Appointed Stakeholder Members
•  Dr Sarah Schofield, Hampshire Primary 

Care Trust: Chair of West Hampshire 
Clinical Commissioning Group 
(Commissioner of services at UHS)

•  Lee Chant, Business Solent: (HAYS 
Recruiting experts worldwide): Registered 
Director of a global recruitment company.

•  Professor Jessica Corner, University of 
Southampton: Dean of Faculty of Health 
Science, University of Southampton (main 
employment); Chief Clinician , Macmillan 
Cancer Support (second employment); 
Member of  HEFCE Ref 2014 Sub-panel 
3, Allied Health Professions, Dentistry, 
Nursing and Midwifery and Pharmacy; 
Co-Chair of Department of Health 
Cancer Patient Experience Advisory 
Group; Member of DH Health Visitor 
Taskforce; Vice-chair of the Council of 
Deans for Health; Chair of the Wessex 
Health Innovation and Education Cluster

•  Councillor Ivan White, Southampton City 
Council: Appointed Governor Southern 
Health FT; Appointed Board Member to 
Eastpoint; Appointed Board Member PYL 
Ltd; Lay Member of Southampton City 
Clinical Commissioning Group; Governor 
Hope Lodge School, Midanbury Lane; 
Member of the Conservative Association 
and in a position of general control; 
Shareholder in Soundproj-x (2011) Ltd (a 
Sound and Media company)

•  Margaret Wheatcroft, Southampton 
City Primary Care Trust: Non-Executive 
Director, NHS Southampton City PCT

•  Councillor Andrew Gibson, Hampshire 
County Council: Nil
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The Board 
comprises the Chair, 
seven non-executive 
directors and seven 
executive directors. 
Together they bring 
a wide range of 
different skills and 
experience to the 
Trust, enabling it to 
achieve balance at 
the highest level.

Engagement with Trust Board
Members’ Council is chaired by the Trust 
Chair which provides a link between 
Board and Members’ Council. The Senior 
Independent Director, Chief Executive and 
Trust Secretary attend all Members’ Council 

meetings. In addition, non-executive 
directors and executive directors attend 
Members’ Council on an ad hoc basis or 
when an item within their portfolio is being 
presented to Members’ Council.

The non-executive directors, including 
the Chair, are people who live or work in 
the local area and have shown a genuine 
interest in helping to improve the health 
of local people. The non-executive 
directors are determined by the Board 
to be independent in both character 
and judgement. 

The Chair, executive directors and non-
executive directors have declared their 
interests as set out below. The Board is 
satisfied that no conflicts of interest are 
indicated in any external involvement. 
The disclosure is updated regularly and is 
available to the public on application to the 
Trust Secretary. 

The Board can be contacted by writing 
to: Trust Secretary, University Hospital 
Southampton NHS Foundation Trust, 
Tremona Road, Mailpoint 18, 
Southampton, SO16 6YD.

The business to be conducted by the Board 
or by one of its committees is set out in the 
‘reservation of powers to the Board and 
delegation of powers policy’.

Senior Independent Director
The role of Senior Independent Director 
has been established and is held by Nick 
Marsden, a non-executive director. The 
senior independent director role provides 
a channel through which foundation trust 
members and council members are able to 
express concerns, other than the normal 
route of the chairman, chief executive or 
director of finance.

Appointments
Non-executive directors are appointed via 
open advertisement in accordance with 
the “Appointment of a foundation trust 
non-executive director good practice 
guide” procedure adopted by the Trust. 
The process is managed through the 
Members’ Nominations Committee of the 
Members’ Council, which also determines 
their remuneration.

Development of the Board
The Board held a number of study 
sessions and seminars in 2011/12 where 
strategic issues along with emerging issues 
were discussed.

Board committee performance is regularly 
assessed by Board and the performance 
of specific committees is considered in the 
annual appraisal of the committee chairs.

Meetings of the Board
The Board meets once a month in public. 
Additional private meetings with only the 
Board and associated employees of the 
Trust making presentations to the Board in 
attendance are held as required. 
Engagement with Members’ Council
Trust Board engage with Members’ Council 
through the Chair and Senior Independent 
Director. Executive directors engage with 
sub-groups of the Members’ Council 
where these are related to their portfolios. 
In October we held a joint Board and 
Members’ Council Development Day and 
plan to repeat this in the future.

Introducing the board of directors
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John Trewby, CB FREng – chair  
John joined the Trust on 1 April 2008. He brings with him a wealth of leadership experience 
after a distinguished career in the Navy where he rose to the rank of Rear Admiral and became 
the first chief executive of the Naval Bases and Supply Agency. After 36 years in the Navy John 
joined the defence company British Aerospace (latterly BAE Systems) where he was their chief 
Naval Advisor for 8 years. He is an Associate of Group4Securicor and Chair of ITT Defence 
Ltd and its Spanish subsidiary ITT Defense Espana. He is a Fellow of the Royal Academy of 
Engineering, sitting on its Proactive Membership Committee and recently chaired a study into 
“ICT for the UK’s Future”. He is a Council Member of the University of Southampton. 

Gareth Davies   
Gareth is a customer management consultant, having set up and run three marketing 
operations and rolled out a customer-centric business model across six European countries. 
Now specialising in the management of corporate change affecting customers, Gareth has 
managed customer-facing teams, developed new customer solutions, and reengineered 
distribution for a major international group in the UK, Switzerland and France. Being active 
in causes which help to give people power over their own lives, Gareth has held national 
roles in Amnesty International, and been deputy chairman of a health service public forum. 
He is currently a trustee of One Community, a major charity providing care, transport 
and voluntary sector services in the region. As chair of the Charitable Funds committee, 
Gareth oversees the governance of the planned expansion of our associated charity. He 
also contributes his particular expertise on membership and public involvement, and the 
market-orientation required for transition to a more competitive NHS market. 

Dr Nick Marsden 
Nick graduated with first class honours in Civil Engineering from Leeds University and 
completed a Ph.D in Fluid Mechanics at the same institution. After a short career as a 
consulting engineer he joined IBM in 1977. Nick has held several senior executive roles 
at IBM culminating in running their European Printing Systems Division. He was also 
senior vice president for service at Danka Europe. Nick has an outstanding track record of 
delivering business growth through achieving high levels of customer satisfaction along 
with a balanced financial performance. Within the Trust Nick focuses on strategy and 
business performance with particular interest in the business development and IT strategy. 

Lena Samuels  
Lena started her professional career as a lecturer for further and higher Education, 
rapidly moving into education management shortly after qualifying to become one of the 
youngest managers in the UK of a government-funded independent training organisation. 
She brings corporate governance skills as independent member of Hampshire Police 
Authority, through her time as governor and chair of the board of Southampton City 
College, and in her current trustee roles at Wheatsheaf Trust and The Hampshire and IOW 
Community Foundation. She runs a media and PR business as well as working locally in 
Southampton at BBC Radio Solent. 
  

The people

Non-executive directors 
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Peter Hollins  
Peter Hollins graduated in Chemistry from Hertford College, Oxford. Joining ICI in 1973, he 
undertook a series of increasingly senior roles in marketing and then general management. 
Following three years in the Netherlands as general manager of ICI Resins BV, he was in 
1992, appointed chief operating officer of EVC in Brussels, a joint venture between ICI and 
Enichem of Italy. He played a key role in the flotation of the company in 1994, returning in 
1998 to the UK as chief executive officer of British Energy where he remained until 2001. 
From 2001 onwards he held various chairmanships and non-executive directorships. In 
2003 he decided to return to an executive role and since then has been chief executive of 
the British Heart Foundation.  
  
Simon Porter 
Simon was educated in Southampton and then Oxford, graduating with a degree in 
Modern Languages (Italian and French). He is a qualified chartered accountant, having 
spent most of his career with the London office of Ernst & Young, where he specialised 
first in audit, then transactions and finally risk management. He was a partner with 
Ernst & Young from 1994 to 2010. He joined the Trust Board on 1 January 2011 as a 
designate non-executive director and became non-executive director and chair of the Audit 
and Assurance Committee from 1 June 2011. His professional interests include public 
healthcare and social housing, personal interests in golf, walking and cycling. He divides his 
time between homes in London and Romsey. 

Professor Iain Cameron 
Iain Cameron is Professor of Obstetrics and Gynaecology and Dean of the Faculty of 
Medicine at the University of Southampton. After graduating in Medicine at the University 
of Edinburgh, he underwent postgraduate clinical and research training in obstetrics and 
gynaecology, and reproductive medicine, in Edinburgh, Melbourne and Cambridge. He 
held the Regius Chair of Obstetrics and Gynaecology at the University of Glasgow from 
1993 and moved to Southampton in 1999. His main clinical and research interests are 
reproductive endocrinology, the treatment of sub-fertility and investigation of the impact of 
the maternal environment on early pregnancy. He is a member of the Scientific and Ethical 
Review Group, Special Programme of Research, Development and Research Training in 
Human Reproduction, World Health Organisation; a member of the Executive Committee, 
and Chair of the Medical Staffing Sub-Committee, Medical Schools Council; and a member 
of the Boards of the UK Clinical Research Collaboration (UKCRC) and the UK Research 
Integrity Office (UKRIO). 
  
Lynne Lockyer 
Lynne’s background is in human resource management and strategic management. She 
became a non-executive director for Southampton and South West Hampshire in 1996 
and the vice chair in 2000. She was chair of Eastleigh and Test Valley South PCT from 
its inception in 2002 until its disestablishment in 2006. She has taken many roles in the 
local health economy including being a member of Hampshire’s Local Area Agreement 
Board and nationally was a member of the NHS Confederation Council and the National 
NHS Leaders Steering Group. She was until recently a course director at the University of 
Portsmouth and is now an organisation development consultant. She is a trustee of the 
Nuffield Theatre Trust and the Brendoncare Foundation. 
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Mark Hackett, chief executive   
Mark joined the Trust as chief executive on 2 August 2004. A career NHS manager, 
he entered the service in 1984 through the National Graduate Management Training 
Scheme. Mark went to the London School of Economics. He has worked in Birmingham, 
London, Wales and Sutton Coldfield in general management posts. He was appointed 
chief executive at Birmingham Women’s Hospitals NHS Trust in 1996. In 1999 he joined 
the Royal Wolverhampton Hospitals NHS Trust as chief executive to help the organisation 
overcome various difficulties it had implementing change in the new NHS. Mark has 
published a range of articles which reflect his interest in leadership, strategy and human 
resources. He also sat on a number of national and regional groups for the NHS.   
  
Judy Gillow, director of nursing  
Prior to joining the Trust, Judy was director of nursing, organisational development and 
assistant chief executive at Winchester and Eastleigh Healthcare NHS Trust. She has worked 
in the health service for many years in a variety of roles in the acute, primary care and 
educational settings. Qualifying as a registered adult and paediatric nurse at The Hospital 
for Sick Children, Great Ormond Street, London, Judy’s career has covered a wide range 
of areas including senior clinical management and board leadership positions. She now 
leads the Trust’s governance and patient experience agenda and already has implemented 
strategies and new systems to demonstrate sustainable improvement.   
  
Steve McManus, chief operating officer   
Steve joined the NHS in 1987 undertaking his registered nursing qualification at St Thomas’ 
Hospital, London. He worked in a clinical capacity both in London and Oxford within critical 
care and acute medical services until 2000 before taking up a managerial role at the Oxford 
Radcliffe Hospitals culminating in the management of neurosciences and specialist surgical 
services. Steve moved to the Trust as divisional director of operations for specialist services 
in 2006 and took up the chief operating officer role in 2008. 

Dr Michael Marsh, medical director  
Michael Marsh is a consultant in paediatric intensive care. He qualified in medicine at the 
University of London and undertook postgraduate studies in paediatrics in Oxford and 
London. He undertook research on the effects of maternal smoking on fetal lung growth 
and development at St Thomas’. He was appointed consultant in paediatric intensive 
care at Guy’s Hospital in 1995 and helped establish it as a leading centre. In 1998 he 
became director of paediatric intensive at Southampton and led the development of the 
service. In 2006 he was appointed clinical lead for child health leading on the integration 
and modernisation of paediatric services. In 2007 he became divisional clinical director 
for women and children’s services. His research interests include cardiac and respiratory 
function in critically ill children with a particular interest in surfactant. From 2002 until 
2008 he served as honorary secretary for the Paediatric Intensive Care Society providing 
leadership and specialist advice on children’s intensive care.  

Executive directors 
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Alastair Matthews, director of finance and investment   
Alastair joined the Trust in August 2007. Prior to joining the Trust he was finance director 
of Ordnance Survey from 2003 and prior to that vice-president, finance and administration 
at Computer Sciences Corporation where he worked from 1997. A Fellow of the Institute 
of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales, Alastair initially trained and worked in 
public practice with Price Waterhouse. He has an economics degree and for the two years 
to July 2007 was also a member of the Financial Reporting Advisory Board, an independent 
advisory Board to HM Treasury on how financial reporting principles are applied in the 
public sector. 
  
Jane Hayward, director of organisational development  
Jane took up the newly created Trust Board post in February 2008. Jane joined the NHS in 
1987 after graduating from London University with a degree in Physical Geography. She 
joined the Trust in 2000 as clinical services manager for the cardiothoracic directorate after 
spending two years in Hertfordshire as director of performance and 11 years at Barts and 
the London Hospitals in various roles including planning, finance and commissioning. Most 
recently Jane has worked as director of performance and modernisation at the Trust. She 
now leads on human resources, information management and technology, improvement 
and modernisation. 

Mike Murphy, director of strategy 
Mike joined the Trust in February 2010 as deputy director of strategy and business 
development. Prior to joining the trust Mike held senior strategy, marketing and finance 
positions in the retail, financial services, utilities and motor service industries. Mike has a 
degree in mathematical science and an MBA. 
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Declaration of Business 
Interests for Half-Year 1 
October 2011 - 31 March 2012

• John Trewby: Council Member 
University of Southampton; Chair ITT 
Defence Ltd; Chair ITT Defense Espana; 
Associate of Group 4 Securicor 

• Nick Marsden: Lay advisor to Wessex 
Deanery

• Gareth Davies: Trustee of One 
Community; Director of Firwood SCI Ltd; 
Lay Advisor to Wessex Deanery 

• Peter Hollins: Chief Executive of British 
Heart Foundation; Chair of Charles A 
Blatchford & Son Ltd; Director of the 
European Heart Network; 

• Lena Samuels: Trustee of the 
Wheatsheaf Trust; Trustee of Hampshire 

and Isle of Wight Community 
Foundation; Magistrate of Southampton 
Bench; Member of Staff at BBC; Lay 
Advisor to Wessex Deanery, including 
Member of the Board of the School 
Emergency Medicine; Independent 
Member of Hampshire Police Authority; 
Director of Hot Buzz Media Ltd; Director 
of Wessex Creative Media Ltd; Director of 
Solent India Business Network  

• David Williams (until 31 October 2011): 
Professor of Global Oral Health, Bart’s 
and The London School of Medicine 
and Dentistry, Queen Mary, University of 
London

• Iain Cameron (from 19 December 
2011): Dean of Faculty of Medicine, 
University of Southampton; Trustee of 
Wessex Medical Trust

Board meeting attendance 2011/12

Board member Number of meetings held during reporting 
period and within member’s term of office

Number of meetings attended

John Trewby 9 9

David Williams (until 31/10/11) 2 2

Iain Cameron (from 19/12/11) 6 5

Gareth Davies 9 9

Nick Marsden 9 9

Lena Samuels 9 7

Peter Hollins 9 8

Simon Porter 9 8

Lynne Lockyer 9 8

Mark Hackett 9 9

Alastair Matthews 9 9

Michael Marsh 9 8

Judy Gillow 9 9

Jane Hayward 9 6

Steve McManus 9 7

Caspar Ridley (until 29/2/12) 7 7

Mike Murphy (from 1/3/12) 4 4
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• Lynne Lockyer: Voluntary Trustee of 
the Brendoncare Foundation; Voluntary 
Trustee of the Nuffield Theatre Trust 

• Simon Porter: Former Partner in Ernst 
& Young LLP;  Non-executive Director 
and Chair of Audit Committee Octavia 
Housing; Independent member of Audit 
Committee AmicusHorizon 

• Mark Hackett: Married to Penny 
Venables, Chief Executive, Royal 
Orthopaedic Hospital, Birmingham (until 
1st January 2012), subsequently Chief 
Executive, Worcester Acute Hospitals 
NHS Trust (from 2nd January 2012); 
Partner in NHS Interim Management and 
Support; Voluntary Director NHS Interim 
Management and Support; Member 
of the National Institute for Health and 
Clinical Excellence (NICE) Interventional 
Procedures Advisory Committee;  Fellow 
of University of Southampton (from 23rd 
January 2012); Member of Medtronic 
Hospital Executive Advisory Board (from 
6th February 2012)

• Judy Gillow: Voluntary Trustee of Naomi 
House Children’s Hospice

• Jane Hayward: Father is Mental Health 
Act manager, Hampshire Partnership 
Trust (voluntary position), member 
of Mental Health Act Committee, 
Hampshire Partnership Trust (voluntary 
position), member of Assessment 
Committee for Clinical Excellence Awards 
(lay member), and UHS Simulated Patient 
(voluntary position); Neil Harvey (partner) 
is a Simulated Patient (voluntary position)

• Michael Marsh: Married to Sarah 
Marsh, Project Manager, South Central 
Strategic Health Authority

• Alastair Matthews: Member of 
the Advisory Board to Southampton 
University School of Management; Board 
Member of NHS Innovations South East 

• Steve McManus: Chair of Governors, 
Tackley Primary School, Oxfordshire

• Caspar Ridley (until 29 February 2012): 
Treasurer of Pilgrims Preparatory School 
Parents’ Association; Various investments 
in healthcare and related businesses in 
line with a balanced investment portfolio; 
Fellow of the Institute of Directors

• Mike Murphy (from 1 March 2012): 
Chair of Governors, Hardmoor Early 
Years Centre, Southampton

Audit and Assurance 
Committee 
The Audit and Assurance committee is 
appointed by the Board and consists of 
seven non-executive directors. The Financial 
and Core Assurance session is chaired by 
Simon Porter, who is a qualified accountant, 
and the Clinical Quality and Outcome 
Assurance session is chaired by Iain 
Cameron, who is a qualified clinician.

The Director of Finance, Head of Internal 
Audit and a representative from external 
audit attend the Financial and Core 
Assurance session. The Medical Director 
and Director of Nursing attend the Clinical 
Quality and Outcome Assurance session. 
The Trust Secretary attends both sessions.
The Audit and Assurance Committee 
considers internal control and management 
reporting, internal audit, external audit, 
special assignments, corporate governance 
and clinical performance and outcomes. 
It meets regularly (not less than four 
times a year), is authorised by the Board 
to investigate any activity within its terms 
of reference and is authorised to seek 
any information it requires from a Trust 
employee in achieving this objective. 
Outside legal or other independent 
professional advice may also be sought if 
considered necessary by the committee.
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Audit & Assurance Committee Attendance 2011/12

Other committees of the board include: Appointments and Remuneration 
Committee, Strategy and Finance Committee and Charitable Funds Committee.

Member 18 October 2011 1 December 2011 
(extraordinary meeting)

17 January 2012

Gareth Davies 3 3 3

Alastair Matthews 3 3 3

Caspar Ridley 3 3 3

Nick Marsden 5 3

Simon Porter 3

Member 28 November 
2011

19 December 
2011

27 January 
2012

27 February 
2012

26 March  
2012

Nick Marsden Chair 3 5 3 3 3

Simon Porter 3 3 3 3 3

Peter Hollins 3 3 3 3 3

Alastair Matthews 3 3 3 3 3

Caspar Ridley 3 3 3 3

Mike Murphy 3

Charitable Funds Committee Attendance 2011/12

Strategy & Finance Committee Attendance 2011/12

Member 18 November 2011 20 January 2012 23 March 2012

Simon Porter  

Co-Chair

3 3 3

Iain Cameron Co-Chair (from 19/12/11) 3 3

Gareth Davies 5 3 3

Nick Marsden 3 3 5

Lena Samuels 3 3 3

Peter Hollins 3 3 3

Lynne Lockyer 5 5 3

Alastair Matthews 3 3 3

Michael Marsh 3 5 3

Judy Gillow 3 3 3
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Governance Code
The Board has considered the Monitor 
Code of Governance and is compliant. So 
far as the Board is aware, all possible steps 
have been taken to ensure that all relevant 
audit information has been disclosed in full 
to the auditors.

Countering fraud and corruption
The Board remains committed to maintaining 
an honest and open atmosphere within the 
Trust; ensuring all concerns involving potential 
fraud have been identified and rigorously 

investigated. In all cases appropriate civil, 
disciplinary and/or criminal sanctions have 
been applied, where guilt has been proven. 
The local counter fraud specialist has been 
instrumental in creating an anti-fraud culture, 
which has enabled deterrent and prevention 
measures to become embedded in the Trust. 
Fraud against the NHS is never acceptable and 
any concerns may be reported via the Fraud 
and Corruption Hotline on 0800 028 4060. 
By taking steps to reduce the risk of fraud the 
Trust ensures funds are available to provide 
patient care and services.
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Appointment and 
Remuneration Committee
The Appointment and Remuneration 
Committee is a formally appointed 
committee of the Board. Its Terms of 
Reference comply with the Secretary 
of State’s “Code of Conduct and 
Accountability for NHS Boards”.

The membership of the committee 
comprises the Trust Board Chair, the Non-
Executive Directors and the Chief Executive 
(except where matters relating to the Chief 

Executive are under discussion).

The remuneration of executive directors is 
considered through pay benchmarking and 
other relevant information.

The Director of Human Resources is in 
attendance at all meetings to advise the 
committee and the Head of Corporate 
Affairs is in attendance to keep an 
appropriate record of proceedings. Neither 
are members of the committee.

Process for Board 
Appointments
The process for recruiting executive directors 
is considered by this committee as the 
need arises and involves an analysis of the 
skills required by the next appointee to the 
vacancy both at Board and functional level. 
The recruitment process will always involve 
external advertisement   and generally 
includes an executive search . One such 
process has been implemented in 2011/12 
with regard to the Director of Strategy and 
Business Development. This post has now 
been successfully filled with the appointment 
of Mike Murphy to the role in April 2012.

Non-executive directors are appointed by 

the Members’ Nomination Committee in 
accordance with the ‘Recruitment Process 
NEDs and Chair Policy’ as agreed by the 
Members Council in December 2011. One 
non-executive director has been appointed 
this year.

Remuneration of the Chair 
and non-executive directors
The remuneration of the Chair and non-
executive directors is determined by the 
Members’ Nomination Committee of the 
Members’ Council. The Members Council 
approve recommendations from the 
Nomination Committee.

The committee comprises five council 

Remuneration Report

Member 31 October 2011 20 December 2011 28 February 2012

John Trewby 3 3 3

David Williams (until 31 October 2011) 5

Iain Cameron (from 19/12/11) 5 3

Gareth Davies 3 3 3

Nick Marsden  3 3 3

Lena Samuels 5 3 3

Peter Hollins 3 3 3

Simon Porter  3 5 3

Lynne Lockyer 3 3 3

Mark Hackett CEO 3 3 5



107

University Hospital Southampton NHS Foundation Trust annual report and accounts 2011/12

members and the Trust Chair. The Chief 
Executive and Director of Human Resources 
are in attendance at all meetings to advise the 
committee and the Head of Corporate Affairs 
is in attendance to keep an appropriate record 
of proceedings. None of these officers are 
members of the committee.

The Chair does not attend any part of 
meetings when matters relating to the 
Chair’s remuneration are discussed. This 
part of the meeting is chaired by the Senior 
Independent Director or Independent Chair 
from another Trust. The decisions of the 
Members’ Nomination Committee are 
passed to the full Members’ Council as 
recommendations for the Members’ Council 
to endorse or reject as it sees appropriate.

The members council agreed to adjust the 
remuneration contracts of non-executive 
directors, including the chair, with effect from 
1 October 2011, to recognise the additional 
time requirements and responsibilities 
associated with foundation trust status.

Assessment of performance 
All executive and non-executive directors 
are subject to individual annual appraisals. 
This involves the setting and agreeing 
of objectives for a 12-month period 
running from 1 April to the following 31 
March. There is an end of year review to 
assess achievements and performance. 
The executive directors are assessed by 
the Chief Executive and the outcome 

is fed back to the Appointment and 
Remuneration Committee. 

Individual executive performance appraisals 
and development plans are well established 
within the Trust and follow agreed Trust 
procedures.

The Chair undertakes the performance review 
of the Chief Executive and non-executive 
directors and this will be fed back to the 
Members’ Nomination Committee. This 
process was agreed by the Members Council 
in December 2011. The Senior Independent 
Director will appraise the Chair and feed back 
to the Members’ Nomination Committee. 

During this reporting period there have been 
some small changes to executive directors’ 
contracts as individual responsibilities have 
been reorganised.

Performance Pay
No element of the executive and non-
executive directors’ remuneration is 
performance related at present.

Duration of Contracts
All executive directors have a substantive 
contract of employment. The Medical 
Director has a fixed term addendum purely 
for the post of Medical Director for final 
duration of 3 years until 2015. The Chair and 
the non-executive director appointments are 
due for renewal as shown:

Name Position Term of Office Commenced Term of Office Ends

John Trewby Chair Appointment commenced 1 April 2008 (Second 

term agreed with effect from 1 October 2012)

30 September 2015

Nick Marsden Senior Independent Director 1 June 2011 31 May 2015

Lena Samuels Non-executive director 1 March 2009 28 February 2013

Peter Hollins Non-executive director 15 October 2010 14 October 2013

Gareth Davies Non-executive director 1 December 2009 30 November 2013

Lynne Lockyer Non-executive director 1 October 2011 30 September 2014

Iain Cameron Non-executive director 19 December 2011 18 December 2014

Simon Porter Non-executive director 1 June 2011 31 May 2015
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Other information

Name and title

2011-12 -6 months to March 2012                                                     2011-12 -6 months to September 2011

Salary 
(bands of 

£5000)

£000

Bonus 
(bands of 

£5000)

£000

Other 
remuneration

(bands of £5000)

£000

Benefits 
in kind 

rounded to  
nearest £100

Salary 
(bands of 

£5000)

£000

Bonus 
(bands of 

£5000)

£000

Other 
remuneration

(bands of £5000)

£000

Benefits in 
kind 

rounded to 
nearest £100

Prof I Cameron 0-5         

Mr G Davies 0-5    0-5    

Ms J Gillow 60-65 60-65

Mr M Hackett 100-105 100-105

Ms J Hayward 60-65 60-65

Mr P Hollins 0-5 0-5

Ms L Lockyer 0-5 0-5

Mr N Marsden 5-10 0-5

Dr MJ Marsh 85-90 85-90

Mr A Matthews 75-80 70-75

Mr S McManus 60-65 60-65

Mr M Murphy 5-10

Mr S Porter 5-10 0-5

Mr C Ridley 55-60 65-70

Ms L Samuels 0-5 0-5

Mr J Trewby 15-20 10-15

Prof D Williams 0-5 0-5

Salary and Pension entitlements of senior managers 
A)  Remuneration 

Mr C Ridley - Director of Strategy until 29th 
February 2012
Mr M Murphy  - Acting Director of Strategy 
from 1st March 2012
Prof I Cameron - Non Executive Director 
from - 1st Dec 2011
Prof D Williams - Non Executive Director 
until 31st Oct 2011

Reporting bodies are required to disclose 
the relationship between the remuneration 
of the highest paid director in their 
organisation and the median remuneration 
of the workforce. Figures for 6 months to 
September are shown in brackets: 
     

The banded remuneration of the highest 
paid director for the six months to 31 March 
2012 was £102.5k (£102.5k). This was 7.1 
(7.0) times the median remuneration of the 
workforce which was £14.4k (£14.9k)  
For the 6 months no (1) employee received 
remuneration in excess of the highest paid 
director. Remuneration ranged from £7.0k 
to £102.5k (£7.0k to £104.5k)  

Total remuneration includes salary , non 
consolidated performance related -pay, 
benefits in kind as well as severence 
payments. It does not include employer 
pension contributions and the cash 
equivilant transfer value of pensions.   
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Name  
and title

Real 
increase 
in pension 
at age 60
(bands of 
£2500)

Real 
increase 
in pension 
lump sum 
at age 60
(bands of 
£2500)

Total 
accrued 
pension 
at age 
60 at 31 
March 
2012
(bands of 
£5000)

Lump Sum 
at age 60
related to 
accrued 
pension at 
31 March 
2012
(bands of 
£5000)

Cash 
equivalent 
transfer 
value at 
31 March 
2012

Cash 
equivalent 
transfer 
value at 
30 Sept 
2011

Real 
Increase 
in cash 
equivalent 
transfer 
value

Employer's 
contribution 
to 
stakeholder 
pension

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Mrs J Gillow 0-2.5 0-2.5 55-60 170-175 1,223 1,224 0  0

Mr M Hackett 0-2.5 2.5-5 70-75 210-215 1,249 1,124 78  0

Ms J Hayward 0-2.5 0-2.5 35-40 110-115 625 548 48  0

Dr MJ Marsh 0-2.5 0-2.5 35-40 115-120 678 627 32 0

Mr A Matthews 0-2.5 2.5-5 5-10 25-30 149 121 17  0

Mr S McManus 2.5-5 7.5-10 35-40 115-120 608 496 70  0

M Murphy** 0-2.5 0-2.5 0-5 0 31 18 1 0

Mr C Ridley* 0-2.5 0-2.5 10-15 0 117 87 17  0

B)  Pension Benefits 

As Non-Executive members do not receive pensionable remuneration, there are no entries in respect of pensions for 
Non-Executive members.
* Mr C Ridley is a member of the 2008 Pension Scheme and therefore the benefits are calculated at age 65 years. 
** Mr M Murphy is a member of the 2008 Pension Scheme and therefore the benefits are calculated at age 65 years. 

Signed: …………………………………..................(chief executive) Date: 29/05/12   
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Scope of responsibility
As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility 
for maintaining a sound system of internal 
control that supports the achievement of 
the NHS foundation trust’s policies, aims and 
objectives, whilst safeguarding the public 
funds and departmental assets for which 
I am personally responsible, in accordance 
with the responsibilities assigned to me. I am 
also responsible for ensuring that the NHS 
foundation trust is administered prudently 
and economically and that resources are 
applied efficiently and effectively. I also 
acknowledge my responsibilities as set out in 
the NHS Foundation Trust Accounting 
Officer Memorandum.

The purpose of the system 
of internal control
The system of internal control is designed 
to manage risk to a reasonable level rather 
than to eliminate all risk of failure to achieve 
policies, aims and objectives; it can therefore 
only provide reasonable and not absolute 
assurance of effectiveness. The system of 
internal control is based on an ongoing 
process designed to identify and prioritise 
the risks to the achievement of the policies, 
aims and objectives of University Hospital 
Southampton NHS Foundation Trust, to 
evaluate the likelihood of those risks being 
realised and the impact should they be 
realised, and to manage them efficiently, 
effectively and economically. The system 
of internal control has been in place in 
University Hospital Southampton NHS 
Foundation Trust for the six month period 
ended 31 March 2012 and up to the date of 
approval of the annual report and accounts.

Leadership and 
management of risk
The Chief Executive has overall responsibility 
for risk management within the Trust whilst 
the Trust Board has overall responsibility for 
setting the strategic direction of the Trust 

and managing the risks to delivering 
that strategy.

The Director of Nursing has lead 
responsibility for the development and 
implementation of the Risk Management 
Policy and associated areas of internal 
control. The Policy has been subject to 
further review during 1st. October 2011 
to 31st March 2012 to ensure it remains 
appropriate and current and takes account 
of the Trust’s longer-term vision. 

The line management and professional 
structures within the Trust ensure that 
responsibility for the implementation and 
monitoring of risk management procedures 
and the control of risks are in line with the 
scheme of delegation and applicable to 
managers throughout the organisation.

The Trust has further developed the 
framework for an effective approach to 
managing risk during1st October 2011 
to 31st March 2012, which is overseen 
by the Executive Team via the Executive 
Risk Scrutiny Group and the Divisional 
Management Teams. Regular (quarterly) 
Divisional and Trust HQ risk register 
review meetings are held to review and 
scrutinise risk registers and provide an 
escalation route directly to the Executive 
Risk Scrutiny Group. The Executive 
Directors review and monitor progress 
through the regular Divisional performance 
reviews and quarterly Executive Risk 
Scrutiny Group meetings. This provides a 
structure for Divisions/Care Groups/Trust 
HQ Departments to escalate Divisional/
Department risk management issues that 
are proving difficult to resolve at local level. 
The process for the escalation of risks has 
been specifically reviewed by the Executive 
Risk Scrutiny Group, which oversees 
risk reporting and reports to the Trust 
Executive Committee, Audit and Assurance 
Committee and onwards to the Trust Board

Annual Governance Statement (covering the 
period 1 October 2011 – 31 March 2012)
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A lead Executive Director has been identified 
for each critical success factor within the 
Board Assurance Framework which is 
linked to the CQC Essential Standards of 
Quality and Safety, the Integrated Business 
Plan (IBP) and relevant external review 
recommendations. The Board Assurance 
Framework is subject to ongoing, iterative 
review by the Executive Directors.

Governance and Risk Management 
training is included as part of the 
Corporate Induction for all new Trust staff. 
Supporting this approach each Division has 
a responsibility to develop specific local 
induction programmes for staff based on 
the risks, hazards and control mechanisms 
specific to that area. Additional support 
is provided by the Governance & Risk and 
Safety Teams 

There are specific training programmes 
including Health and Safety, Infection 
Control, Incident Reporting, Risk Assessment, 
Incident Investigation and Fire training. 
Training is tailored to staff, based on their 
authority and duties, through the training 
and development needs assessment process.  
A risk management Training Needs Analysis 
has been reviewed during the reporting 
period defining all mandatory and statutory 
training required by different staff groups. 
Monitoring the delivery of this programme 
has been the role of the Trust’s Education 
Strategy Group and the Divisional Boards. 

There is documented guidance for staff, 
including the Risk Management Policy 
and Procedures, Safety Strategy, Patient 
Experience Strategy, Clinical Effectiveness 
Strategy and Quality Governance Strategy, 
supported by comprehensive Policies and 
Procedures available via the Trust’s Staffnet. 
There is also a recently reviewed Trust 
Whistleblowing Policy in place.

The Quality Governance Steering Group 
(QGSG) and its sub groups (including 
Divisional/Care Group Governance Groups) 
allow the opportunity for new guidance and 
good practice to be shared. This is further 
supported by the Trust’s quarterly Regulatory 
Assurance report and an Aggregate Analysis 

and Learning Report, this is scrutinised by 
the TEC and Trust Board and disseminated 
through the Divisions 

The risk management and 
control framework – Risk 
Management Strategy
The Risk Management Policy sets out 
the Trust’s attitudes to risk and defines 
the structures for the management 
and ownership of risk throughout the 
organisation. The key objectives of the Policy 
are to ensure that the Trust has in place:

• Clear accountability arrangements for 
the management of risk throughout the 
organisation, leading up to the Trust Board

• Clear organisational arrangements 
which ensure a comprehensive and co-
ordinated approach to the management 
of risk and governance

• An effective system of risk management 
at Divisional/Care Group/ Dept  level

• The management and development 
of Divisional/Care Group/ Department 
risk registers which are monitored 
by the Executive team as part of the 
performance reviews and Divisional and 
Executive Risk Register scrutiny meetings.

• The integration of risk management 
into overall planning and performance 
management activities 

• An increased awareness and ownership 
of risk and liabilities

• A risk management education and 
training programme for managers 

 and staff 
• An effective system to ensure that 

all staff are involved in identifying, 
preventing, assessing, controlling and 
reporting risk in order to create a 

 safer environment for staff, patients 
 and visitors
• A comprehensive understanding of the 

risks that the Trust faces, their cause 
and control, and the cost of risk to the 
organisation and potential impact on the 
Trust’s key objectives

• Guidance on what is an acceptable level 
of risk ( risk appetite)  to the organisation

• Processes in place that ensure lessons are 
learned, acted on and disseminated
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The way in which public stakeholders are 
involved in managing risks which impact on 
them is outlined in the section on Involving 
Public Stakeholders.

Clinical and Quality 
Governance
The Trust’s Patient Improvement 
Framework (PIF) forms the basis of the 
Quality Governance Framework. The PIF is 
updated and reviewed annually it focuses 
on patient safety, patient experience and 
patient clinical outcomes and regulatory 
assurance. This common theme is also 
mirrored in the Trust’s committee structures 
and high level reporting practices. This 
integrated approach ensures that staff 
understanding of the Quality Governance 
framework, operationalised through the PIF 
is embedded throughout the organisation 
and reflected in the Trust’s dashboards and 
key performance indicators.

The Trust’s Quality Governance Strategy 
supports the Trust’s 2020 Vision and sets 
out the objectives and scope of Quality 
Governance (including clinical governance) 
within the Trust. It also reflects the internal 
and external agenda that has Quality 
Governance implications for the Trust. 

As a Trust we are aiming to achieve:
• Continuous improvement of the 

patient experience and excellent clinical 
outcomes for patients.

• A patient centred and patient led 
approach to care that includes 
treating patients courteously and with 
compassion, involving them in decisions 
about their care (no decision about me 
without me – DH 2010) and keeping 
them informed.

• The delivery of services developed in 
response to feedback from patients, 
the public and other key stakeholders 
such as service commissioners and Local 
Involvement Networks/Healthwatch and 
Members Council. 

• A reduction of the risk from clinical 
errors and adverse events, as well as a 
commitment to learn from mistakes and 
share the learning across the trust.

• A therapeutic environment which is safe 
for both patients and staff and supports 
their needs and well-being.

• Assurance that the Trust is well 
managed and compliant with regulatory 
requirements.

• Engagement of all our staff in services 
which are clinically led and owned.

• Consistently provide care which is 
evidence based, safe and effective and 
adheres to best practice.

Performance information
Progress against each of our strategic 
objectives is reported to theTrust Executive 
Committee and Trust Board quarterly.  
Supporting each of the strategic objectives are 
key priority measures of success, to help us 
assess our progress towards the 2020 Vision. 

The patient improvement framework 
(PIF) focuses on patient safety, patient 
experience and patient clinical outcomes; 
the Trust sets improvement targets on the 
quality priorities each year and these are 
reflected in the Trust’s quality dashboards 
and key performance indicators.

Referral to treatment reporting is a joint 
process between the Information and 
Performance teams with final sign off 
by the Head of Performance and final 
submission by the Trust Information 
Manager. This process has been 
commended externally. The Trust’s monthly 
validation process was externally reviewed 
by the national Intensive Support team in 
2011 and a report provided to the Trust’s 
COO and CEO. All other performance 
submissions follow a similar process with 
sign off by the Trust’s Head of Performance 
and upload by the Trust’s information team. 

Compliance with the Essential 
Standards of Quality and Safety
The Foundation Trust is not fully compliant 
with the registration requirements of the 
Care Quality at the Southampton General 
Hospital site. The CQC undertook inspection 
visits to the site in February and March 
2012 to review five Essential Standards of 
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Quality and Safety outcomes. They found 
the location compliant with the regulations 
for four of the outcomes, but on the basis of 
information provided to them and the views 
of people using the service, they found that 
improvements were needed in respect of 
the management of medication (Outcome 
9). The Trust was already addressing these 
issues but has provided a comprehensive 
response and plan to CQC demonstrating 
how these improvements are being actioned 
and monitored.

Assurance on CQC Registration 
requirements 
The Trust routinely obtains assurance of 
compliance with CQC regulations and 
outcomes through:

• Identified operational and executive leads 
for each CQC outcome

• Quarterly summary reports on 
compliance and improvement action 
plans to Quality Governance Steering 
Group. 

• Quarterly CQC assurance report is 
included in Regulatory Report to TEC/
Trust Board.

• Quarterly reviews/scrutiny of evidence 
summaries for 3 or 4 Outcomes is 
undertaken by the Audit & Assurance 
Committee (AAC). 

• Regular review of data contributing to 
the Trust’s Quality and Risk profile and its 
potential impact takes place by 

 Executive and Standard leads and 
Governance team.

• Bi-annual reviews of compliance with all 
16 outcomes takes place through CQC 
surgeries to undertake in depth reviews 
of PCAs, compliance and actions.

Continuous education and monitoring is 
also ongoing through:

• Matron and Executive walkabouts
• ‘mock’ CQC inspections 
• leaflets and information for staff
• discussions at various groups and 

committees
• Patient Improvement Framework 

monitoring (PIF)

Information Security and Risks
The management of risks associated with 
information and information flows is seen 
as key within the overall assurance process. 
The Trust has a range of controls in place to 
provide assurance that the risks are being 
managed appropriately and effectively.

Organisational:
• Board member – Director of 

Organisational Development - designated 
with responsibility for Information 
Governance (IG) and appointed Senior 
Information Risk Officer 

• The Trust Information Governance 
Steering Group – meets monthly and is 
responsible for leading an annual work 
plan that is designed to improve our 
level of compliance with the standards 
contained in the IG Toolkit

• IG issues are escalated appropriately to 
the  Information Strategy Steering Group 
– chaired by Director of Organisational 
Development, with escalation if necessary 
to Trust Board for consideration

• Local Data Protection representatives in 
Care Groups

• All Incidents reported by staff involving 
information are reviewed by the Trust IG 
lead on a quarterly basis to identify any 
patterns and trends that might indicate 
an increase in information risk

• Audit of Information Governance 
undertaken annually by Internal Audit

Technical:
• The Trust maintains a register of all 

identified flows of information containing 
personable identifiable data and has 
carried out a risk assessment of those flows 
that may be at risk due to loss or those that 
have an unacceptable level of encryption

• The Trust maintains a register of all 
major systems that hold personal 
information and these are subject to 
annual risk assessments to ensure they 
meet minimum levels of security and 
confidentiality

• The Trust has completed a programme of 
work to improve the security of personal 
data on mobile devices. Data cannot be 
downloaded from the Trust network onto 
unencrypted mobile devices
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Training:
• A programme of annual training on 

Information Governance, using the training 
provided in the Information Governance 
Training Tool is provided to ensure staff 
understand their responsibilities for 
Information Governance.

Annual IG Assessment
The Trust Information Governance Toolkit 
assessment for 2011/12 achieved a 
satisfactory rating with a compliance score 
of 71%, reflecting a continuing high level 
of compliance with national information 
governance standards. 

Incident Reports
Between 1st October 2011 and 31st March 
2012 the Trust reported one serious incident 
related to information management.  

In March 2012 the Trust was informed 
by a healthcare contractor that they had 
inadvertently collected items of personal 
patient information along with items of 
product performance data they routinely 

downloaded from 2 diagnostic scanners 
they had provided to the Trust. The Trust 
was one of a number of NHS organisations 
where this process had taken place and 
therefore the incident investigation and 
management was undertaken by the 
Department of Health (DH).  

The incident has been notified to the 
Information Commissioners Office (ICO) 
and the joint view of the DH and ICO is that 
the risk of harm to patients is negligible.  
The data is held in a complex format and 
is not readily accessible and the contractor 
has given assurance, independently verified, 
that the data remains secure, has not been 
subject to loss, hacking, misuse or theft and 
will be destroyed on the completion of the 
investigation.

Other Incidents
The Table below shows aggregated data 
for less serious incidents involving personal 
data reported by the Trust between 1st 
October 2011 and 31st March 2012. This 
table is required to be published as part of 
our Annual Report.

SUMMARY OF OTHER PERSONAL DATA RELATED INCIDENTS IN Q3/Q4 2011-12

Category Nature of Incident Total

i Loss of inadequately protected electronic equipment. devices or paper documents from 

secured NHS premises

0

ii Loss of inadequately protected electronic equipment. devices or paper documents from 

outside secured NHS 

0

iii Insecure disposal of inadequately protected electronic equipment, devices or paper 

documents

1

iv Unauthorised disclosure 2

v Other 0



115

University Hospital Southampton NHS Foundation Trust annual report and accounts 2011/12

Organisational Risks 

Major risks as at Quarter 4 2011/12 
The Trust has identified the following in 
year and future key risks:

Future Strategic Risks
•  Contract for 2012/13 & SHIP.
•  Achievement of 18 weeks target 12/13.
•  Trusts’ Strategic direction compromised.

In year Operational Risks 
•  Lack of isolation capacity for infectious 

patients.
•  Failure to deliver planned financial surplus
•  Managing Capacity & Demand.
•  Insufficient Emergency Department 

capacity.

Controls and action plans to address any 
gaps are in place to manage and mitigate 
all of the above major risks. These will be 
managed through scrutiny of delivery of 
timely action plans at the Trust’s relevant 
Governance and Risk Management 
Committees / Groups and by the Trust 
Board on a quarterly basis.

Review will be supported on an annual 
basis by an internal audit.

Embedding Risk Management
The Risk Management Policy provides 
a description of the whole of the risk 
management process and requires all 
risk to be recorded, when identified, in a 
standard format risk register and prioritised 
using a standard scoring methodology. Risk 
registers, both local and corporate, are in 
place throughout the organisation. The Risk 
Management Policy clearly states that it is 
the responsibility of all staff to identify risks 
and communicate those risks to the most 
appropriate person and/or Committee.

During the reporting period the process 
for populating the Corporate Risk Register 
has been reviewed. Identified risks are 
entered onto the Corporate Risk Register, 
with supporting action plans to mitigate 
the risk. A robust system for validating the 
risk assessments and their scores and for 

performance monitoring the progress of the 
action plans has been in place throughout 
the year. Additionally, improved reporting 
capabilities allow for easy identification 
of new risks, risks that have increased/
decreased in level and risks that have been 
fully managed and registered as ‘closed’.

Elements of the Risk Management Policy 
are embedded within the Trust’s activities in 
various ways, examples include:

• The Trust’s Governance arrangements 
identify the requirement for all Divisions/ 
Departments to develop appropriate 
support systems and processes in order 
that risk management activities are 
naturally incorporated as part of the 
delivery of care and services that the 
Trust provides such as Divisional Risk 
Registers and Divisional Risk Register 
Review Groups.

• The Executive Directors have further 
developed the Assurance Framework, 
ensuring that it remained fit for purpose, 
throughout the final 6 months of 
2011/12. The strategic risks have been 
identified through risk identification at 
Board level and are intrinsically linked to 
the Trust’s Strategic Objectives. Controls 
and independent assurances have 
been identified and mapped against 
each risk. The identification of gaps in 
control/assurance, against each principal 
Risk, is supported by a series of risk 
registers. These risk registers (formed 
from both top-down and bottom-up risk 
assessments) are a major driver for the 
development of the Integrated Business 
Plan to ensure that gaps in control/
assurance against Principal Risks are 
mitigated/closed. 

• The Trust’s Non Executive Directors 
are involved in reviewing risks and 
developing the Assurance Framework 
through the Audit and Assurance 
Committee and via Board study sessions.

Trust Committees
All Committees have a clear accountability 
trail together with Terms of Reference to 
ensure that delegated authority through 
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to the Trust Board is maintained. Specific 
committees are charged with overseeing 
specific elements of the Assurance 
Framework as follows:

• The Audit & Assurance Committee 
oversees the work of Internal & 
External Audit and regularly reviews the 
Assurance Framework and scrutinises 
the delivery of the CQC Essential 
Standards of Quality and Safety. During 
the reporting period the Committee had 
a rolling programme of such reviews, 
which included the management of Risk 
Registers and their effectiveness.

• The Trust Executive Committee (TEC) 
acts as the overarching committee with 
responsibility for risk management and 
reviews the Board Assurance Framework 
and Corporate Risk Register quarterly 
following review by the Executive Risk 
Scrutiny Group (ERSG) and prior to its 
approval by the Trust Board. As well as 
the Executive Risk Scrutiny Group, TEC 
is supported by the Quality Governance 
Steering Group; both groups provide 
oversight and leadership on all aspects 
of integrated governance and risk 
management and horizon scan for 
emerging risks.

Equality impact assessments
All Trust Corporate Policies include a 
separate Equality Impact assessment which 
is scrutinised by the relevant approving and 
ratifying Committees before the policy is 
published on the Trust Staffnet and external 
public website where appropriate.

Policies and services are considered to show if 
they have the potential to affect any one group 
more or less favourably than another, paying 
particular regard to people who share any 
of the following 9 protected characteristics* 
outlined in the Equality Act (2010):

•  Age
•  Sex / Gender
•  Disability
•  Race / Ethnicity
•  Religion or Belief
•  Sexual Orientation

•  Pregnancy and Maternity
•  Marriage and Civil Partnership
•  Gender Re-assignment

Assessments rated as having a high impact / 
high risk for the organisation to be reported 
through the Quality Governance Steering 
Group who may recommend that risks are 
added to the Corporate / Divisional Risk 
Registers as appropriate.

Control measures are in place to ensure 
that all the organisations’ obligations 
under equality, diversity and human rights 
legislation are complied with.

Incident reporting
Our vision is for a safety culture that is fully 
embedded and integral to our everyday 
business, where we lead the drive for 
improvements in patient safety through our 
patient safety work streams to achieve the 
best performance in everything we do. This is 
supported by encouraging incident reporting 
which we see as a barometer of an open and 
just culture of a learning organisation. 

Safe care is achieved through reliable and 
reproducible care processes: by delivering 
the right care to the right patient by 
the right person, with the right level of 
competence, within the right time and in 
the right environment. It is when one or 
more of these elements go wrong, through 
either a systems failure or due to human 
factors, which avoidable harm can occur. 
In reviewing our significant events it is still 
evident that often these are as a result of a 
series of errors or omissions. As part of this 
strategy we need to ensure that we have the 
appropriate safeguards in place to prevent 
such occurrence, underpinned by awareness 
of safety and training that addresses the 
contribution of human factors on safety. 

Sustainable improvement occurs when there 
are agreed priorities, measurement and focus 
supported by transformational leadership. 
Our patient safety strategy defines the 
trust priorities and focus; it identifies how 
success will be measured and determines the 
leadership skills required to drive this forward.  
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The three central themes of this strategy 
are to:

1. Develop a culture where patient safety is 
integral to every day business.

2. Deliver regulatory compliance, assurance 
and ensure learning occurs when things 
go wrong. 

3. Deliver the annual prioritised patient 
safety work streams.  

Risk Assessment
Risks are assessed on the basis of the 
likelihood of the risk occurring and the 
impact/consequence of its occurrence 
on the Trust’s/services objective(s). 
Consideration is also given to the controls 
and assurances in place to manage/mitigate 
the risk. The Trust uses a standardised risk 
assessment form across the organisation.  
This system is also embedded in Health & 
Safety Risk Assessments. 

Involving Public Stakeholders
The UHS Risk Management Policy and the 
Patient and Public Involvement Strategy 
both state the trust’s comitment to 
considering the needs of and engagement 
with key stakeholders, including:

•  Patients, relatives and carers
•  Specific service user interests and those 

of minority groups
•  Public e.g. via Links/HealthWatch Groups
•  Local authority representatives, Ministers 

and the Department of Health
•  Foundation Trust Members
•  Staff.

Risk aspects of stakeholder relationships 
inside/outside of the NHS include:

- Ways in which the behaviour of
   partners affects the Trust
- Ways in which our behaviour affects 
   the partners
- The risk priorities of partners
 - Wider societal interests. 

Patients, the public and key stakeholders 
are actively engaged and encouraged to 
participate in shaping the way in which 

services are provided, evaluated and 
developed. These activities ensure that risks 
are minimised, as services provided are fit 
for purpose, fulfil the needs of the local 
population, and service users and carers have 
influence over their own care. The range of 
patient and public involvement (PPI) activities 
undertaken also provides valuable feedback 
on patient satisfaction and experience. This 
information is used to continually improve 
the quality of services provided. 

The Trust continues to develop its PPI 
activities in line with its PPI Strategy and
• has a designated non-executive lead for 

PPI
• has revised its arrangements for the 

management of PPI
• has a number of well-established and 

active patient groups
• has a comprehensive programme of 

patient surveys in place
• has a lead executive role for PPI at a 

strategic level in the Director of Nursing.

The trust has over 20,000 members and 
strong partnerships have been formed with 
the Trust’s member’s council and the patient 
experience sub group of this council. A 
member’s council representative is part 
of the Patient Experience Steering Group, 
Essence of Care group and groups on 
catering and nutrition. 

The Trust has strong relationships with 
local LINks (local involvement networks) 
and Health OSCs (overview and scrutiny 
committees) and the Chair of the LINKs 
steering group is a member of the Quality 
Governance Steering Group. 

Both member’s council and LINKs 
representatives participate in the annual 
PEAT programme. Consultation via both 
of these groups and with other 
stakeholders is invaluable for proposed 
major service changes.

The Trust’s quality improvement 
priorities are set annually via the Patient 
Improvement Framework and in the Annual 
Business plan. These ensure the Trust sets 
priority improvement targets based on 
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feedback from surveys and PPI themes. 

PPI activities 1st October 2011 to 31st 
March 2012 have included:

• implementation of the Trust’s Patient 
Experience Strategy, monitored through 
quarterly patient experience reports to 
the Trust Board (currently under review)

• approval and implementation of a new 
PPI Strategy

• attendance of trust senior representatives 
at local Health Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee meetings, at LINks meetings 
and full consultation for all planned 
service changes. 

• building on excellent relationships with 
LINks, including visits to clinical areas. 
There is also involvement of members in 
other groups such as vulnerable adults, 
PEAT audits and standards of care. 

• close working with the member’s council 
sub group for patient experience and 
visits of this group’s members to 

 clinical areas
• PCT Commissioner assurance further 

enhanced through attendance at weekly 
matrons peer reviews

• increased the number of inpatients 
completing patient experience surveys 
every month and established additional 
mechanisms for patients to provide 
feedback and ensuring swift action and 
learning is under taken. 

• quarterly trust board reports detailing 
the themes form patient feedback and 
experience 

• development of a clinical quality 
dashboard accessible by front line clinical 
staff that can access quality metrics and 
patient experience data about their own 
clinical area and so effect local and more 
rapid change. 

• turnaround of complaints process and 
sustained achievement of complaints 
performance indicators, demonstrating 
improve complainant experience in terms 
of timeliness and quality of response

• provision of “listening clinics” to 
patients, relatives and carers the medicine 
for older people’s unit, for people with 
learning disabilities and their carers, and 
via the hospital discharge team.

• feedback events for hard to reach groups 
include the experiences of patients with 
learning disabilities and their carers. 

• partnership working with a 3rd sector 
organisation to survey the support 
provided to carers and development of 
a targeted action plan to improve carer’s 
experience of hospital and support 

 for discharge. 
• roll out an ‘Experience Based Design’ 

methodology to further capture patient 
feedback in clinical and outpatient areas.

Review of economy, efficiency 
and effectiveness of the use of 
resources
The Trust has the following arrangements 
to ensure economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness: 

Service Improvement
The Trust has an active and successful 
Service Improvement Team which is seeking 
to apply “lean” principles to engineer real 
changes and efficiencies in service provision, 
linked to the Patient Care Improvement 
Framework. The Team has got involved 
with a number of projects, overseen by 
a monthly Service Improvement Steering 
Group chaired by the Chief Executive with 
Director and divisional representation.

The Cost Improvement Programme
The Trust has a successful Cost 
Improvement Programme Management 
Office (PMO). A core team of 3 works 
with Divisions to identify monitor and 
deliver savings. There is a 3 year savings 
programme and in 2011/12 savings of over 
£25m have been delivered. 

Cost Improvement Programmes are 
reviewed for any impact on performance 
or occupancy. Performance is monitored at 
Divisional Performance reviews as well as a 
weekly CIP review meetings. 

Procurement efficiency plays an important 
part in delivering savings. Pro-cure, who 
provide the Trust’s strategic and operational 
procurement, are set challenging targets for 
savings each year.
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Service Line reporting and Patient 
Level Costing
For several years the Trust has produced 
service line reporting on an annual and now 
quarterly basis, to assess the profitability of 
each care group within the Trust. Over the 
last 2 years savings targets for each Division 
have been weighted to reflect comparative 
profitability. The Trust has implemented 
a Patient Level Costing (PLiCS) system, 
which provides timely, regular and accurate 
information on profitability at Divisional, care 
group and individual patient level. This data is 
used to identify areas of differing practice and 
areas of opportunity to improve profitability.

The Trust uses a number of indicators to 
monitor that it is efficient. Some of the key 
ones form part of the Trust’s Performance 
Management Framework, which is reported 
to the Board. The indicators include:

-  Better Care Better Value indicators
-  Reference Costs
-  Service Line reporting
-  Patient survey results
-  Estates indicators
-  CIP progress

The Trust Board and Trust Executive Committee 
regularly review the Trust’s performance in 
relation to principal risks to achievement of 
and controls in place to assist in the delivery 
of its key objectives and targets. The Board 
proactively seeks support in commissioning 
reviews, support and external assessments in 
order to improve its overall performance.

The Audit and Assurance Committee reviews 
the Trust’s systems of internal control, 
including the governance arrangements as 
part of the audit programme, assisting the 
Board with its responsibilities to strengthen 
and improve the effectiveness of the Board 
Assurance Framework.

Our Quality 
management systems 

Annual Quality Report
The Directors are required under the Health 
Act 2009 and the National Health Service 

(Quality Accounts) Regulations 2010 (as 
amended) to prepare Quality Accounts for 
each financial year. 

Monitor has issued guidance to NHS 
foundation trust boards on the form and 
content of annual Quality Reports which 
incorporate the above legal requirements in 
the NHS Foundation Trust Annual 
Reporting Manual.

Progress against each of our strategic 
objectives is reported to Trust Executive 
Committee and Trust Board quarterly.  
Supporting each of the strategic objectives 
are key priority measures of success, to 
help us assess our progress towards the 
2020Vision.  

For the strategic objective 1; Trusted on 
Quality, our measures of success are:

• Our NHS Litigation Authority rating
• Our compliance with the Care Quality 

Commission
• Progress in meeting our CQUIN standards
• Managing our bed capacity, and ensuring 

that we meet the Monitor compliance 
framework requirements.

These measures are reflected in the sections 
that follow.

How we monitor data and 
report on quality
We review the implementation status 
of all National Institute for Clinical 
Excellence (NICE) guidance, and National 
Confidential Enquiries (NCE) to risk assess 
any development areas at Southampton 
University Hospitals Trust, and take action to 
implement recommendations. 

There is regular reporting of our Hospital 
Standardised Mortality Rate (HSMR) to Trust 
Board. This is also a priority that has been 
identified for next year. 

We continue to support the use of clinical 
outcome data to assess and improve 
services with participation in national audits; 
the patient reported outcome measures 



120

University Hospital Southampton NHS Foundation Trust annual report and accounts 2011/12

programme (PROMS) as well as undertaking 
local audits to continue our cycle of quality 
improvement.

Our annual clinical effectiveness conference 
was held in November 2011, celebrating 
audits that have led to improved patient 
outcomes, safety and experience, with the 
NCEPOD (National Confidential Enquiry into 
Patient Outcome and Death) chief executive 
as keynote speaker.

The patient improvement framework 
focuses on patient safety, patient experience 
and patient clinical outcomes; the Trust 
sets improvement targets on the quality 
priorities each year. These common themes 
are also mirrored in the Trust’s committee 
structures and high level reporting practices. 
An integrated approach ensures that staff 
understanding of quality is embedded 
throughout the organisation and reflected 
in the Trust’s quality dashboards and key 
performance indicators.

Board engagement
Over the last year, the Trust Board has 
actively embedded the key components 
of quality into its approach and work 
programme development, for example 
through board development seminars; 
taking clinical visits to the divisions; 
talking to frontline staff and patients, 
and monitoring Trust compliance with 
the Clinical Quality Commission’s (CQC) 
‘Essential Standards of Quality and Safety’.

The Audit & Assurance Committee devotes 
half its agenda to quality issues which may 
require an in-depth review and scrutiny.

The board uses its ‘quality pyramid’ early 
alerts tool, which integrates financial and 
quality high level performance to ensure 
that effective management of financial 
resources does not have a negative impact 
on the delivery of a high quality service.

The Trust Board has reviewed the 
recommendations of nationally relevant 
external reports and publications for quality, 
and taken forward actions as appropriate.

Action for this year is to: 

•  further embed the program of executive 
quality walk-rounds;

•  develop a framework to provide patient 
stories at Trust Board, these are already in 
place in other trust groups;

•  tackle and report on the five areas that 
our patients say they feel we could 
improve;

•  further develop our integrated report 
on complaints, patient feedback and 
incidents quarterly for Trust Board;

•  continue to listen to patients and aim to 
surpass their expectations.

Board reports
The Trust Board gains assurance on quality 
in various ways, via: 

•  Board visits to divisions to review delivery 
of the quality agenda

•  the monthly key performance indicator 
(dashboard) quality report;

•  the rolling program of patient 
improvement framework reports 
covering: 

- patient experience / patient feedback /
  patient complaints
- patient safety
- clinical outcomes / effectiveness
- regulatory assurance 

In addition, the Audit & Assurance 
Committee and the Trust Executive 
Committee receive summaries from the 
Trust’s Quality Governance Steering 
Group (QGSG).

National Health Service 
Litigation Authority 
accreditation
The attainment of National Health 
Service Litigation Authority (NHSLA) Risk 
Management Standards, which embed 
safety into practice, is an important 
achievement for the Trust.  We met Level 
2 in maternity services in September 2010, 
and Level 3 (the highest level of assurance) 
for acute services, in December 2011.
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NHSLA is a national body which works to 
improve risk management practices in 
the NHS.

Our progress and top priorities 
for quality improvement in 
2011/12
This section discusses our progress in the 
priority areas we chose last year and the 
priorities we have chosen for 2012/13.

How we agree our priorities 
for quality improvement 
Deciding our priorities for improvement 
is a real team effort. The development of 
this account has been shared widely both 
within the Trust with our staff, and with our 
primary care Trust colleagues and community 
partners and other key stakeholders.

In March 2007 UHS Trust Board agreed a 
Patient Improvement Framework (PIF) and 
this framework continues to form the basis 
of our Quality Governance assurance.  

The PIF is updated and reviewed annually. It 
is designed to reflect a prioritised approach 
to quality. In addition to our own patient 
and staff feedback to inform our top 
issues for patient quality of care, it includes 
reference to national drivers, for example, 
Lord Darzi’s ‘High quality Care for All’ 
command paper and the Department of 
Health Outcomes Framework.  It is also 
prioritised to the local community quality 
priorities included in our PCT commissioner 
contract and to our own risk register and 
assurance framework. 

Communication is a key overarching theme 
that we continue to work on with our staff 
and patients. The patient improvement 
framework update reflects the staff feedback 
we received during the development of 
the Quality Account. To determine these 
priorities, we began consulting with our staff 
in November 2011. 

Some further detail about how we have 
listened to our patient feedback and used 
this to support the development of our 

priorities for 2012/13 is included in Part 3 of 
the Quality Account.

We assessed each initiative in terms of: 
• impact on quality, considering the 

improvement in safety, outcomes and 
experience

• feasibility, as a reflection of the ease of 
implementation, resources required and 
likely time to completion or delivery.  

• previous performance
• any national drivers/ national audits
• priority to patients

NHS Pensions
As an employer with staff entitled to 
membership of the NHS Pension Scheme, 
control measures are in place to ensure 
all employer obligations contained within 
the Scheme regulations are complied with. 
This includes ensuring that deductions 
from salary, employer’s contributions 
and payments into the Scheme are in 
accordance with the Scheme rules, and 
that member Pension Scheme records are 
accurately updated in accordance with the 
timescales detailed in the Regulations.

Carbon Reduction
The foundation trust has undertaken 
risk assessments and Carbon Reduction 
Delivery Plans are in place in accordance 
with emergency preparedness and civil 
contingency requirements, as based on 
UKCIP 2009 weather projects, to ensure 
that this organisation’s obligations under 
the Climate Change Act and the Adaptation 
Reporting requirements are complied with.

Review of effectiveness
As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for 
reviewing the effectiveness of the system of 
internal control. My review of the effectiveness 
of the system of internal control is informed 
by the work of the internal auditors, clinical 
audit and the executive managers and clinical 
leads within the NHS foundation trust that 
have responsibility for the development 
and maintenance of the internal control 
framework. I have drawn on the content of 
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the quality report attached to this Annual 
report and other performance information 
available to me. My review is also informed 
by comments made by the external auditors 
in their management letter and other reports. 
I have been advised on the implications of 
the result of my review of the effectiveness 
of the system of internal control by the Trust 
Board, the Audit & Assurance Committee, 
Trust Executive Committee and Quality 
Governance Scrutiny Group, and a plan to 
address weaknesses and ensure continuous 
improvement of the system is in place.

The Trust Board, Trust Executive Committee 
and the Audit and Assurance Committee 
have been actively engaged in the ongoing 
development of the Board Assurance 
Framework, and the CQC Essential 
standards of Quality and Safety ongoing 
compliance assessment. These bodies will 
continue to shape the iterative development 
of the Board Assurance Framework for 
2012/13 and undertake regular reviews of 
the risks and the action plans in place to 
address gaps in controls and/or assurance.  

The Trust Board and Trust Executive 
Committee regularly review the Trust’s 
performance in relation to principal risks 
to the achievement of and the controls 
in place to assist in the delivery of its 
key objectives and targets. The Board 
proactively seeks support in commissioning 
reviews, support and external assessments 
in order to improve its overall performance.

The Audit and Assurance Committee review 
the Trust’s systems of internal control, 
including the governance arrangements as 
part of the audit programme, assisting the 
Board with its responsibilities to strengthen 
and improve the effectiveness of the Board 
Assurance Framework. 

The Quality Governance Steering Group 
(QGSG) ensures that there is an annual 
comprehensive programme of quality 
improvement for the care of patients, 
reporting on a regular basis to the Trust 
Board and Trust Executive Committee 
on the full range of its activities. The 
Committee also ensures that clear lines 

of governance accountability exist within 
the Trust for the overall quality of clinical 
care. Its role has been strengthened during 
2011/12 with further development of the 
Trust’s Patient Safety Steering Group and 
Significant Incident Scrutiny Group both of 
which report into QGSG and assist with the 
comprehensive management of the Trust’s 
safety issues. The scope and membership 
of the QGSG supporting feeder groups is 
subject to regular review.

The Governance & Risk, Patient Safety and 
Patient Experience Departments ensure that 
there is a range of information, training 
and promotion to facilitate and support 
staff awareness of risk and safety 
management activities.
 
A nominated Local Counter Fraud Specialist 
with a remit of building a strong anti-fraud 
culture throughout the organisation is 
commissioned and provides regular reports 
to the Director of Finance and the Audit 
and Assurance Committee

In addition, my review of the effectiveness 
of the systems of internal control has 
taken account of the work of the Executive 
Management Team within the organisation, 
members of which have responsibility for 
the development and maintenance of the 
internal control framework within their 
discrete portfolios

As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility 
for reviewing the effectiveness of the 
system of internal control. My review is 
informed in a number of ways. The Head 
of Internal Audit provides me with an 
opinion on the overall arrangements for 
gaining assurance through the Assurance 
Framework and on the controls reviewed as 
part of Internal Audit’s work.  

For the period 1st October 2011 to 31st 
March 2012 the Head of Internal Audit 
Opinion states:

My overall opinion is that:

There is a sound system of internal control 
which is designed to meet the Trust’s 
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objectives and that controls are being 
consistently applied in all the areas reviewed. 

There is a generally sound system of internal 
control, designed to meet the Trust’s 
objectives, and that controls are generally 
being applied consistently. However, 
some weaknesses in the design and / or 
inconsistent application of controls, puts the 
achievement of particular objectives at risk. 

Using the terminology set out in the 
Department of Health guidance to Heads of 
Internal Audit, this opinion would equate to 
“Significant Assurance”

External Audit Opinion
The External Audit Opinion work is now 
completed.

Executive Directors and managers within 
the organisation who have responsibility 
for the development and maintenance of 
the system of internal control provide me 
with assurance. The Assurance Framework 
itself provides me with evidence that the 
effectiveness of controls that manage the 
risks to the organisation achieving its principal 
objectives have been reviewed. My review is 
also informed by performance and financial 
reports to the Trust Board, including: 

• Quality Governance reports (Regulatory 
Assurance, Patient Safety, Patient Experience 
and Clinical Outcomes) to the Audit & 
Assurance Committee and Trust Board

• CQC Essential Standards of Quality and 
Safety  Registration without conditions 

• General NHSLA Level 3 Accreditation  - 
December 2011

• Maternity NHSLA Level 2  Accreditation – 
September 2010

• Patient Environment Action Teams 
 (PEAT) inspection
• External assessments/assurances e.g. 
 SHA reviews
• National Picker - Patient & Staff Surveys
• Regulatory reports
• Trust Quality Account
• Internal Audit reports
• Information Governance Toolkit compliance 

Serious Incidents Requiring 
Investigation (SIRIs)
The Trust is required to report SIRIs and 
Never Events to their main commissioners, 
South Central SHA and the National Patient 
Safety Agency via the National Reporting 
Learning System. 

From 1st October 2011 until 31st March 
2012 there has been one ‘never event, 
reported which is summarised below: 
 
Retained swab post operation. The root 
causes of the incident were found to be a 
failure to complete second swab, instrument 
and needle count prior to commencement 
of skin closure and a failure to complete final 
count prior to reversal of anaesthesia.

Actions undertaken to mitigate future 
incidents are: 

• Re-iteration to all theatre teams 
and theatre users that the operative 
procedure must not be completed before 
final confirmation of instrument, needle 
and swab count. 

• Audits of WHO surgical checklists in all 
theatres to ensure sustained compliance. 

• Where theatre team staffing is 
compromised, teams have been 
empowered to declare a ‘vulnerable 
status’ to re-emphasise the need to slow 
down and implement a formal change in 
practice (sequential completion)

The investigation findings have been shared 
with the patient. 

Conclusion
One significant internal control issues has been 
identified, as outlined in the Annual Governance 
Statement under the section ‘Serious Incidents 
Requiring Investigation above’.

Signed 

Mark Hackett, Chief executive
29 May 2012
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The Trust has 
prepared these 
accounts for the 
second six months 
to 31 March 2012, 
under a direction 
from Monitor, the 
Trust’s regulator, 
following its 
authorisation as an 
NHS Foundation 
Trust from 1 
October 2011.

Conditions were challenging for the Trust as 
the resourcing constraints in the local health 
economy continued to have an impact. 

The Trust delivered a pre-impairment surplus 
of £3.9m, an improvement on the loss of 
£1.9m experienced in the first six months 
of the financial year. The pre-impairment 
surplus or deficit is one of the primary 
factors on which the Trust’s financial 
performance is assessed.  The surplus 
included a £2.1m benefit from recognising 
the value of incomplete patient spells.  This 
is, in effect, a “one time” benefit from 
changing its accounting policy.

Post impairments, the Trust delivered a loss 
of £2m, compared to a post impairment 
surplus of £1.6m in the six months to 
30 September 2011. Under NHS Trust 
asset valuation methodology the Trust 
experienced an upward revaluation in 
its fixed assets in the six months to 30 
September 2011 however following 
authorisation as a foundation trust an 
amended methodology has been applied 
resulting in a significant impairment in the 
post – authorisation six months ended 31 
March 2012.
 
The Trust received significantly more income 
from its commissioners than planned as 
activity management plans agreed with 
the Trust’s commissioners failed to deliver 
to the extent anticipated and the Trust 
accordingly undertook significant levels of 
unplanned clinical activity at premium rates. 
Delivery of cost improvement programmes 
was challenging and although the Trust did 
deliver over £26million of savings in the 
full 12 months to 31 March 2012, it still 
fell short of its planned savings target for 
the year by £1.5m. In the six month period 
since authorisation as a foundation trust, 
the Trust did, however, deliver slightly more 
savings than planned.

Total capital expenditure for the period was 
£12.1m, across a variety of schemes. The 
programme sought to achieve a balance 

between maintaining and replenishing 
the asset infrastructure, reducing risk, 
improving the patient experience and 
facilitating new and improved services. The 
levels of capital expenditure will continue 
at relatively modest levels given the Trust’s 
constrained liquidity.

The Trust’s net assets employed at 31 
March 2012 were £244m. The Trust had 
net current liabilities at that date of £5.9m. 
Outstanding borrowings, relating to loans 
from the Department of Health, finance 
leases and the Trust’s privately financed 
energy scheme, totalled £38.3m.  Cash 
balances were £29.5m at the period end 
and the Trust had a £39m committed 
working capital facility in place.

The Trust delivered a satisfactory financial 
risk rating (FRR) of 3 (out of 5, where 1 
is very high risk and 5 very low risk), was 
at all times compliant with its prudential 
borrowing limit and its private patient 
income was within the level specified in the 
statutory cap.

The Trust is planning a pre-impairment 
surplus of £6.0m for the next financial year, 
which whilst an improvement on 2011/12 
will not enable the Trust to significantly 
improve its liquidity position. Liquidity 
(the amount of cash and working capital 
available to the Trust) continues to be a 
significant risk, not least as it is one of 
the key metrics by which Monitor, The 
foundation trust regulator, assesses the 
Trust’s financial risk rating. Although the 
Trust is forecasting a satisfactory risk rating 
of “3” for each quarter of the next financial 
year, this will require delivery of a cost 
improvement programme of over £23m 
as well as cost savings relating to activity 
management of £6m. Encouragingly, 
however, the there is a relatively high 
level of identification of the 2012/13 cost 
improvement programme. Should activity 
management not occur at planned levels 
the Trust will receive payment at marginal 
rates from its main commissioners, therebv 

Finance director’s review
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helping to mitigate the risk relating to 
activity management cost savings.

The NHS faces significant challenges as it 
seeks to deliver major efficiencies against 
a background of minimal real terms 
funding growth in order to meet ongoing 
increases in demand for its services. For this 
Trust this is compounded by affordability 
constraints within the local health economy. 
Furthermore, following the Department of 
Health’s review of education and training 
funding the Trust is facing a potential 
significant loss of education funding over 
the next few years. The key to financial 
health and the Trust’s ability to continue to 
provide high quality services will therefore 
be successful delivery of savings plans. 

The Trust has a good track record of 
delivering these plans whilst maintaining 
and improving quality to meet the needs of 
patients, staff and the public.

The directors have a reasonable expectation 
that the Trust has adequate resources to 
continue in operational existence for the 
foreseeable future. For this reason, they 
continue to adopt the going concern basis 
in preparing the accounts.

Alastair Matthews
Director of finance and investment
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The NHS Act 2006 
states that the 
chief executive is 
the accounting 
officer of the NHS 
foundation trust. 

The relevant responsibilities of the 
accounting officer, including their 
responsibility for the propriety and regularity 
of public finances for which they are 
answerable, and for the keeping of proper 
accounts, are set out in the NHS Foundation 
Trust Accounting Officer Memorandum 
issued by the Independent Regulator of 
NHS Foundation Trusts (“Monitor”).

Under the NHS Act 2006, Monitor has 
directed University Hospital Southampton 
NHS foundation trust to prepare for each 
financial year a statement of accounts 
in the form and on the basis set out in 
the Accounts Direction. The accounts are 
prepared on an accruals basis and must give 
a true and fair view of the state of affairs 
of University Hospital Southampton NHS 
Foundation Trust and of its income and 
expenditure, total recognised gains and 
losses and cash flows for the financial year.

In preparing the accounts, the Accounting 
Officer is required to comply with the 
requirements of the NHS Foundation Trust 
Annual Reporting Manual and in particular to:

• Observe the Accounts Direction issued 
by Monitor, including the relevant 
accounting and disclosure requirements, 
and apply suitable accounting policies on 
a consistent basis;

• Make judgements and estimates on a 
reasonable basis;

• State whether applicable accounting 
standard as set out in the NHS 
Foundation Trust Annual Reporting 
Manual have been followed, and disclose 
and explain any material departures in 
the financial statements; and

• Prepare the financial statements on a 
going concern basis.

The accounting officer is responsible 
for keeping proper accounting records 
which disclose with reasonable accuracy 
at any time the financial position of the 
NHS foundation trust and to enable him 
/ her to ensure that the accounts comply 
with requirements outlined in the above 
mentioned Act. The Accounting Officer 
is also responsible for safeguarding the 
assets of the NHS foundation trust and 
hence for taking reasonable steps for the 
prevention and detection of fraud and other 
irregularities.

To the best of my knowledge and belief, I 
have properly discharged the responsibilities 
set out in Monitor’s NHS Foundation Trust 
Accounting Officer Memorandum.

Signed

Chief executive     
29 May 2012

Statement of the chief executive’s 
responsibilities as the accounting officer 
of University Hospital Southampton NHS 
Foundation Trust. 
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Financial summary 

EBITDA margin – Earnings Before Interest, 
Taxation, Depreciation and Amortisation,
expressed as a percentage of turnover.

EBITDA % achieved – The extent to which 
EBITDA is in line with Plan.

Return on Assets – EBITDA (less 
depreciation charges) expressed as a 
percentage of average relevant net assets.

Income and Expenditure Surplus 
margin – Net surplus or loss expressed as a 
percentage of turnover

Liquid ratio (days) – Trust liquidity (cash 
and working capital) plus committed 
working capital facilities expressed as the 
number of days’ operating expenses this 
represents.

In the Trust’s first six months as a 
foundation trust, it delivered an overall 
financial risk rating of ‘3’.

Activity management – Actions 
taken by primary care trusts (PCTs), NHS 
trusts and GP practices to moderate the 
demand for health care services. Hospital 
activity management refers to actions 
taken to moderate the rate of referrals or 
admission of patients to hospitals.

Amortisation – A charge to expenditure 
reflecting the reduction in value of a 
leased asset.

Capital cost absorption rate – the Trust 
is required to absorb the cost of capital at a 
rate of 3.5% of average relevant net assets.  
A dividend of this amount has to be paid to 
the Department of Health each year.

Capital expenditure – Expenditure 
to acquire fixed assets, usually land, 
buildings and equipment.

Creditors – Money owed by the Trust 
including any loans repayable to the 
Department of Health.

Current assets – These are assets that 
are expected to be converted to cash 
within one year, used to maintain day-
to-day operations. They include cash, 
debtors and stocks.

Current Liabilities – these are amounts 
owed by the trust for settlement within 
the next year. They include creditors and 
taxation / pension costs.

Debtors – Money owed to the Trust at 
the Balance Sheet date.

Deficit – The amount by which 
expenditure exceeds income.

Depreciation – a method of allocating 
the cost of a non-current asset over its 
useful life, by making a charge against 
expenditure each year.

EBITDA margin – Earnings Before 
Interest, Taxation, Depreciation and 
Amortisation, expressed as a percentage 
of turnover.

EBITDA % achieved – The extent to 
which EBITDA is in line with Plan.

Impairments – Reductions in the 
valuation of the Trust’s non-current assets 
due to obsolescence, usage or changed 
economic conditions.

Financial statements
Monitor measures 
NHS trusts’ financial 
performance based 
on a risk rating that 
contains the
following elements:

Finance jargon buster
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Income and Expenditure Surplus 
margin – Net surplus or loss expressed as 
a percentage of turnover.

Liabilities – Amounts owed by the Trust. 

Liquid ratio (days) – Trust liquidity 
(cash and working capital) expressed as a 
number of days’ operating expenses.

Net relevant assets – All of the assets 
employed by the Trust excluding donated 
assets and cash held in the Government 
Banking Service.

Non-current assets – Those assets 
held for continuing use in the business. 
Tangible fixed assets include: land, 
buildings, dwellings, assets under 
construction, plant and machinery, 
transport equipment, IT and furniture 
and fittings. Intangible non-current assets 
include software licenses, trademarks, 
patents and research and development 
expenditure.

Operating activities – The day-to-day 
activities of the Trust, excluding capital 
expenditure and financing.

Operating expenses – All operating 
costs including staff, supplies, premises 
costs and services from other NHS and 
non NHS bodies.

Operating surplus/deficit – The operating 
surplus/deficit is equivalent to the operating 
profit/loss in the private sector. It is the 
surplus/deficit before financing costs 
(interest and dividends) are deducted.

Public Dividend Capital – At the 
formation of NHS trusts, assets (land, 
buildings, equipment and working capital) 
transferred to the new trusts. The value 
of these assets is in effect the public’s 
equity stake in the trust and is known as 
Public Dividend Capital (PDC). It is similar 
to company share capital and as with 
company shares, a dividend is payable to 
the Department of Health. It is calculated 
at 3.5% of average net relevant assets.

Return on Assets – EBITDA (less 
depreciation charges) expressed as a 
percentage of average relevant net assets.

Surplus – The amount by which income 
exceeds expenditure.
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Foreword to the Accounts
These accounts for the period to 31 March 
2012, have been prepared by University
Hospital Southampton NHS Foundation 
Trust in accordance with paragraphs
24 and 25 of Schedule 7 to the National 
Health Services Act 2006, in the form which

Monitor (the Independent Regulator of NHS 
Foundation Trusts) has directed.

Mark Hackett, Chief executive
29th May 2012

University Hospital Southampton NHS 
Foundation Trust – Accounts for period to 
31 March 2012
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Six months 
ended 31 

March 2012

NOTE £000

     Operating income from continuing operations 3.1 277,447

     Operating expenses of continuing operations 4 (275,546)

OPERATING SURPLUS  1,901

FINANCE COSTS   

     Finance income 8 41

     Finance expense - financial liabilities 9 (630)

     PDC Dividends payable   (3,319)

NET FINANCE COSTS  (3,908)

Deficit from continuing operations  (2,007)

DEFICIT FOR THE YEAR  (2,007)

Other comprehensive income  

     Impairments  (1,528)

     Revaluations  354

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE EXPENSE FOR THE PERIOD  (3,181)

  

Reported NHS financial performance position (adjusted retained surplus)  

 

Retained (deficit) for the period (2,007)

Impairments charged to Statement of Comprehensive Income 4 5,870

Reported NHS financial performance position-adjusted retained surplus  3,863

Statement of comprehensive income for the 
period ended 31 March 2012

The above Statement of Comprehensive Income and Expenditure is for a part year period, from 1st October 
2011 to 31 March 2012. These accounts do not have comparative figures as the Trust was authorised as an NHS 
Foundation Trust on 1 October 2011 and the University Hospital Southampton NHS Foundation Trust became a 
legal entity from that date.

All income and expenditure is derived from continuing operations. 

The notes on pages 137 to 169 form part of these accounts.
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Statement of financial position 
at 31 March 2012

31 March 
2012

1 October 
2011

NOTE £000 £000

Non-current assets    

     Intangible assets 11 7,074 7,046

     Property, plant and equipment 12 275,688 280,797

     Trade and other receivables 16 2,244 2,042

     Total non-current assets 285,006 289,885

Current assets   

     Inventories 15 12,306 11,897

     Trade and other receivables 16 20,954 27,220

     Cash and cash equivalents 18 29,540 5,327

     Total current assets 62,800 44,444

Current liabilities   

     Trade and other payables 19 (53,374) (45,140) 

     Borrowings 20 (6,277) (5,370) 

     Provisions 23 (537) (477) 

     Other liabilities 22 (8,465) (6,941) 

     Total current liabilities (68,653) (57,928)

  

Total assets less current liabilities 279,153 276,401

     Trade and other payables 19 (210) (307) 

     Borrowings 20 (31,986) (25,967) 

     Provisions 23 (2,817) (3,118) 

     Other liabilities 22 (166) 0

     Total non-current liabilities (35,179) (29,392)

Total assets employed 243,974 247,009

     Public Dividend Capital 185,351 185,182

     Revaluation reserve 25 23,770 25,169

     Income and expenditure reserve 34,853 36,658

Total taxpayers' equity 243,974 247,009

The financial statements on pages 133 to 169 were approved by the Board on 29 May 2012 
and signed on its behalf by:

Signed: …………………………………(chief executive)

The notes on pages 137 to 169 form part of these accounts.
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Public 
Dividend 

Capital

Revaluation 
Reserve

Income and 
Expenditure 

Reserve

Total

£000 £000 £000 £000

Balance at start of period 185,182 25,169 36,658 247,009

(Deficit) for the period 0 0 (2,007) (2,007)

Transfers between reserves 0 (225) 225 0

Impairments 0 (1,528) 0 (1,528)

Revaluations - property, plant and equipment 0 354 0 354

Public Dividend Capital received 169 0 0 169

Other reserve movements 0 0 (23) (23)

Taxpayers' Equity at 31 March 2012 185,351 23,770 34,853 243,974

Statement of changes in taxpayers’ equity 
for the six months ended 31 March 2012

The notes on pages 137 to 169 form part of these accounts.
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Six months 
ended 31 

March 2012

NOTE £000

Cash flows from operating activities

     Operating surplus from continuing operations 1,901

Non-cash income and expense:

     Depreciation and amortisation 11/12 10,133

     Impairments and losses on disposal 10 5,876

     Interest accrued and not paid 9 (12)

     Dividends accrued and not paid or received 556

     Decrease in Trade and Other Receivables 16 6,064

     (Increase) in Inventories 15 (409)

     Increase in Trade and Other Payables 19 6,464

     Increase in Other Liabilities 22 1,690

     (Decrease) in Provisions 23 (265)

NET CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS 31,998

Cash flows from investing activities

     Interest received 8 41

     Purchase of intangible assets 11 (1,055)

     Purchase of Property, Plant and Equipment 12 (9,295)

Net cash generated (used in) investing activities (10,309)

Cash flows from  financing activities

     Public dividend capital received 169

     Loans received from the Department of Health 20 10,000

     Loans repaid to the Department of Health 20 (1,685)

     Other loans repaid 20 (8)

     Capital element of finance lease rental payments (1,358)

     Capital element of Private Finance Initiative Obligations (102)

     Interest paid 9 (435)

     Interest element of finance lease 9 (116)

     Interest element of Private Finance Initiative obligations 9 (66)

     PDC Dividend paid (3,875)

Net cash generated from financing activities 2,524

Increase in cash and cash equivalents 24,213

Cash and Cash equivalents at 1 October 2011 5,327

Cash and Cash equivalents at 31 March 2012 29,540

Statement of cash flows for the six months 
ended 31 March 2012

The notes on pages 137 to 169 form part of these accounts.
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Southampton 
University Hospitals 
NHS Trust became 
a Foundation Trust 
on 1st October 
2011. At that date 
the organisation 
became known as 
University Hospital 
Southampton NHS 
Foundation Trust 
and all balances 
were transferred 
to this new 
organisation. The 
first accounts of 
University Hospital 
Southampton 
NHS Foundation 
Trust have been 
prepared for the six 
months to 31 March 
2012. As a new 
organisation, there 
are no prior year 
comparators.

Accounting Policies
Monitor has directed that the financial 
statements of NHS foundation trusts shall 
meet the accounting requirements of the 
Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual 
(FT ARM) which shall be agreed with HM 
Treasury. Consequently, the following 
financial statements have been prepared 
in accordance with the FT ARM 2011/12 
issued by Monitor. The accounting policies 
contained in that manual follow International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and 
HM Treasury’s Financial Reporting Manual 
(FReM) to the extent that they are meaningful 
and appropriate to NHS foundation trusts. 
The accounting policies have been applied 
consistently in dealing with items considered 
material in relation to the accounts.

Accounting convention
These accounts have been prepared under 
the historical cost convention modified to 
account for the revaluation of property, 
plant and equipment, intangible assets, 
inventories and certain financial assets and 
financial liabilities.

1.1    Income
Income in respect of services provided is 
recognised when, and to the extent that, 
performance occurs and is measured at the 
fair value of the consideration receivable. 
The main source of income for the trust is 
contracts with commissioners in respect of 
healthcare services.

Revenue from patient care spells that 
are part completed at the year end are 
apportioned across financial years on the 
basis of the number of occupied bed days 
and an average cost per bed day.

Where income is received for a specific activity 
which is to be delivered in the following 
financial year, that income is deferred.

Income from the sale of non-current assets is 
recognised only when all material conditions 
of sale have been met, and is measured as 
the sums due under the sale contract.

The Trust receives income under the NHS 
Injury Cost Recovery Scheme, designed 
to reclaim the cost of treating injured 
individuals to whom personal injury 
compensation has subsequently been paid 
e.g. by an insurer. The Trust recognises the 
income when it receives notification from 
the Department of Work and Pension’s 
Compensation Recovery Unit that the 
individual has lodged a compensation claim. 
The income is measured at the agreed tariff 
for the treatments provided to the injured 
individual, less a provision for unsuccessful 
compensation claims and doubtful debts.

The Trust sells some goods, such as drugs, 
to other NHS Trusts. Income is recognised 
on delivery of the goods to the customer.

Grants and donations are recognised as 
income on receipt. Where the funder 
imposes a condition that the grant or 
donation must be used to acquire or 
construct an asset the income is deferred 
until that asset is brought into use.

1.2    Expenditure on employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits
Salaries, wages and employment-related 
payments are recognised in the period 
in which the service is received from 
employees. The cost of annual leave 
entitlement earned but not taken by 
employees at the end of the period is 
recognised in the financial statements to 
the extent that employees are permitted 
to carry-forward leave into the 
following period.

Pension costs
NHS Pension Scheme
Past and present employees are covered by 
the provisions of the NHS Pension Scheme. 
The scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit 
scheme that covers NHS employers, general 
practices and other bodies, allowed under 
the direction of Secretary of State, in 
England and Wales. It is not possible for the 
NHS foundation trust to identify its share of 
the underlying scheme liabilities. Therefore, 

Notes to the accounts
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the scheme is accounted for as a defined 
contribution scheme.

Employers’ pension cost contributions are 
charged to operating expenses as and 
when they become due. Additional pension 
liabilities arising from early retirements are 
not funded by the scheme except where 
the retirement is due to ill-health. The full 
amount of the liability for the additional 
costs is charged to the operating expenses 
at the time the trust commits itself to the 
retirement, regardless of the method of 
payment.

1.3     Expenditure on other goods 
and services
Expenditure on goods and services is 
recognised when, and to the extent that 
they have been received, and is measured at 
the fair value of those goods and services. 
Expenditure is recognised in operating 
expenses except where it results in the 
creation of a non-current asset such as 
property, plant and equipment.

1.4     Property, plant and equipment
Recognition
Property, plant and equipment is 
capitalised where: 
•  it is held for use in delivering services or 

for administrative purposes; 
•  it is probable that future economic 

benefits will flow to, or service potential 
be provided to, the trust; 

•  it is expected to be used for more than 
one financial year; and 

•  the cost of the item can be measured 
reliably. the item has a cost of at least 
£5,000 or 

•  collectively, a number of items have a 
cost of at least £5,000 and individually 
have a cost of more than £250, 
where the assets are functionally 
interdependent, they had broadly 
simultaneous purchase dates, are 
anticipated to have simultaneous disposal 
dates and are under single managerial 
control. Assets that individually have 
a cost of less than £250 may be 
aggregated where the total is significant 
in the presentation of the financial 
position as in the case of theatre 

instruments. Following a review against 
IAS16 (Property, Plant & Equipment) 
it has been concluded that as theatre 
instruments both deliver future economic 
benefits to the Trust and IAS 16 proposes 
in some circumstances the aggregating 
of individually insignificant items and 
applying the criteria to the aggregated 
value, this policy remains appropriate. 
The value of theatre instruments 
capitalised in the period to 1 October 
2011 to 31 March 2012 under this policy 
was £552k; 

•  or items form part of the initial equipping 
and setting-up cost of a new building, 
ward or unit, irrespective of their 
individual or collective cost.

Where a large asset, for example a building, 
includes a number of components with 
significantly different asset lives e.g. plant 
and equipment, then these components are 
treated as separate assets and depreciated 
over their own useful economic lives.

Measurement
Valuation
All property, plant and equipment assets 
are measured initially at cost, representing 
the costs directly attributable to acquiring 
or constructing the asset and bringing it to 
the location and condition necessary for it 
to be capable of operating in the manner 
intended by management.

All assets are measured subsequently at 
fair value.

Land and buildings used for the Trust’s 
services or for administrative purposes are 
stated in the statement of financial position 
at their revalued amounts, being the fair 
value at the date of revaluation less any 
subsequent accumulated depreciation 
and impairment losses. Revaluations are 
performed with sufficient regularity to 
ensure that carrying amounts are not 
materially different from those that would 
be determined at the end of the reporting 
period. Fair values are determined as 
follows:
•  Land and non-specialised buildings – 

market value for existing use
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•  Specialised buildings – depreciated 
replacement cost

Until 31 March 2008, the depreciated 
replacement cost of specialised buildings 
was estimated for an exact replacement 
of the asset in its present location. HM 
Treasury has adopted a standard approach 
to depreciated replacement cost valuations 
based on modern equivalent assets 
and, where it would meet the location 
requirements of the service being provided, 
an alternative site can be valued.

A full revaluation was carried out as at 31 
March 2010; an interim valuation must 
be carried out within 3 years of that date 
and a full valuation within 5 years. For 
2011-12 the District Valuer undertook a 
desktop valuation (which would satisfy the 
criteria for an interim valuation). On the 
advice of the District Valuer there has been 
no change in the valuation basis of non 
specialised buildings and land.

Properties in the course of construction 
for service or administration purposes are 
carried at cost, less any impairment loss. 
Cost includes professional fees but not 
borrowing costs, which are recognised as 
expenses immediately, as allowed by IAS 
23 for assets held at fair value. Assets are 
revalued and depreciation commences 
when they are brought into use.

Until 31 March 2008, fixtures and 
equipment were carried at replacement 
cost, as assessed by indexation and 
depreciation of historic cost. From 1 April 
2008 indexation has ceased. The carrying 
value of existing assets at that date will be 
written off over their remaining useful lives 
and new fixtures and equipment are carried 
at depreciated historic cost as this is not 
considered to be materially different from 
fair value.

Subsequent expenditure
Subsequent expenditure relating to an 
item of property, plant and equipment is 
recognised as an increase in the carrying 
amount of the asset when it is probable 
that additional future economic benefits 

or service potential deriving from the cost 
incurred to replace a component of such 
item will flow to the enterprise and the cost 
of the item can be determined reliably.

Where a component of an asset is replaced, 
the cost of the replacement is capitalised if 
it meets the criteria for recognition above. 
The carrying amount of the part replaced is 
de-recognised. Other expenditure that does 
not generate additional future economic 
benefits or service potential, such as 
repairs and maintenance, is charged to the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income in the 
period in which it is incurred.

Depreciation
Items of property, plant and equipment 
are depreciated over their remaining useful 
economic lives in a manner consistent 
with the consumption of economic or 
service delivery benefits. Freehold land is 
considered to have an infinite life and is not 
depreciated.

Property, plant and equipment which has 
been reclassified as ‘Held for Sale’ ceases 
to be depreciated upon the reclassification. 
Assets in the course of construction and 
residual interests in off-Statement of 
Financial Position PFI contract assets are not 
depreciated until the asset is brought into 
use or reverts to the trust, respectively.

Revaluation gains and losses
Revaluation gains are recognised in the 
revaluation reserve, except where, and to 
the extent that, they reverse a revaluation 
decrease that has previously been recognised 
in operating expenses, in which case they are 
recognised in operating income.

Revaluation losses are charged to the 
revaluation reserve to the extent that 
there is an available balance for the asset 
concerned, and thereafter are charged to 
operating expenses.

Gains and losses recognised in the 
revaluation reserve are reported in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income as an 
item of ‘other comprehensive income’.
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Impairments
In accordance with the FT ARM, 
impairments that are due to a loss of 
economic benefits or service potential in the 
asset are charged to operating expenses. 
A compensating transfer is made from 
the revaluation reserve to the income and 
expenditure reserve of an amount equal to 
the lower of (i) the impairment charged to 
operating expenses; and (ii) the balance in 
the revaluation reserve attributable to that 
asset before the impairment.

An impairment arising from a loss of 
economic benefit or service potential is 
reversed when, and to the extent that, 
the circumstances that gave rise to the 
loss is reversed. Reversals are recognised 
in operating income to the extent that the 
asset is restored to the carrying amount 
it would have had if the impairment had 
never been recognised. Any remaining 
reversal is recognised in the revaluation 
reserve. Where, at the time of the original 
impairment, a transfer was made from 
the revaluation reserve to the income 
and expenditure reserve, an amount is 
transferred back to the revaluation reserve 
when the impairment reversal is recognised.

Other impairments are treated as revaluation 
losses. Reversals of ‘other impairments’ are 
treated as revaluation gains.

De-recognition
Assets intended for disposal are reclassified 
as ‘Held for Sale’ once all of the following 
criteria are met: 
•  the asset is available for immediate sale 

in its present condition subject only to 
terms which are usual and customary for 
such sales; 

•  the sale must be highly probable i.e.: 
management are committed to a plan to 
sell the asset; 

•  an active programme has begun to find a 
buyer and complete the sale; 

•  the asset is being actively marketed at a 
reasonable price; 

•  the sale is expected to be completed 
within 12 months of the date of 
classification as ‘Held for Sale’; and 

•  the actions needed to complete the plan 

indicate it is unlikely that the plan will 
 be dropped or significant changes made 

to it.

Following reclassification, the assets are 
measured at the lower of their existing 
carrying amount and their ‘fair value less costs 
to sell’. Depreciation ceases to be charged. 
Assets are de-recognised when all material 
sale contract conditions have been met.

Property, plant and equipment which is 
to be scrapped or demolished does not 
qualify for recognition as ‘Held for Sale’ and 
instead is retained as an operational asset 
and the asset’s economic life is adjusted. 
The asset is de-recognised when scrapping 
or demolition occurs.

Donated, government grant and other 
grant funded assets
Donated and grant funded property, plant 
and equipment assets are capitalised at 
their fair value on receipt. The donation/
grant is credited to income at the same 
time, unless the donor has imposes a 
condition that the future economic benefits 
embodied in the grant are to be consumed 
in a manner specified by the donor, in 
which case the donation/grant is deferred 
within liabilities and is carried forward to 
future financial years to the extent that the 
condition has not yet been met.

The donated and grant funded assets are 
subsequently accounted for in the same 
manner as other items of property, plant 
and equipment.

Private Finance Initiative (PFI) 
transactions
PFI transactions which meet the IFRIC 
12 definition of a service concession, as 
interpreted in HM Treasury’s FReM, are 
accounted for as ‘on-Statement of Financial 
Position’ by the Trust. The underlying assets 
are recognised as property, plant and 
equipment at their fair value. An equivalent 
financial liability is recognised in accordance 
with IAS 17.

The annual contract payments are 
apportioned between the repayment of the 



141

University Hospital Southampton NHS Foundation Trust annual report and accounts 2011/12

liability, a finance cost and the charges 
for services.

The service charge is recognised in 
operating expenses and the finance cost is 
charged to Finance Costs in the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income.

The annual unitary payment is separated 
into the following component parts, 
using appropriate estimation techniques 
where necessary:

a) Payment for the fair value of services 
received;

b) Payment for the PFI asset, including 
finance costs; and

c) Payment for the replacement of 
components of the asset during the 
contract ‘lifecycle replacement’.

Services received
The fair value of services received in the year 
is recorded under the relevant expenditure 
headings within ‘operating expenses’.

PFI Asset
The PFI assets are recognised as property, 
plant and equipment, when they come into 
use. The assets are measured initially at 
fair value in accordance with the principles 
of IAS 17. Subsequently, the assets are 
measured at fair value, which is kept up 
to date in accordance with the Trust’s 
approach for each relevant class of asset in 
accordance with the principles of IAS 16.

PFI liability
A PFI liability is recognised at the same 
time as the PFI assets are recognised. It 
is measured initially at the same amount 
as the fair value of the PFI assets and is 
subsequently measured as a finance lease 
liability in accordance with IAS 17.

An annual finance cost is calculated by 
applying the implicit interest rate in the lease 
to the opening lease liability for the period, 
and is charged to ‘Finance Costs’ within the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income.

The element of the annual unitary 
payment that is allocated as a finance 

lease rental is applied to meet the annual 
finance cost and to repay the lease liability 
over the contract term.

An element of the annual unitary payment 
increase due to cumulative indexation is 
allocated to the finance lease. In accordance 
with IAS 17, this amount is not included 
in the minimum lease payments, but is 
instead treated as contingent rent and is 
expensed as incurred. In substance, this 
amount is a finance cost in respect of the 
liability and the expense is presented as a 
contingent finance cost in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income.

Lifecycle replacement
Components of the asset replaced by the 
operator during the contract (‘lifecycle 
replacement’) are capitalised where 
they meet the Trust’s criteria for capital 
expenditure. They are capitalised at the time 
they are provided by the operator and are 
measured initially at their fair value.
The element of the annual unitary payment 
allocated to lifecycle replacement is pre-
determined for each year of the contract 
from the operator’s planned programme of 
lifecycle replacement. Where the lifecycle 
component is provided earlier or later than 
expected, a short-term finance lease liability 
or prepayment is recognised respectively.

Where the fair value of the lifecycle 
component is less than the amount 
determined in the contract, the difference 
is recognised as an expense when the 
replacement is provided. If the fair value 
is greater than the amount determined in 
the contract, the difference is treated as a 
‘free’ asset and a deferred income balance 
is recognised. The deferred income is 
released to the operating income over the 
shorter of the remaining contract period or 
the useful economic life of the replacement 
component.

Assets contributed by the Trust to the 
operator for use in the scheme
Assets contributed for use in the scheme 
continue to be recognised as items of 
property, plant and equipment in the Trust’s 
Statement of Financial Position.
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1.5     Intangible assets
Recognition
Intangible assets are non-monetary assets 
without physical substance which are capable 
of being sold separately from the rest of 
the trust’s business or which arise from 
contractual or other legal rights. They are 
recognised only where it is probable that 
future economic benefits will flow to, or 
service potential be provided to, the trust and 
where the cost of the asset can be measured 
reliably and the cost is at least £5,000.

Internally generated intangible assets
Internally generated goodwill, brands, 
mastheads, publishing titles, customer lists 
and similar items are not capitalised as 
intangible assets.

Expenditure on research is not capitalised.

Expenditure on development is capitalised 
only where all of the following can be 
demonstrated: 
•  the project is technically feasible to the 

point of completion and will result in an 
intangible asset for sale or use; 

•  the trust intends to complete the asset 
and sell or use it; 

•  the trust has the ability to sell or use the 
asset; 

•  how the intangible asset will generate 
probable future economic or service 
delivery benefits e.g. the presence of 
a market for it or its output, or where 
it is to be used for internal use, the 
usefulness of asset; 

•  adequate financial, technical and other 
resources are available to the trust to 
complete thedevelopment and sell or use 
the asset; and 

•  the trust can measure reliably the 
expenses attributable to the asset during 
development.

Software
Software which is integral to the operation 
of hardware (e.g. an operating system) is 
capitalised as part of the relevant item of 
property, plant and equipment. Software 
which is not integral to the operation of 
hardware (e.g. application software) is 
capitalised as an intangible asset.

Measurement
Intangible assets are recognised initially at 
cost, comprising all directly attributable 
costs needed to create, produce and 
prepare the asset to the point that it 
is capable of operating in the manner 
intended by management.

Subsequently intangible assets are 
measured at fair value. Revaluations gains 
and losses and impairments are treated in 
the same manner as for Property, Plant and 
Equipment.

Intangible assets held for sale are measured 
at the lower of their carrying amount or 
‘fair value less costs to sell’.

Amortisation
Intangible assets are amortised over their 
expected useful economic lives in a manner 
consistent with the consumption of 
economic or service delivery benefits.

1.6     Revenue government and 
other grants
Government grants are grants from 
Government bodies other than income 
from primary care trusts or NHS trusts for 
the provision of services. Where a grant is 
used to fund revenue expenditure it is taken 
to the Statement of Comprehensive Income 
to match that expenditure.

1.7     Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of 
cost and net realisable value. The cost of 
inventories is measured using the weighted 
average cost method.

1.8     Financial instruments and 
financial liabilities
Recognition
Financial assets and financial liabilities 
which arise from contracts for the purchase 
or sale of non-financial items (such as 
goods or services), which are entered into 
in accordance with the Trust’s normal 
purchase, sale or usage requirements, are 
recognised when, and to the extent which, 
performance occurs i.e. when receipt or 
delivery of the goods or services is made.
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Financial assets or financial liabilities in 
respect of assets acquired or disposed of 
through finance leases are recognised and 
measured in accordance with the accounting 
policy for leases described below.

All other financial assets and financial 
liabilities are recognised when the Trust 
becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument.

De-recognition
All financial assets are de-recognised 
when the rights to receive cash flows from 
the assets have expired or the Trust has 
transferred substantially all of the risks and 
rewards of ownership.

Financial liabilities are de-recognised 
when the obligation is discharged, 
cancelled or expires.

Classification and measurement
Financial assets are categorised as loans and 
receivables.

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative 
financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payments with are not quoted in an 
active market. Other than new Injury Cost 
Recovery cases advised in-year by the 
Compensation Recovery Unit (which are 
advised to be recoverable within 1 to 2 
years) they are included in current assets.

The trust’s loans and receivables comprise: 
cash and cash equivalents, NHS debtors, 
accrued income and ’other receivables’.

Loans and receivables are recognised 
initially at fair value, net of transaction 
costs, and are measured subsequently at 
amortised cost, using the effective interest 
method. The effective interest rate is the 
rate that discounts exactly estimated future 
cash receipts through the expected life of 
the financial asset or, when appropriate, a 
shorter period, to the net carrying amount 
of the financial asset.

Interest on loans and receivables is 
calculated using the effective interest 

method and credited to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income.

Trust receivables are current and therefore 
the transaction value is deemed to be 
the fair value and amortised cost. This is 
also deemed to be the case for the non-
current Injury Cost Recovery scheme cases 
identified above.

Financial liabilities
All financial liabilities are recognised initially 
at fair value, net of transaction costs 
incurred, and measured subsequently at 
amortised cost using the effective interest 
method. The effective interest rate is the 
rate that discounts exactly estimated future 
cash payments through the expected life of 
the financial liability or, when appropriate, a 
shorter period, to the net carrying amount 
of the financial liability.

They are included in current liabilities except 
for amounts payable more than 12 months 
after the Statement of Financial Position date, 
which are classified as long-term liabilities.

Interest on financial liabilities carried at 
amortised cost is calculated using the 
effective interest method and charged to 
Finance Costs. Interest on financial liabilities 
taken out to finance property, plant and 
equipment or intangible assets is not 
capitalised as part of the cost of those assets.

Impairment of financial assets
At the Statement of Financial Position date, 
the trust assesses whether any financial 
assets are impaired. Financial assets are 
impaired and impairment losses are 
recognised if, and only if, there is objective 
evidence of impairment as a result of one or 
more events which occurred after the initial 
recognition of the asset and which has an 
impact on the estimated future cash flows of 
the asset.

For financial assets carried at amortised 
cost, the amount of the impairment loss is 
measured as the difference between the 
asset’s carrying amount and the present 
value of the revised future cash flows 
discounted at the asset’s original effective 
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interest rate. The loss is recognised in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income and 
the carrying amount of the asset is reduced 
through the use of an allowance account/
bad debt provision.

Provision for the impairment of receivables 
is maintained based on the age of the 
receivable or if otherwise believed to be 
irrecoverable.

1.9     Leases
Trust as lessee
Finance leases
Where substantially all risks and rewards of 
ownership of a leased asset are borne by the 
NHS foundation trust, the asset is recorded 
as property, plant and equipment and a 
corresponding liability is recorded. The value 
at which both are recognised is the lower 
of the fair value of the asset or the present 
value of the minimum lease payments, 
discounted using the interest rate implicit in 
the lease.

The asset and liability are recognised at the 
commencement of the lease. Thereafter the 
asset is accounted for as an item of property 
plant and equipment.

The annual rental is split between the 
repayment of the liability and a finance 
cost so as to achieve a constant rate of 
finance over the life of the lease. The annual 
finance cost is charged to Finance Costs in 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
The lease liability is de-recognised when the 
liability is discharged, cancelled or expires.

Operating leases
Other leases are regarded as operating leases 
and the rentals are charged to operating 
expenses on a straight-line basis over the 
term of the lease. Operating lease incentives 
received are added to the lease rentals and 
charged to operating expenses over the life 
of the lease.

Leases of land and buildings
Where a lease is for land and buildings, 
the land component is separated from the 
building component and the classification for 
each is assessed separately.

The Trust as lessor
Amounts due from lessees under finance 
leases are recorded as receivables at the 
amount of the Trust’s net investment in the 
leases. Finance lease income is allocated 
to accounting periods so as to reflect a 
constant periodic rate of return on the Trust’s 
net investment outstanding in respect of 
the leases.

Rental income from operating leases is 
recognised on a straight-line basis over the 
term of the lease. Initial direct costs incurred 
in negotiating and arranging an operating 
lease are added to the carrying amount 
of the leased asset and recognised on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term.

1.10     Provisions
The NHS foundation trust recognises a 
provision where it has a present legal or 
constructive obligation of uncertain timing 
or amount; for which it is probable that 
there will be a future outflow of cash or 
other resources; and a reliable estimate 
can be made of the amount. The amount 
recognised in the Statement of Financial 
Position is the best estimate of the resources 
required to settle the obligation. Where 
the effect of the time value of money is 
significant, the estimated risk-adjusted cash 
flows are discounted using HM Treasury’s 
discount rate of 2.2% in real terms, except 
for early retirement provisions and injury 
benefit provisions which both use the HM 
Treasury’s pension discount rate of 2.8% 
(2010/11: 2.9%) in real terms.

Clinical negligence costs
The NHS Litigation Authority (NHSLA) 
operates a risk pooling scheme under 
which the NHS foundation trust pays 
an annual contribution to the NHSLA, 
which, in return, settles all clinical 
negligence claims. Although the NHSLA is 
administratively responsible for all clinical 
negligence cases, the legal liability remains 
with the NHS foundation trust. The total 
value of clinical negligence provisions 
carried by the NHSLA on behalf of the 
NHS foundation trust is disclosed at note 
23.3 but is not recognised in the NHS 
foundation trust’s accounts.
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Non-clinical risk pooling
The NHS foundation trust participates in 
the Property Expenses Scheme and the 
Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both are 
risk pooling schemes under which the trust 
pays an annual contribution to the NHS 
Litigation Authority and in return receives 
assistance with the costs of claims arising. 
The annual membership contributions, and 
any ‘excesses’ payable in respect of particular 
claims are charged to operating expenses 
when the liability arises.

1.11     Contingencies
Contingent assets (that is, assets arising 
from past events whose existence will only 
be confirmed by one or more future events 
not wholly within the entity’s control) are 
not recognised as assets, but are disclosed 
in note 24 where an inflow of economic 
benefits is probable.

Contingent liabilities are not recognised, 
but are disclosed in note 24, unless the 
probability of a transfer of economic 
benefits is remote. Contingent liabilities 
are defined as: 
•  possible obligations arising from past 

events whose existence will be confirmed 
only by the occurrence of one or more 
uncertain future events not wholly within 
the entity’s control; or 

•  present obligations arising from past 
events but for which it is not probable 
that a transfer of economic benefits will 
arise or for which the amount of the 
obligation cannot be measured with 
sufficient reliability.

1.12     Public dividend capital
Public dividend capital (PDC) is a type of 
public sector equity finance based on the 
excess of assets over liabilities at the time 
of establishment of the predecessor NHS 
trust. HM Treasury has determined that 
PDC is not a financial instrument within the 
meaning of IAS 32.

A charge, reflecting the cost of capital 
utilised by the NHS foundation trust, is 
payable as public dividend capital dividend. 
The charge is calculated at the rate set 
by HM Treasury (currently 3.5%) on the 

average relevant net assets of the NHS 
foundation trust during the financial 
year. Relevant net assets are calculated 
as the value of all assets less the value of 
all liabilities, except for (i) donated assets 
(including lottery funded assets), (ii) net 
cash balances held with the Government 
Banking Services (GBS), excluding cash 
balances held in GBS accounts that relate 
to a short-term working capital facility, and 
(iii) any PDC dividend balance receivable 
or payable. In accordance with the 
requirements laid down by the Department 
of Health (as the issuer of PDC), the 
dividend for the year is calculated on the 
actual average relevant net assets as set 
out in the ‘pre-audit’ version of the annual 
accounts. The dividend thus calculated is 
not revised should any adjustment to net 
assets occur as a result of the audit of the 
annual accounts.

1.13     Value Added Tax
Most of the activities of the NHS foundation 
trust are outside the scope of VAT and, in 
general, output tax does not apply and 
input tax on purchases is not recoverable. 
Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant 
expenditure category or included in the 
capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets. 
Where output tax is charged or input VAT 
is recoverable, the amounts are stated net 
of VAT.

1.14     Corporation Tax
The Trust has no Corporation Tax liability for 
the period.

1.15     Foreign exchange
The functional and presentational currencies 
of the trust are sterling.

A transaction which is denominated in 
a foreign currency is translated into the 
functional currency at the spot exchange 
rate on the date of the transaction.

Where the trust has assets or liabilities 
denominated in a foreign currency at 
the Statement of Financial Position date: 
monetary items are translated at the spot 
exchange rate on 31 March; non-monetary 
assets and liabilities measured at historical 
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cost are translated using the spot exchange 
rate at the date of the transaction.

Exchange gains or losses on monetary items 
(arising on settlement of the transaction 
or on re-translation at the Statement of 
Financial Position date) are recognised in 
income or expense in the period in which 
they arise.

Exchange gains or losses on non-monetary 
assets and liabilities are recognised in the 
same manner as other gains and losses on 
these items.

1.16     Third party assets
Assets belonging to third parties (such as 
money held on behalf of patients) are not 
recognised in the accounts since the NHS 
foundation trust has no beneficial interest 
in them. However, they are disclosed in a 
separate note to the accounts in accordance 
with the requirements of HM Treasury’s FReM.

1.17     Losses and special payments
Losses and special payments are items that 
Parliament would not have contemplated 
when it agreed funds for the health service 
or passed legislation. By their nature they are 
items that ideally should not arise. They are 
therefore subject to special control procedures 
compared with the generality of payments. 
They are divided into different categories, 
which govern the way that individual cases 
are handled. Losses and special payments are 
charged to the relevant functional headings 
in expenditure on an accruals basis, including 
losses which would have been made good 
through insurance cover had NHS trusts not 
been bearing their own risks (with insurance 
premiums then being included as normal 
revenue expenditure).

However the losses and special payments 
note is compiled directly from the losses and 
compensations register which reports on an 
accrual basis with the exception of provisions 
for future losses.

1.18     Critical accounting judgements 
and key sources of estimation 
uncertainty
In the application of the Trust’s accounting 

policies, management is required to make 
judgements, estimates and assumptions 
about the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities that are not readily apparent from 
other sources. The estimates and associated 
assumptions are based on historical 
experience and other factors that are 
considered to be relevant. Actual results may 
differ from those estimates and the estimates 
and underlying assumptions are continually 
reviewed. Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognised in the period in which the 
estimate is revised if the revision affects only 
that period or in the period of the revision 
and future periods if the revision affects both 
current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying 
accounting policies
The following are the critical judgements, 
apart from those involving estimations (see 
below) that management has made in the 
process of applying the Trust’s accounting 
policies and that have the most significant 
effect on the amounts recognised in the 
financial statements.

Classification of Leases
Under IAS 17 a finance lease is one that 
transfers to the lessee ‘substantially all the 
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of 
an asset’. This requires the consideration of 
a number of factors for each lease. The Trust 
considers that where the net present value of 
lease payments amounts to more than 75% 
of the fair value of the asset and the lease 
term is more than 60% of the economic life 
of the asset there is a strong presumption that 
a lease is a finance lease unless there is other 
evidence to the contrary.

Asset lives and residual values
Property, plant and equipment is depreciated 
over its useful life taking into account residual 
values, where appropriate. The actual lives 
of the assets and residual values are assessed 
annually and may vary depending on a 
number of factors. In reassessing asset lives, 
factors such as technological innovation and 
maintenance programmes are taken into 
account. Residual value assessments consider 
issues such as the remaining life of the asset 
and projected disposal values.
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Impairment of assets
At each balance sheet date, the Trust checks 
whether there is any indication that any of 
its tangible or intangible non-current assets 
have suffered an impairment loss. If there 
is indication of an impairment loss, the 
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated 
to determine whether there has been a loss 
and, if so, its amount. Intangible assets not 
yet available for use are tested for 
impairment annually.

1.19     Recoverability of receivables
Provision for Non Payment is made against 
all non-NHS receivables that are greater 
than 180 days old unless recoverability is 
certain. Provision is made against more 
recent receivables where there is some 
doubt concerning recoverability.

Provisions
The Trust regularly monitors the position 
regarding provisions, including legal 

claims and restructuring, to ensure that it 
accurately reflects at each balance sheet 
date the current position in providing for 
potential future costs from past events, 
including board resolutions.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
There are no key assumptions concerning 
the future, or other key sources of 
estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet 
date, that have a significant risk of causing 
a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the 
next financial period.

1.20     Accounting Standards that have 
been issued but not adopted
The following accounting standards, 
amendments and interpretations have been 
issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (IASB) but not yet required 
to be adopted.

Change published 

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures - 

amendment 

Transfers of financial assets 

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 

Financial Assets: 

Financial Liabilities: 

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial 

Statements 

IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements 

IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other 

Entities 

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement 

IAS 12 Income Taxes amendment 

IAS 1 Presentation of financial 

statements, on other comprehensive 

income (OCI) 

IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements 

IAS 28 Associates and joint ventures.

Published 
by IASB 
Oct 10

Nov 09

Oct 10

May 11

May 11

May 11

May 11

Dec 10

Jun 11

May 11

May 11

Financial year for which the change 
first applies 
Effective date of 2012/13 but not yet 

adopted by the EU. 

Uncertain. Not likely to be adopted by 

the EU until the IASB has finished the 

rest of its financial instruments project. 

Effective date of 2013/14 but not yet 

adopted by the EU. 

Effective date of 2013/14 but not yet 

adopted by the EU. 

Effective date of 2013/14 but not yet 

adopted by the EU. 

Effective date of 2013/14 but not yet 

adopted by the EU. 

Effective date of 2012/13 but not yet 

adopted by the EU. 

Effective date of 2013/14 but not yet 

adopted by the EU. 

Effective date of 2013/14 but not yet 

adopted by the EU. 

Effective date of 2013/14 but not yet 

adopted by the EU. 

The adoption of these standards in future periods is not expected to have a material impact 
on the financial statements.
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2. Segmental Analysis
The Trust has considered the requirements 
in IFRS 8 for segmental analysis. Having 
reviewed the operating segments reported 
internally to the Board, the Trust is satisfied 
that it is appropriate to aggregate these 
as, in accordance with IFRS 8: Operating 
Segments, they are similar in each of the 
following respects:
•  The nature of the products and services;
•  The nature of the production processes;

•  The type of class of customer for their 
products and services;

•  The methods used to distribute their 
products or provide their services; and

•  The nature of the regulatory 
environment.

The Trust therefore has just one segment, 
“healthcare”. Analysis of income by 
different activity types and sources is 
provided in note 3.

Six months ended 31 
March 2012

Income from Activities £000

Elective income 55,711

Non elective income 73,351

Outpatient income 30,237

A & E income 5,923

Other NHS clinical income 52,402

Private patient income 2,205

Other non-protected clinical income 1,402

Total income from activities 221,231 

Other operating income

Research and development 14,435

Education and training 20,384

Charitable and other contributions to expenditure 1,545

Non-patient care services to other bodies 6,736

Rental revenue from operating leases 62

Car parking 1,565

Staff accommodation rentals 30

Crèche services 591

Clinical excellence awards 1,898

Other 8,970

Total other operating income 56,216 

TOTAL OPERATING INCOME 277,447

3.1     Operating Income by activity

All income from activities and the income in 
respect of education and training arise from 
the provision of mandatory services set out in 
the independent regulator of NHS Foundation 
Trusts, Monitor’s terms of authorisation.

Other operating income (with the 

exception of education and training) 
relate to the provision of non -protected 
services. These are services that were not 
defined as mandatory goods and services 
or mandatory education and training as 
defined in the NHS Foundation Trust Terms 
of Authorisation.
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Section 44 of the National Health Service Act 2006 requires that the proportion of private 
patient income received by the NHS Foundation Trust must not exceed its proportion 
whilst the body was an NHS Trust in 2002/03 (the base year). The Trust was compliant 
with this in 2011/12.

Six months ended 31 
March 2012

Base Year

£000

Private patient income 2,205 4,659

Total patient related income 221,231 234,459

Proportion (as percentage) 1.00% 2.00%

2011 / 2012 Total

£000

Rents recognised as income in the period 45

TOTAL 45

Future minimum lease payments due on 
leases of buildings expiring
- later than five years. 1,075

TOTAL   1,075 

Six months ended 
31 March 2012

£000

Primary Care Trusts 213,021

Non NHS: Private patients 2,205

Non-NHS: Overseas patients (non-reciprocal) 99

NHS injury scheme (was RTA) 1,304

Devolved administrations and Channel Islands 4,602

Total income from activities 221,231

3.2     Private patient income

3.3     Operating lease income

3.4     Analysis of income from activities by source
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Six months ended 
31 March 2012

£000

Services from NHS Foundation Trusts 884

Services from NHS Trusts 2,267

Services from PCTs 221

Services from other NHS Bodies 4,066

Purchase of healthcare from non NHS bodies 1,343

Employee Expenses - Executive directors 658

Employee Expenses - Non-executive directors 54

Employee Expenses - Staff 162,238

Drug costs 20,115

Supplies and services - clinical (excluding drug costs) 29,729

Supplies and services - general 7,460

Establishment 1,870

Research and development 7,620

Transport 561

Premises 9,200

Increase in provision for impairment of receivables 501

Inventories write down 27

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 9,087

Amortisation on intangible assets 1,046

Impairments of property, plant and equipment 5,651

Impairments of intangible assets 219

Audit services- statutory audit 90

Clinical negligence - levy by NHS Litigation Authority 4,262

Loss on disposal of other property, plant and equipment 5

Legal fees 790

Consultancy costs 580

Training, courses and conferences 913

Patient travel 1,076

Car parking & Security 250

Redundancy 126

Insurance 240

Other services 949

Losses, ex gratia & special payments 87

Other 1,361

TOTAL 275,546

4     Operating expenses
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Six months 
ended 

31 March 
2012

Total

Six months 
ended 31 

March 2012

Permanently 
Employed

Six months 
ended 

31 March 
2012

Other

£000 £000 £000

Salaries and wages 134,324 132,476 1,848

Social security costs 11,366 11,206 160

Pension cost - Employers contributions to NHS Pensions 14,951 14,740 211

Termination benefits 153 153 0

Agency/contract staff 6,626 0 6,626

Total Gross Staff Costs 167,420 158,575 8,845

Less income in respect of Salaries and wages where netted off expenditure (3,463) (3,463) 0

Less income in respect of Social security costs where netted off expenditure (300) (300) 0

Less income in respect of Pension cost where netted off expenditure -  Employers 
contributions to NHS Pensions 

(394) (394) 0

Total Net Staff Costs 163,263 154,418 8,845

of which

Costs capitalised as part of assets 218 218 0

Total Employee benefits excluding capitalised costs 163,045 154,200 8,845

Six months 
ended 

31 March 
2012

Total number

Six months 
ended 31 

March 2012

Permanent 
number

Six months 
ended 

31 March 
2012
Other 

number

£000 £000 £000

Medical and dental 1,073 1,073 0

Administration and estates 1,410 1,410 0

Healthcare assistants and other support staff 1,306 1,306 0

Nursing, midwifery and health visiting staff 2,529 2,529 0

Scientific, therapeutic and technical staff 930 930 0

Bank and agency staff 354 0 354

Other 97 97 0

Total 7,699 7,345 354

5.1     Employee Expenses

5.2     Average number of employees (WTE basis)
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5.3      Early retirements due to ill health
From October 2011 to March 2012 
there were 6 early retirements from the 
organisation agreed on grounds of ill-
health. The estimated additional pension 
liabilities of these ill-health retirements 
will be £806,415. The cost of these ill-
health retirementswill be borne by the 
NHS Business Services Authority – Pensions 
Division. These retirements represented 0.8 
per 1,000 active scheme members,

5.4     Analysis of Termination benefits
There were 8 cases of termination benefits 
for leavers during the period, costing the 
Foundation Trust £126k in redundancy 
costs, £23k in other non pay benefits, and 
£4k in lieu of annual leave which is included 
in the figure for Employee expenses – Staff 
in Note 4 (Operating expenses).

6     Pension Costs
Past and present employees are covered 
by the provisions of the NHS Pensions 
Scheme. Details of the benefits payable 
under these provisions can be found on the 
NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.
uk/pensions. The scheme is an unfunded, 
defined benefit scheme that covers NHS 
employers, GP practices and other bodies, 
allowed under the direction of the Secretary 
of State, in England and Wales. The scheme 
is not designed to be run in a way that 
would enable NHS bodies to identify their 
share of the underlying scheme assets 
and liabilities. Therefore, the scheme 
is accounted for as if it were a defined 
contribution scheme: the cost to the NHS 
Body of participating in the scheme is taken 
as equal to the contributions payable to the 
scheme for the accounting period.  

In order that the defined benefit obligations 
recognised in the financial statements 
do not differ materially from those that 
would be determined at the reporting 
date by a formal actuarial valuation, the 
FReM requires that “the period between 
formal valuations shall be four years, with 
approximate assessments in intervening 
years”. An outline of these follows:

a) Full actuarial (funding) valuation
The purpose of this valuation is to assess 
the level of liability in respect of the benefits 
due under the scheme (taking into account 
its recent demographic experience), and to 
recommend the contribution rates. 

The last formal actuarial valuation 
undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme 
was completed for the year ending 31 March 
2004. Consequently, a formal actuarial 
valuation would have been due for the year 
ending 31 March 2008. However, formal 
actuarial valuations for unfunded public 
service schemes have been suspended by 
HM Treasury on value for money grounds 
while consideration is given to recent 
changes to public service pensions, and 
while future scheme terms are developed 
as part of the reforms to public service 
pension provision. Employer and employee 
contribution rates are currently being 
determined under the new scheme design.

b) Accounting valuation
A valuation of the scheme liability is carried 
out annually by the scheme actuary as at 
the end of the reporting period. Actuarial 
assessments are undertaken in intervening 
years between formal valuations using 
updated membership data are accepted as 
providing suitably robust figures for financial 
reporting purposes. However, as the interval 
since the last formal valuation now exceeds 
four years, the valuation of the scheme 
liability as at 31 March 2012, is based on 
detailed membership data as at 31 March 
2010 updated to 31 March 2012 with 
summary global member and accounting 
data. In undertaking this actuarial 
assessment, the methodology prescribed in 
IAS 19, relevant FReM interpretations, and 
the discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury 
have also been used.

The latest assessment of the liabilities of the 
scheme is contained in the scheme actuary 
report, which forms part of the annual 
NHS Pension Scheme (England and Wales) 
Pension Accounts, published annually.  
These accounts can be viewed on the NHS 
Pensions website.  Copies can also be 
obtained from The Stationery Office.
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c) Scheme provisions 
The NHS Pension Scheme provided defined 
benefits, which are summarised below. This 
list is an illustrative guide only, and is not 
intended to detail all the benefits provided 
by the Scheme or the specific conditions 
that must be met before these benefits can 
be obtained:

The Scheme is a “final salary” scheme. 
Annual pensions are normally based on 
1/80th for the 1995 section and of the 
best of the last three years pensionable 
pay for each year of service, and 1/60th 
for the 2008 section of reckonable pay 
per year of membership. Members who 
are practitioners as defined by the Scheme 
Regulations have their annual pensions 
based upon total pensionable earnings over 
the relevant pensionable service.

With effect from 1 April 2008 members 
can choose to give up some of their annual 
pension for an additional tax free lump 
sum, up to a maximum amount permitted 
under HMRC rules. This new provision is 
known as “pension commutation”.

Annual increases are applied to pension 

payments at rates defined by the Pensions 
(Increase) Act 1971, and are based on 
changes in retail prices in the twelve 
months ending 30 September in the 
previous calendar year. From 2011/12 the 
Consumer Price Index (CPI) will be used to 
replace the Retail Prices Index (RPI).

Early payment of a pension, with 
enhancement, is available to members of 
the scheme who are permanently incapable 
of fulfilling their duties effectively through 
illness or infirmity. A death gratuity of twice 
final year’s pensionable pay for death in 
service, and five times their annual pension 
for death after retirement is payable

For early retirements other than those due 
to ill health the additional pension liabilities 
are not funded by the scheme. The full 
amount of the liability for the additional 
costs is charged to the employer.

Members can purchase additional service 
in the NHS Scheme and contribute to 
money purchase AVC’s run by the Scheme’s 
approved providers or by other Free 
Standing Additional Voluntary Contributions 
(FSAVC) providers.

Six months ended 
31 March 2012

£000

Minimum lease payments 464

TOTAL 464

7.1     Operating leases

Six months 
ended 31 

March 2012
Buildings

Six months 
ended 31 

March 2012
Other

Six months 
ended 31 

March 2012 
Total

£000 £000 £000

Future minimum lease payments due:    

- not later than one year; 497 306 803

- later than one year and not later than five years; 1,705 1,820 3,525

- later than five years. 2,442 0 2,442

Total 4,644 2,126 6,770

7.2     Arrangements containing an operating lease
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Six months ended 
31 March 2012

£000

Interest on bank accounts 41

Six months ended 
31 March 2012

£000

Interest expense:

Department of Health and other loans 448

Finance leases 116

Private Finance Initiative schemes 66

Total Finance costs 630

Loan interest reconciles to the Cash Flow as follows:

£000

Interest on loans charged to SoCI 448

Interest accrued at 1 October 2011 32

Interest accrued at 31st March 2012 (44) 

Figure for loan interest in Cash Flow 436

8     Finance Income

9     Finance costs

Six months ended 
31 March 2012

£000

Diminution from normal operations 7,398

Total Impairments 7,398

10     Impairments

Of the total above, £5,870k was charged to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income and £1,528k to the Revaluation reserve.  
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Software  
licences

(purchased)

EU 
Emissions 

Allowances

Total

£000 £000 £000

Gross cost at start of period 12,718 619 13,337

Additions - purchased 1,293 0 1,293

Gross cost at 31 March 2012 14,011 619 14,630

Amortisation at start of period 6,291 0 6,291

Provided during the year 1,046 0 1,046

Impairments 0 219 219

Amortisation at 31 March 2012 7,337 219 7,556

Net Book Value at 31 March 2012

NBV- Purchased at 31 March 2012 6,674 400 7,074

NBV Total at 31 March 2012 6,674 400 7,074

Intangible Additions reconcile to the Cash Flow as 
follows:

£000

Total additions as shown above 1,293

less increase in intangible payables (238) 

Purchases shown in cash flow 1,055

11     Intangible assets
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£000

Total additions as shown above 10,809

less additions financed by leases (70) 

less increase in capital payables (1,682) 

add increase in intangible payables 238

Purchases shown in cash flow 9,295

Property Plant & Equipment Additions reconcile to the Cash Flow as follows: 

Min Life
Years

Max Life
Years

Software 2 8

Min Life
Years

Max Life
Years

Buildings excluding dwellings 7 75

Dwellings 26 33

Plant & Machinery 1 15

Transport Equipment 5 10

Information Technology 5 15

Furniture & Fittings 8 15

13     Intangible assets acquired by government grant
There are currently no intangible assets acquired by government grant.

14.1     Economic life of intangible assets

14.2     Economic life of property, plant and equipment

Land Buildings 
excluding 
dwellings

Dwellings Assets 
Under 

Construc-
tion and 

Payments 
on Ac-
count

Plant & 
machinery

Transport 
equip-
ment

Informa-
tion 

Technology

Furniture 
& fittings

Total 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Protected assets 31,355 200,751 241 0 0 0 0 0 232,347

Unprotected assets 0 3,190 635 3,897 33,662 119 1,817 21 43,341

Total 31,355 203,941 876 3,897 33,662 119 1,817 21 275,688

14.3     Analysis of property, plant and equipment at 31 March 2012
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Total 
31 March 2012

Total
1 October 2011

£000 £000

Drugs 1,947 2,105

Consumables 10,359 9,792

Total Inventories 12,306 11,897

Total 
31 March 2012

Total
1 October 2011

£000 £000

Current 

NHS Receivables - Revenue 8,919 15,019

Other receivables with related parties - Revenue 1,221 767

Provision for impaired receivables (4,063) (4,061) 

Prepayments (Non-PFI) 3,197 6,298

Accrued income 2,784 2,276

PDC Dividend receivable 346 0

VAT receivable 822 511

Other receivables 7,728 6,410

Total Current 20,954 27,220

Non-Current

Provision for impaired receivables (331) (286) 

Other receivables 2,575 2,328

Total Non-Current 2,244 2,042

Total Trade and other Receivables 23,198 29,262

15.1     Inventories

16     Trade receivables

15.2     Inventories recognised in expenses

Total
31 March 2012

£000

Inventories recognised in expenses 48,289

Write-down of inventories recognised as an expense 27

Total Inventories recognised in expenses 48,316
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17.1     Provision for impairment of receivables

18     Cash and cash equivalents

17.2     Analysis of impaired receivables

Six months ended 
31 March 2012

£000

At start of period 4,347

Increase in provision 651

Amounts utilised (454) 

Unused amounts reversed (150) 

At 31 March 2012 4,394

Six months ended 
31 March 2012

£000

At start of period 5,327

Net change in year 24,213

At 31 March 29,540

Broken down into:

Cash at commercial banks and in hand 70

Cash with the Government Banking Service 29,470

Cash and cash equivalents as in SoFP 29,540

Total
 31 March 2012

£000

Ageing of impaired receivables 

0 - 30 days 2,803

30-60 Days 51

60-90 days 0

90- 180 days 183

over 180 days 1,357

Total 4,394

Ageing of non-impaired receivables past their due date

0 - 30 days 3,844

30-60 Days 505

60-90 days 424

90- 180 days 639

over 180 days 3,446

Total 8,858
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2011/12
Bank Balances

£000

At 1 October 2011 7

Gross inflows 26

Gross Outflows (26) 

At 31 March 2012 7

£000

Payables reconciles to the Cash Flow as follows:  

Increase in payables during period as shown above 8,137

Finance Lease adjustment 9

Exclude movement on capital payables (current and 
non-current) shown above

(1,682) 

Movement in payables as per Cash Flow 6,464

Third party assets held by the NHS Foundation Trust

These third party assets relate to monies held by the NHS 
Foundation Trust on behalf of patients

An amount of £3.682m relating to outstanding pension 
contributions is included within amounts due to other related 
parties; this liability will be paid in April 2012.  

19     Trade and other payables

Total
31 March 2012

Total
1 October 2011

£000

Current 

NHS payables - revenue 4,350 4,688

Amounts due to other related parties - revenue 4,436 3,741

Other trade payables - capital 4,350 2,571

Other trade payables - revenue 17,312 8,521

Social Security costs 3,145 3,098

Other taxes payable 3,744 3,423

Other payables 3,168 2,983

Accruals 12,869 15,905

PDC payable 0 210

Total Current 53,374 45,140

Non-current

Other trade payables - capital 210 307

Total Non Current 210 307

Total Trade and other payables 53,584 45,447
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20     Borrowings

31 March 2012 1 October 2011

£000 £000

Current 

Loans from Foundation Trust Financing Facility 1,000 0

Loans from Department of Health 2,370 2,370

Other Loans 15 15

Obligations under finance leases 2,682 2,781

Obligations under Private Finance Initiative contracts 210 204

Total Current 6,277 5,370

Non-current

Loans from Foundation Trust Financing Facility 8,500 0

Loans from Department of Health 16,242 17,427

Other Loans 14 22

Obligations under finance leases 4,491 5,673

Obligations under Private Finance Initiative contracts 2,739 2,845

Total Non Current 31,986 25,967

Total Borrowings 38,263 31,337

Original Loan Current Balance 
outstanding

Interest Rate Date of final 
repayment

£000 £000 %

November 2007 3,000 1,713 4.85% March 2018

March 2008 7,500 4,500 4.19% March 2018

September 2008 8,000 5,200 4.85% Sept 2018

September 2010 8,000 7,199 2.74% Sept 2025

Via Dept of Health Foundation Trust Financing Facility:

October 2011 10,000 9,500 1.75% Sept 2021

The FoundationTrust has the following loans with the Department of Health: 
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21     Prudential borrowing limit

Six months ended 
31 March 2012

£000

Total long term borrowing limit set by Monitor (per Schedule 5 of Trust's 
terms of Authorisation) 

56,900

Working capital facility limit agreed by Monitor (per Schedule 5 of Trust's 
terms of Authorisation)

39,000

Actual (contracted) working capital facility 39,000

Total Prudential Borrowing Limit 95,900

Borrowing (as defined in the Prudential Borrowing Code) at start of 
period

31,346

Net actual borrowing in year 6,917

Long term borrowing at 31 March 38,263

Working capital borrowing at start of period 0

Net actual borrowing in year - working capital 9,500

Working capital borrowing at 31 March 9,500

Actual ratios 
2011/12

Approved PBL 
ratios

Minimum dividend cover 5.2 >1

Minimum interest cover 28.4 >3

Minimum debt service cover 4.7 >2

Maximum debt service to revenue 1.4% <2.5%

Total
31 March 2012

Total 
1 October 2011

£000 £000

Current 

Other Deferred  income 8,465 6,941

Total Current 8,465 6,941

Non-current

Other Deferred  income 166 0

Total Non-current 166 0

Total Other liabilities 8,631 6,941

Financial ratio

22     Other liabilities

Information on the NHS Foundation Trusts Prudential Borrowing Code and Compliance 
Framework can be found on the website of Monitor, the independent Regulator of 
Foundation Trusts.   
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Current
31 March 2012

Non-current
31 March 2012

Current
1 October 2011

Non-current
1 October 2011

£000 £000 £000 £000

Pensions relating to other staff 188 2,481 191 2,539

Other legal claims 312 0 286 0

Restructurings 29 0 0 0

Equal pay 8 0 0 8

Other 0 336 0 571

Total 537 2,817 477 3,118

31 March 2012

£000

Amount included in provisions of the 
NHSLA in respect of clinical negligence 
liabilities of the Foundation Trust

54,474

Pensions - 
other staff

Other legal 
claims

Restructurings Equal pay Redundancy Other Total 

£000 £000 £000 £000

At start of period 2,730 287 0 8 0 571 3,596

Change in the discount rate 24 0 0 0 0 0 24

Arising during the year 21 130 126 0 0 0 277

Utilised during the year (106) (74) (97) 0 0 0 (277) 

Reversed unused 0 (31) 0 0 0 (235) (266) 

At 31 March 2012 2,669 312 29 8 0 336 3,354

- not later than one year; 188 312 29 8 0 537

- later than one year and 
not later than five years;

679 0 0 0 0 336 1,015

- later than five years. 1,802 0 0 0 0 0 1,802

Total 2,669 312 29 8 0 336 3,354

£000

Provisions reconciles to the Cash Flow as follows: £000

Reduction in provisions during period as shown above (241) 

Change in discount rate charged to retained earnings reserve (24) 

Movement in provisions as per Cash Flow (265) 

23.1     Provisions for liabilities and charges

23.3     Clinical Negligence liabilities

23.2     Provisions for liabilities and charges analysis



164

University Hospital Southampton NHS Foundation Trust annual report and accounts 2011/12

31 March 2012

£000

Value of contingent liabilities 

    Equal pay (5) 

    Other (88) 

Gross value of contingent liabilities (93) 

Net value of contingent liabilities (93) 

Net value of contingent assets 0

Revaluation Reserve 
-property, plant and 

equipment

£000

Revaluation Reserve at start of period 25,169

Impairments (1,528) 

Revaluations 354

Transfers to other reserves (225) 

Revaluation reserve at 31 March 2012 23,770

Income Expenditure

£000 £000

Department of Health 12,508 784

Other NHS Bodies 245,456 20,151

Other   2,716 39,109

NHS Shared Business Services 0 455

Total value of transactions with 
related parties Oct-Mar 2012

260,680 60,499

24     Contingent liabilities

25     Revaluation Reserve

26.1     Related Party transactions

The Foundation Trust’s most material transactions with other NHS bodies during the period were with 
Southampton City PCT  (£69.5m), Hampshire PCT (£103.0m) and South Central SHA (£21.1m) for  income, 
and with Portsmouth Hospitals NHS Trust (£4.0m) and NHS Litigation Authority (£4.4m) for expenditure. The 
Foundation Trust’s most material expenditure transactions with other government bodies are £22.5m to the 
NHS Pension Scheme (for employers’ and employees’ contributions) and £11.4m to the National Insurance Fund 
(employers’ contributions). In addition, the Foundation Trust had transactions of £4.2m (expenditure) and £1.5m 
(income) with the University of Southampton. The Foundation Trust has a number of linkages with the University, 
including the Dean of the Faculty of Medicine being one of its Non-Executive Directors. The Trust also received 
income from the Foundation Trust Charity of £738k for various capital and revenue items.   
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Receivables Payables 

£000 £000

Department of Health 63 160

Other NHS Bodies 8,805 4,190

Other   2,043 11,325

Total balances with related parties at 31 March 2012 10,911 15,675

Total
31 March 2012

Total
1 October 2011

£000 £000

Gross lease liabilities 7,472 8,821

of which liabilities are due

- not later than one year; 2,839 2,961

- later than one year and not later than five years; 4,614 5,696

- later than five years. 19 164

less Finance charges allocated to future periods (299) (367) 

Net lease liabilities 7,173 8,454

- not later than one year; 2,682 2,781

- later than one year and not later than five years; 4,472 5,654

- later than five years. 19 19

Total
31 March 2012

£000

Property, Plant and Equipment 6,732

Intangible assets 48

Total 6,780

Total
31 March 2012

£000

Not later than 1 year 5,313

After 1 year and not later than 5 years 15,506

Total 20,819

26.2     Related Party balances

28     Finance Lease obligations

27.1     Capital Commitments

27.2     Other Financial Commitments

The commitments above relate to payments under non-cancellable contracts (which are not leases, PFI contracts 
or other service concession arrangements), analysed by the period in which the payment is made.   
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Total
31 March 2012

Total
1 October 2011

£000 £000

Gross PFI liabilities 3,658 3,825

of which liabilities are due

- not later than one year; 333 333

- later than one year and not later than five years; 1,330 1,330

- later than five years. 1,995 2,162

Finance charges allocated to future periods (709) (776) 

Net PFI obligation 2,949 3,049

- not later than one year; 211 203

- later than one year and not later than five years; 955 933

- later than five years. 1,783 1,913

29.1     On-SOFP PFI obligations

29.2     On-SOFP PFI commitments

29.2     On-SOFP PFI commitments

The Trust’s only on-statement of Financial Position PFI scheme is its Energy Supply. Agreement with Dalkia PLC 
(principally for steam heat and management of emergency generators). This agreement runs to 2023.

The total charged in the period to expenditure in respect of the service element of on-statement of financial 
position PFI contracts was £3.366m.    

Total
31 March 2012

£000

Commitments in respect of the service element of the PFI

Within one year 6,768

2nd to 5th years (inclusive) 27,072

Later than five years 40,424

Total 74,264

Total
31 March 2012

£000

Commitments in respect of the lease rentals of the PFI:

Rentals due within one year 333

Rentals due within 2nd to 5th years (inclusive) 1,330

Rentals due Later than five years 1,995

Total rentals due 3,658

less interest element (709) 

Total 2,949
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30     Off-SOFP PFI commitments
The Trust does not have any off-balance 
sheet PFI transactions

31     Post balance sheet events
There have been no significant post balance 
sheet events requiring disclosure.

32     Financial risk management
Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires 
disclosure of the role that financial 
instruments have had during the period in 
creating or changing the risks a body faces 
in undertaking its activities. Because of the 
continuing service provider relationship 
that the Foundation Trust has with primary 
care trusts and the way those primary care 
trusts are financed, the Foundation Trust is 
not exposed to the degree of financial risk 
faced by business entities. Also financial 
instruments play a much more limited role 
in creating or changing risk than would be 
typical of listed companies, to which the 
financial reporting standards mainly apply. 

The Foundation Trust has limited powers 
to borrow or invest surplus funds and 
financial assets and liabilities are 
generated by day-to-day operational 
activities rather than being held to change 
the risks facing the Foundation Trust in 
undertaking its activities.

The Foundation Trust’s treasury 
management operations are carried out by 
the finance department, within parameters 
defined formally within the trust’s standing 
financial instructions and policies agreed 
by the board of directors. Foundation Trust 
treasury activity is subject to review by the 
trust’s internal auditors.

Currency risk
The Foundation Trust is principally a 
domestic organisation with the great 
majority of transactions, assets and liabilities 
being in the UK and sterling based. It has 
no overseas operations. The Foundation 
Trust therefore has low exposure to 
currency rate fluctuations.

Interest rate risk
The Foundation Trust borrows from 
government for capital expenditure, 
subject to affordability. The borrowings are 
for 6-13 years, in line with the life of the 
associated assets, and interest is charged 
at the National Loans Fund rate, fixed for 
the life of the loan. The Foundation Trust 
therefore has low exposure to interest rate 
fluctuations.

Credit risk
Because the majority of the Trust’s income 
comes from contracts with other public 
sector bodies, the Foundation Trust has 
relatively low inherent exposure to credit 
risk. The maximum exposures as at 31 
March 2012 are in receivables from 
customers, as disclosed in the Trade and 
other receivables note. The Trust recognises 
that the public sector funding environment, 
with the continued pressure of demand 
and its consequences for primary care trust 
allocations, leads to an increase in credit risk 
for the Trust.

Liquidity risk
The Foundation Trust’s operating costs 
are incurred under contracts with primary 
care trusts, which are financed from 
resources voted annually by Parliament. 
The Foundation Trust funds its capital 
expenditure from internally generated 
funds together with funds obtained 
within its prudential borrowing limit. 
The Foundation Trust has a Working 
Capital Facility to cover any short-term 
working capital deficiencies.
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32.1     Financial assets by category

32.2     Financial liabilities by category

32.3     Fair values of financial assets at 31 March 2012

32.4     Fair values of financial liabilities at 31 March 2012

Total
31 March 2012

£000

Trade and other receivables excluding non financial assets 8,919

Non-NHS Trade and other receivables excluding non financial assets 9,317

Cash and cash equivalents at bank and in hand 29,540

Total at 31 March 2012 47,776

Total
31 March 2012

£000

Borrowings excluding Finance lease and PFI liabilities 28,141

Obligations under finance leases 7,173

Obligations under Private Finance Initiative contracts 2,949

Trade and other payables excluding non financial assets 4,350

Non-NHS Trade and other payables excluding non financial assets 42,345

Total at 31 March 2012 84,958

Book Value Fair value 

£000 £000

Other 47,776 47,776

Total 47,776 47,776

Book Value Fair value 

£000 £000

Non current trade and other 
payables excluding non 
financial liabilities

210 210

Loans 28,141 28,141

Other 56,607 56,607

Total 84,958 84,958
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32.5     Maturity of Financial liabilities

31 March 2012

£000

In one year or less 52,971

In more than one year but not more than two years 5,990

In more than two years but not more than five years 12,931

In more than five years 13,066

Total 84,958

33     Losses and Special Payments (approved cases only)

Six months ended 31 
March 2012

Total number of cases

Six months ended 31 
March 2012

Value of cases

Number
Numbers

£000's
Value

Losses 161 290

Special Payments 15 66

Total Losses and Special Payments 176 356

Of which, cases of £100,000 or more: 

Bad debts and claims abandoned 1 106

33     Limitation on auditor’s liability  
The limitation on the Trust’s auditor’s liability is nil.  
  
Audit remuneration from October 2011 to March 2012 (£90k) was for external audit services only. 
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Energy Costs

Waste

Energy Consumption

The Sustainability 
report for the year 
to 31 March 2012 is 
shown below

Sustainability report 2011/12

56%

356
£1,920,000

tonnes

The NHS aims to reduce its carbon 
footprint by 10% between 2009 and 
2015. Reducing the amount of energy 
used in our organisation contributes 
to this goal.

There is also a financial benefit which 
comes from reducing our energy bill.  

Our energy costs have increased by 
56% in 2011/12, the equivalent of 
273 hip operations.

We have put plans in place to reduce 
carbon emissions and improve our 
environmental sustainability.  Over 
the next 10 years we expect to save 
£1,920,000 as a result of these measures.

We recover or recycle 356 tonnes of waste, 
which is 13% of the total waste we produce.

Our total energy consumption has fallen 
during the year, from 90262 to 84199 MWh.

Our relative energy consumption has changed 
during the year, from 0.52 to 0.45 MWh/
square metre.

Renewable energy represents 0.0% of our total 
energy use. We do not generate any energy. 
We have not made arrangements to purchase 
electricity generated from renewable sources.
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Emissions

Water

Our measured greenhouse gas emissions 
have reduced by 0,530 tonnes this year.

Our water consumption has reduced 
by 58,672 cubic meters in the recent 
financial year.

In 2011/12 we spent £529,108 on water.

During 2011/12 our gross expenditure on 
the CRC Energy Efficiency Scheme was 
£121,863.

The CRC Energy Efficiency Scheme is a 
mandatory scheme aimed at improving 
energy efficiency and cutting emissions 
in large public and private sector 
organisations.

During 2011/12 our total expenditure on 
business travel was £1,907,000.

Our expenditure on waste in the last two 
years was incurred as follows:
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Our organisation has an up to date 
Sustainable Development 
Management Plan.    
  
Having an up to date Sustainable 
Development Management plan is a good 
way to ensure that an NHS organisation 
fulfils its commitment to conducting 
all aspects of its activities with due 
consideration to sustainability, whilst 
providing high quality patient care. The NHS 
Carbon Reduction Strategy asks for the 
boards of all NHS organisations to approve 
such a plan.

We consider neither the potential need to 
adapt the organisation’s activities nor its 
buildings and estates as a result of 
climate change
 
Adaptation to climate change will pose 
a challenge to both service delivery and 
infrastructure in the future.  It is therefore 
appropriate that we consider it when 
planning how we will best serve patients in 
the future.
 
Sustainability issues are not included in our 
analysis of risks facing our organisation.
     
NHS organisations have a statutory duty 
to assess the risks posed by climate 
change.  Risk assessment, including the 
quantification and prioritisation of risk, is 
an important part of managing complex 
organisations.

In addition to our focus on carbon, we 
are also committed to reducing wider 
environmental and social impacts associated 
with the procurement of goods and 
services. This will be set out within our 
policies on sustainable procurement.

We plan to start work on calculating the 
carbon emissions associated goods and 
services we procure.

Mike Murphy is the Board Level Lead 
for Sustainability.   
 

A Board Level lead for Sustainability ensures 
that sustainability issues have visibility and 
ownership at the highest level of 
the organisation.
 
Sustainability issues, such as carbon 
reduction, are not currently included in the 
job descriptions of all staff.

Our last staff awareness campaign was 
conducted in 2007.
 
A sustainable NHS can only be delivered 
through the efforts of all staff.
 
Staff awareness campaigns have been 
shown to deliver cost savings and 
associated reductions in carbon emissions.  
 
Our organisation has a Sustainable 
Transport Plan.
 
The NHS places a substantial burden on 
the transport infrastructure, whether 
through patient, clinician or other business 
activity. This generates an impact on air 
quality and greenhouse gas emissions. It is 
therefore important that we consider what 
steps are appropriate to reduce or change 
travel patterns. 
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If you need a translation of this document, 
an interpreter or a version in large print, 
Braille or on audio tape, please telephone 
023 8079 4688 for help.

For more information contact:

University Hospital Southampton NHS Foundation Trust
Southampton General Hospital
Tremona Road
Southampton 
Hampshire
SO16 6YD

Telephone 023 8077 7222     
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